ℓ^1 -Homology and Simplicial Volume

Clara Löh

2007

Mathematik

$\ell^1\text{-}\textsc{Homology}$ and Simplicial Volume

Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Naturwissenschaften im Fachbereich Mathematik und Informatik der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Westfälischen Wilhelms-Universität Münster

> vorgelegt von *Clara Löh,* geb. Strohm aus Stuttgart

> > 2007

Dekan Erster Gutachter Zweiter Gutachter Tag der mündlichen Prüfung Tag der Promotion Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Joachim Cuntz Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Lück PD Dr. Michael Joachim 28. September 2007 28. September 2007



Introduction

A pervasive theme of contemporary mathematics is to explore rigidity phenomena caused by the symbiosis of algebraic topology and Riemannian geometry on manifolds. In this context, the term "rigidity" refers to the astounding fact that certain topological invariants provide obstructions for geometric structures. Consequently, topological invariants of this type serve as interfaces between topology and geometry, thereby generating a rewarding exchange between both fields.

Over time many such interfaces evolved, the forefather being the Gauß-Bonnet theorem [30; Chapter 9], which reveals the Euler characteristic of compact surfaces as an obstruction for specific types of curvature.

Another way to think of the Gauß-Bonnet theorem is to view it as a topological bound for the minimal volume of compact surfaces [18; p. 5], where the minimal volume of a smooth manifold *M* is defined as

minvol $M := \inf \{ \operatorname{vol}(M, g) \mid g \text{ a complete Riemannian metric on } M$ with $|\operatorname{sec}(g)| \le 1 \}.$

By the Gauß-Bonnet theorem, the minimal volume of an oriented, closed, connected surface *M* can be estimated from below by $|2\pi \cdot \chi(M)|$, which is a topological invariant.

Similarly, the Euler characteristic of higher dimensional oriented, closed, connected, smooth manifolds yields lower bounds for the minimal volume [18; p. 6]. However, the vanishing of the Euler characteristic of oriented, closed, connected, odd-dimensional manifolds suggests to strive for other topological invariants that encode information on the minimal volume.

Introduction

One example of such an invariant is the so-called simplicial volume: The simplicial volume is a proper homotopy invariant of oriented manifolds measuring the complexity of the fundamental class with real coefficients with respect to the ℓ^1 -norm: If *M* is an oriented *n*-manifold, then the simplicial volume of *M* is defined as

 $||M|| := \inf \{ ||c||_1 | c \text{ is an } \mathbf{R}\text{-fundamental cycle of } M \},$

where $\left\|\sum_{j} a_{j} \cdot \sigma_{j}\right\|_{1} := \sum_{j} |a_{j}|.$

For example, the simplicial volume of spheres and tori is zero, whereas the simplicial volume of oriented, closed, connected, negatively curved manifolds is non-zero [57, 18, 24].

Originally, the simplicial volume was designed by Gromov to give an alternative proof of the Mostow rigidity theorem [44, 1]. In his pioneering article *Volume and bounded cohomology* [18], Gromov establishes a vast number of links between the simplicial volume and Riemannian geometric quantities, one of them being the volume estimate [18; p. 12, p. 73]: If *M* is an oriented, connected, smooth *n*-manifold without boundary, then

$$||M|| \le (n-1)^n \cdot n! \cdot \operatorname{minvol} M.$$

Together with the explicit computation of the simplicial volume of closed hyperbolic manifolds in terms of the hyperbolic volume [57, 18, 1, 50; Chapter 6, Section 2.2, Theorem C.4.2, Theorem 11.4.3] and the proportionality principle [18, 57, 56; Section 2.3, p. 6.9, Chapter 5], the volume estimate indicates that the simplicial volume indeed can be understood as a "topological approximation" of the Riemannian volume.

In view of these geometric consequences, it is desirable to find topological and algebraic tools that compute the simplicial volume. In the present thesis, we investigate such a tool – a functional analytic variant of singular homology, called ℓ^1 -homology.

ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

Taking the completion and the topological dual of the singular chain complex with **R**-coefficients of a space *X* with respect to the ℓ^1 -norm gives rise to the ℓ^1 -homology $H^{\ell^1}_*(X)$ and bounded cohomology $H^*_b(X)$ of *X* respectively.

Both the ℓ^1 -norm on the ℓ^1 -chain complex $C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ and the supremum norm on the bounded cochain complex $C_b^*(X)$ induce semi-norms on the level of (co)homology. Gromov observed that the simplicial volume of oriented, closed, connected



Linking various (co)homology theories related to singular homology

manifolds can be expressed in terms of the semi-norm on bounded cohomology [18; p. 17]. Similarly, we show that the simplicial volume can be computed by the ℓ^1 -semi-norm on ℓ^1 -homology, both in the compact and in the non-compact case (Section 5.3). For example, the simplicial volume of a closed manifold with vanishing ℓ^1 -homology or vanishing bounded cohomology is zero.

By passing from singular cohomology to bounded cohomology deep properties of the simplicial volume become visible; in fact, the work of Gromov [18] and Ivanov [25] shows that the seemingly small difference in the definition of bounded cochains and singular cochains has drastic consequences for the behaviour of the corresponding cohomology theories:

- Bounded cohomology of spaces with amenable fundamental group vanishes (in non-zero degree) [18, 25].
- Bounded cohomology depends only on the fundamental group [18, 25].
- Bounded cohomology admits a description in terms of certain injective resolutions [25, 42, 45].

Singular homology and cohomology are intrinsically tied together by the universal coefficient theorem. Therefore, it is natural to ask whether ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology admit a similar link; more specifically:

- Does *l*¹-homology of spaces with amenable fundamental group vanish?
- Does ℓ^1 -homology depend only on the fundamental group?
- Does l¹-homology admit a description in terms of certain projective resolutions?

vii

Introduction

• More generally: What is the relation between bounded cohomology and ℓ^1 -homology? Is there some kind of duality?

It is the purpose of this thesis to give a both uniform and lightweight approach to answer these questions.

A first step towards results of this type is the insight of Matsumoto and Morita that ℓ^1 -homology of a space is trivial if and only if bounded cohomology of the space in question is trivial [38; Corollary 2.4]. In particular, ℓ^1 -homology of a space with amenable fundamental group is zero in non-zero degree. This led Matsumoto and Morita to suspect that – like bounded cohomology – also ℓ^1 -homology depends only on the fundamental group [38; Remark 2.6].

Bouarich was the first to prove that ℓ^1 -homology indeed depends only on the fundamental group [5; Corollaire 6]; his proof is based on the result of Matsumoto and Morita that ℓ^1 -homology of simply connected spaces is trivial and on an ℓ^1 -version of Brown's theorem.

The translation mechanism

Although there is no real duality between bounded cohomology and ℓ^1 -homology (in the spirit of the universal coefficient theorem, cf. Remark (3.4)), ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology are strongly linked by the translation mechanism below.

The ℓ^1 -chain complex of a space is an example of a so-called Banach chain complex, i.e., it is a chain complex of Banach spaces whose boundary operators are bounded operators. Other examples of Banach chain complexes occurring naturally in our context are ℓ^1 -chain complexes of discrete groups (i.e., the ℓ^1 -completion of the bar resolution) as well as ℓ^1 -chain complexes of spaces and discrete groups with twisted coefficients.

Matsumoto and Morita's vanishing result can be generalised to an approximation of the universal coefficient theorem: The homology of a Banach chain complex vanishes if and only if the cohomology of the topological dual of the complex vanishes [26; Proposition 1.2]. Applying this duality principle to mapping cones of morphisms of Banach chain complexes, we derive the following relative version (Theorem (3.1)):

Theorem (Translation mechanism for isomorphisms). Let $f: C \longrightarrow D$ be a morphism of Banach chain complexes and let $f': D' \longrightarrow C'$ be its topological dual.

1. Then the induced homomorphism $H_*(f): H_*(C) \longrightarrow H_*(D)$ is an isomorphism

of vector spaces if and only if $H^*(f'): H^*(D') \longrightarrow H^*(C')$ is an isomorphism of vector spaces.

2. Furthermore, if $H^*(f'): H^*(D') \longrightarrow H^*(C')$ is an isometric isomorphism, then also $H_*(f): H_*(C) \longrightarrow H_*(D)$ is an isometric isomorphism.

By applying this translation mechanism to suitable morphisms of Banach chain complexes, we can transfer results on bounded cohomology to the realm of ℓ^1 -homology (see Chapter 4). The main results that we deduce using this technique are the following:

Corollary (Mapping theorem for ℓ^1 **-homology).** Let $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ be a continuous map between countable, connected CW-complexes such that the induced map $\pi_1(f)$ is surjective and has amenable kernel. Then the induced homomorphism

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(f)\colon H^{\ell^1}_*(X)\longrightarrow H^{\ell^1}_*(Y)$$

is an isometric isomorphism.

Corollary (ℓ^1 -Homology via projective resolutions). Let X be a countable, connected CW-complex with fundamental group G and let V be a Banach G-module.

1. Then there is a canonical isometric isomorphism

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(X;V) \cong H^{\ell^1}_*(G;V).$$

2. If C is a strong relatively projective G-resolution of V, then there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(X;V) \cong H_*(C_G).$$

3. If C is a strong relatively projective G-resolution of the trivial Banach G-module **R**, then there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H^{\ell^{1}}_{*}(X;V) \cong H_{*}((C \overline{\otimes} V)_{G}).$$

Park tried to use an approach similar to Ivanov's work [25] on bounded cohomology to prove these results (with trivial coefficients) [47]. However, not all of Ivanov's arguments can be carried over to ℓ^1 -homology and her proofs contain a significant gap – this issue is addressed in Caveats (4.13) and (4.15).

As an example application of the description of ℓ^1 -homology via projective resolutions, we obtain a straightening on ℓ^1 -homology generalising Thurston's straightening on non-positively curved Riemannian manifolds (Section 4.4). The ℓ^1 -straightening in turn gives a new, homological, proof of the fact that measure homology and singular homology are isometrically isomorphic (Appendix D).

Introduction

A finiteness criterion for the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds

The results presented so far might give the impression that ℓ^1 -homology is merely a shadow of bounded cohomology, its only advantage being that the stored information is more accessible than in bounded cohomology – due to the fact that homology usually is more intuitive than cohomology. But there are also genuine applications of ℓ^1 -homology, as the following example shows:

The simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds, defined via locally finite fundamental cycles, is not finite in general. It might even then be infinite if the noncompact manifold in question is the interior of a compact manifold with boundary. According to Gromov, the vanishing of the simplicial volume of the boundary of the compactification is a necessary condition for the simplicial volume of the interior to be finite [18; p. 17]. More generally, we show that ℓ^1 -homology allows to give a necessary and sufficient condition for the finiteness of the simplicial volume of the interior (Theorem (6.1)):

Theorem (Finiteness criterion). Let $(W, \partial W)$ be an oriented, compact, connected *n*-manifold with boundary and let $M := W^{\circ}$. Then the following are equivalent:

- *1. The simplicial volume* ||M|| *is finite.*
- 2. The fundamental class of the boundary ∂W vanishes in ℓ^1 -homology, i.e.,

$$H_{n-1}(i_{\partial W})([\partial W]) = 0 \in H_{n-1}^{\ell^1}(\partial W),$$

where $i_{\partial W}: C_*(\partial W) \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(\partial W)$ is the natural inclusion of the singular chain complex of ∂W into the ℓ^1 -chain complex.

Bounded cohomology, on the other hand, in general cannot detect whether a given class in ℓ^1 -homology is zero; therefore, the finiteness criterion cannot be formulated in terms of bounded cohomology.

The finiteness criterion gives rise to a number of computations, or at least estimates, of the simplicial volume in the non-compact case (Section 6.4). These examples might be the starting point for a more detailed analysis of simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds via ℓ^1 -homology.

Organisation of this work

Scriptum est omne divisum in partes tres: The first part, Chapters 1 through 4, deals with ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology as well as with the relation

between these theories – the main goal being the link given by the translation mechanism.

Chapters 5 and 6 constitute the second part, which is more geometric in nature; this part deals with the simplicial volume and applications of ℓ^1 -homology to the simplicial volume.

The Appendices A to D form the third part. The appendices contain material used in the rest of the thesis, but leading too far astray to be included in the main text.

We now describe the chapters in more detail: In Chapter 1, we introduce the basic objects of study – normed chain complexes and their homology. The main examples of these concepts are ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology, which enter the scene in Chapter 2. In addition to basic properties of ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology, a survey of the distinguishing features of bounded cohomology – such as the mapping theorem – is given in Section 2.4.

In Chapter 3, we return to the more abstract setting, investigating the duality between homology and cohomology of Banach chain complexes. In particular, we give a full proof of the translation mechanism. In Chapter 4, with help of the translation mechanism, we transfer results from bounded cohomology to ℓ^1 -homology.

The simplicial volume and its relation to both ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology is studied in Chapter 5; in Section 5.4, we give a survey of known properties of simplicial volume. Chapter 6 is devoted to the finiteness criterion and its consequences.

The sequence of appendices starts with a review of the version of homological algebra suitable for our Banach-flavoured setting (Appendix A). In the second appendix (Appendix B), we generalise Ivanov's proof that bounded cohomology of spaces coincides with bounded cohomology of the fundamental group to bounded cohomology with twisted coefficients. Appendix C contains a proof of Gromov's description of simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds in terms of bounded cohomology. Finally, Appendix D gives an introduction to measure homology and its ℓ^1 -version. Using the techniques established in Section 4.4, we give a new, homological, proof of the fact that measure homology and singular homology are isometrically isomorphic.

Acknowledgements

First of all I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Wolfgang Lück for the guidance and encouragement he offered during my PhD project and for assembling such an inspiring group of topologists. Moreover, I am grateful to the Graduiertenkolleg *Analytische Topologie und Metageometrie* for supporting my PhD studies.

Roman Sauer and Marco Schmidt introduced me gently to the simplicial volume as well as to the fascinating world of bounded cohomology and L^2 -invariants. Thank you very much! Furthermore, I would like to thank Roman for sharing his passion for locally symmetric spaces with me and answering all my weird questions.

I am deeply grateful to Theo Bühler; for his enthusiasm, for the numerous discussions, and for the countless invaluable suggestions. Merci!

Tilman Bauer never ceased to answer my questions concerning homological algebra – even though I was immune to most of the beautiful abstract concepts he advertised.

Theo Bühler, Markus Förster, Andres Löh, and John Olsen took the time to proof-read parts of this thesis. Their concise feedback helped to eliminate several bugs. Thank you!

I would like to thank the former and present members of the Wohlfühlbüro, Benedikt Plitt, Marco Schmidt, Wolfgang Steimle, Noé Bárcenas Torres, and Julia Weber, as well as the quasi-members Tilman Bauer, Joachim Grunewald, Tibor Macko, and Marco Varisco for turning "506" into such a pleasant place and for creating an environment where new life forms can evolve (project "espresso machine").

Professor Volker Puppe directed my attention to topology, and he continued to support me even after I left Konstanz.

Despite of getting more and more involved with this obscure thing called "topology," my parents always supported me, for which I am very grateful.

I am indebted to Andres, who gracefully tamed penguins and l_io_ns, for never losing faith, patience, or his sense of humour and most of all for being my Drollumpf. Totemo aitäh!





Contents

1	Homology of normed chain complex	es 1
	1.1 Normed chain complexes	2
	1.2 (Semi-)norms in homology	3
	1.3 The equivariant setting	6
2	ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomol	ogy 11
	2.1 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces	12
	2.2 ℓ^1 -Homology of discrete groups	19
	2.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces with twisted co	pefficients 27
	2.4 Peeking into the mirror universe	29
3	Duality	33
	3.1 Linking homology and cohomology	34
	3.2 Mapping cones	38
	3.3 Transferring isomorphisms	41
	3.4 Comparing comparison maps	42

4.1Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of spaces464.2Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups494.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces via projective resolutions524.4Example application – a generalised straightening555Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology615.1Fundamental cycles of manifolds625.2Definition of simplicial volume665.3Computing simplicial volume685.4A collection of properties of simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds816.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.2The homology and measure ℓ^1 -h	4	Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology	45
4.2Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups494.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces via projective resolutions524.4Example application – a generalised straightening555Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology615.1Fundamental cycles of manifolds625.2Definition of simplicial volume665.3Computing simplicial volume685.4A collection of properties of simplicial volume726A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124CA generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137 <th></th> <th>4.1 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1-homology of spaces</th> <th>46</th>		4.1 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of spaces	46
4.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces via projective resolutions524.4Example application – a generalised straightening555Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology615.1Fundamental cycles of manifolds625.2Definition of simplicial volume665.3Computing simplicial volume685.4A collection of properties of simplicial volume726A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130DSmearing137OMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134DMeasure homology and me		4.2 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups	49
4.4Example application – a generalised straightening555Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology615.1Fundamental cycles of manifolds625.2Definition of simplicial volume665.3Computing simplicial volume685.4A collection of properties of simplicial volume726A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C 4generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130DSmearing137		4.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces via projective resolutions	52
5Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology615.1Fundamental cycles of manifolds625.2Definition of simplicial volume665.3Computing simplicial volume685.4A collection of properties of simplicial volume726A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.3Smearing137		4.4 Example application – a generalised straightening	55
5.1Fundamental cycles of manifolds625.2Definition of simplicial volume665.3Computing simplicial volume685.4A collection of properties of simplicial volume726A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130DRelating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134DSmearing137	5	Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology	61
5.2Definition of simplicial volume665.3Computing simplicial volume685.4A collection of properties of simplicial volume726A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		5.1 Fundamental cycles of manifolds	62
5.3Computing simplicial volume685.4A collection of properties of simplicial volume726A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.3Smearing137		5.2 Definition of simplicial volume	66
5.4A collection of properties of simplicial volume726A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		5.3 Computing simplicial volume	68
6A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume776.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		5.4 A collection of properties of simplicial volume	72
6.1Stating the finiteness criterion786.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.3Smearing137	6	A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume	77
6.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion796.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		6.1 Stating the finiteness criterion	78
6.3A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds846.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.3Smearing137		6.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion	79
6.4Applying the finiteness criterion95AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.3Smearing137		6.3 A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds	84
AHomological algebra of Banach G-modules103A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules103A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		6.4 Applying the finiteness criterion	95
A.1Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules A.2103 107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.3Smearing137	A	Homological algebra of Banach G-modules	
A.2Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions107BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.3Smearing137		A.1 Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach <i>G</i> -modules	103
BBounded cohomology with twisted coefficients111CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		A.2 Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions	107
CGromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds117C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology120D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137	B	Bounded cohomology with twisted coefficients	111
C.1Statement of the non-compact duality principle117C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137	С	Gromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds	117
C.2The homological version119C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		C.1 Statement of the non-compact duality principle	117
C.3The dual point of view124C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		C.2 The homological version	119
C.4A generalised product formula125DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		C.3 The dual point of view	124
DMeasure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology129D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		C.4 A generalised product formula	125
D.1Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology130D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137	D	Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology	
D.2Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology134D.3Smearing137		D.1 Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology	130
D.3 Smearing 137		D.2 Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology	134
		D.3 Smearing	137

xvi

Homology of normed chain complexes

In this chapter, we introduce the basic objects of study – normed chain complexes and their homology. A normed chain complex is a chain complex equipped with a norm such that the boundary operators all are bounded operators. In particular, the homology of a normed chain complex inherits a semi-norm. For example, in the case of the singular chain complex equipped with the ℓ^1 -norm this semi-norm contains valuable geometric information such as the simplicial volume.

In order to understand this semi-norm on homology it suffices to understand the semi-norm on homology of the corresponding completed normed chain complex (Proposition (1.7)). Therefore, in many situations we can restrict ourselves to the investigation of Banach chain complexes; in the case of singular homology this corresponds to the investigation of ℓ^1 -homology.

In the first section we give concise definitions of the categories of normed and Banach chain complexes and introduce basic constructions on them. Section 1.2 deals with the homology of normed chain complexes, emphasising the induced semi-norms. Finally, in Section 1.3 we present the corresponding equivariant setting, because many normed chain complexes in fact naturally occur as (co)invariants of equivariant ones.

The discussion of examples of these concepts follows in Chapter 2.

1 Homology of normed chain complexes

1.1 Normed chain complexes

In this text, we use the convention that Banach spaces are Banach spaces over **R** and that all (co)chain complexes are indexed over the set **N** of natural numbers.

- **Definition (1.1).** 1. A **normed chain complex** is a chain complex of normed vector spaces, where all boundary morphisms are bounded linear operators. Analogously, a **normed cochain complex** is a cochain complex of normed vector spaces, where all coboundary morphisms are bounded linear operators.
 - 2. A **Banach (co)chain complex** is a normed (co)chain complex consisting of Banach spaces.
 - 3. A **morphism of normed (co)chain complexes** is a (co)chain map between normed (co)chain complexes consisting of bounded operators.

In our context, the fundamental examples of the concept of normed chain complexes are given by the singular chain complex and the bar resolution equipped with the obvious ℓ^1 -norm (Chapter 2).

The direct sum of two normed (Banach) chain complexes again is a normed (Banach) chain complex, where the norm on the direct sum complex is the sum of the norms on the summands. Moreover, if *C* is a normed (Banach) chain complex and $D \subset C$ is a *closed* subcomplex, then the quotient C/D is a normed (Banach) chain complex with respect to the quotient norm.

Definition (1.2). Let (C, ∂) be a normed chain complex. Then the **dual cochain** complex (C', ∂') is the normed cochain complex defined by

$$\forall_{n\in\mathbf{N}} \quad (C')^n := (C_n)',$$

where \cdot' stands for taking the (topological) dual normed vector space, together with the coboundary operators

$$(\partial')^n := (\partial_{n+1})' \colon (C')^n \longrightarrow (C')^{n+1}$$
$$f \longmapsto (c \mapsto f(\partial_{n+1}(c)))$$

and the norm given by $||f||_{\infty} := \sup\{|f(c)| \mid c \in C_n, ||c|| = 1\}$ for $f \in (C')^n$. \diamond

- **Remark (1.3).** 1. If *C* is a normed (co)chain complex, then the (co)boundary operator can be extended to a (co)boundary operator on the completion \overline{C} that is bounded in each degree. Hence, the completion \overline{C} of *C* is a Banach (co)chain complex.
 - 2. If *C* is a Banach chain complex, then its dual *C*' is also complete and thus a Banach cochain complex. Moreover, if *C* is a normed chain complex, then we have $C' = (\overline{C})'$.

Examples of Banach (co)chain complexes include the ℓ^1 -completion of the singular chain complex of topological spaces (Sections 2.1 and 2.3) and the ℓ^1 -completion of the bar resolution of discrete groups (Section 2.2), which give rise to the different types of ℓ^1 -homology. The corresponding dual complexes are the source for the various incarnations of bounded cohomology.

1.2 (Semi-)norms in homology

Clearly, the presence of chain complexes calls for the investigation of the corresponding homology. In the case of normed chain complexes, the homology groups carry an additional piece of information – the semi-norm.

Definition (1.4). 1. Let (C, ∂) be a normed chain complex and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The *n*-th homology of *C* is the quotient

$$H_n(C) := \frac{\ker(\partial_n \colon C_n \to C_{n-1})}{\operatorname{im}(\partial_{n+1} \colon C_{n+1} \to C_n)}$$

2. Dually, if (C, δ) is a normed cochain complex, then its *n*-th cohomology is the quotient

$$H^n(C) := \frac{\ker(\delta^n \colon C^n \to C^{n+1})}{\operatorname{im}(\delta^{n-1} \colon C^{n-1} \to C^n)}.$$

3. Let *C* be a normed chain complex. The norm $\|\cdot\|$ on *C* induces a semi-norm, also denoted by $\|\cdot\|$, on the homology $H_*(C)$ as follows: If $\alpha \in H_n(C)$, then

$$\|\alpha\| := \inf\{\|c\| \mid c \in C_n, \partial(c) = 0, [c] = \alpha\}.$$

Similarly, we define a semi-norm on the cohomology of normed cochain complexes. \diamond

1 Homology of normed chain complexes

Because the images of the (co)boundary operators of Banach (co)chain complexes are not necessarily closed, the induced semi-norms on (co)homology need not be norms. Therefore, it is sometimes convenient to look at the corresponding reduced versions instead:

Definition (1.5). 1. Let (C, ∂) be a normed chain complex and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then the *n*-th reduced homology of *C* is given by

$$\overline{H}_n(C) := \ker \partial_n / \overline{\operatorname{im} \partial_{n+1}},$$

where $\overline{\cdot}$ denotes the closure in *C*.

2. Analogously, if (C, δ) is a normed cochain complex and $n \in \mathbf{N}$, then the *n*-th reduced cohomology of *C* is given by

$$\overline{H}^n(C) := \ker \delta^n / \operatorname{im} \delta^{n-1}.$$

Remark (1.6). Any morphism $f: C \longrightarrow D$ of normed chain complexes induces linear maps $H_n(f): H_n(C) \longrightarrow H_n(D)$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since f is continuous in each degree, these maps descend to linear maps $\overline{H}_n(f): \overline{H}_n(C) \longrightarrow \overline{H}_n(D)$. Moreover, the maps $H_n(f)$ and $\overline{H}_n(f)$ are bounded linear operators. \Box

In order to understand semi-norms on the homology of normed chain complexes it suffices to consider the case of Banach chain complexes [52; Lemma 2.9]; in the case of singular homology this amounts to restrict attention to ℓ^1 -homology (cf. Proposition (2.5)).

Proposition (1.7). Let D be a normed chain complex and let C be a dense subcomplex. Then the induced map $H_*(C) \longrightarrow H_*(D)$ is isometric. In particular, the induced map $\overline{H}_*(C) \longrightarrow \overline{H}_*(D)$ must be injective.

Proof. In the following, we write $i: C \hookrightarrow D$ for the inclusion and $\|\cdot\|$ for the norm on *D*.

Because *C* is a subcomplex, $||H_*(i)|| \leq 1$. Conversely, let $z \in C_n$ be a cycle and let $\overline{z} \in D_n$ be a cycle such that $[\overline{z}] = H_n(i)([z]) \in H_n(D)$. Furthermore, let $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$. To prove the proposition, it suffices to find a cycle $z' \in C_n$ satisfying

$$[z'] = [z] \in H_n(C)$$
 and $||z'|| \le ||\overline{z}|| + \varepsilon$.

By definition of \overline{z} , there must be a chain $\overline{w} \in D_{n+1}$ with $\partial_{n+1}(\overline{w}) = i(z) - \overline{z}$. Since C_{n+1} lies densely in D_{n+1} and since $\|\partial_{n+1}\|$ is finite, there is a chain $w \in C_{n+1}$ such that

$$\left\|\overline{w}-i(w)\right\| \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{\left\|\partial_{n+1}\right\|}$$

1.2 (Semi-)norms in homology

Then $z' := z + \partial(w) \in C_n$ is a cycle with $[z'] = [z] \in H_n(C)$ and

$$\|\overline{z} - i(z')\| = \|\partial_{n+1}(\overline{w} - i(w))\| \le \varepsilon$$

In particular, $||z'|| \le ||\overline{z}|| + \varepsilon$. Hence, $H_n(i)$ is an isometry.

The previous proposition is surprising in the respect that usually the processes of completing and taking homology do not harmonise:

Example (1.8). There exist normed chain complexes C with $H_*(C) = 0$ and $\overline{H}_*(\overline{C}) \neq 0$, and vice versa:

1. Let $f: C_1 \longrightarrow C_0$ be a continuous operator and let $\overline{f}: \overline{C}_1 \longrightarrow \overline{C}_0$ be its extension. Suppose that f is an isomorphism, but ker $\overline{f} \neq 0$. For example, for $x := \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 1/2^{j+1} \cdot e_j \in \ell^1(\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{R})$, we consider $f: \bigoplus_{\mathbb{N}} \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \text{ im } f$ given by $f(e_n) := e_n - x$; here, $\bigoplus_{\mathbb{N}} \mathbb{R}$ and $\ell^1(\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{R})$ are endowed with the ℓ^1 -norm. We now view the operator $f: C_1 \longrightarrow C_0$ as a normed chain complex, concentrated in degrees 0 and 1. By construction, $H_*(C) = 0$, but

$$\overline{H}_1(\overline{C}) = \ker \overline{f}/\overline{0} \neq 0.$$

2. Let *V* be a normed vector space that is not complete. Then we view the inclusion $i: V \hookrightarrow \overline{V}$ as a normed chain complex *C*, which is concentrated in degree 0 and 1. Since *V* is not complete,

$$H_0(C) = \overline{V} / \operatorname{im} i = \overline{V} / V \neq 0.$$

But the completion \overline{C} of *C* is the Banach chain complex given by id: $\overline{V} \longrightarrow \overline{V}$ and hence $H_*(\overline{C}) = 0 = \overline{H}_*(\overline{C})$.

In particular, if a morphism $f: C \longrightarrow D$ of normed chain complexes induces an isometric isomorphism on homology, then $\overline{H}_*(\overline{f})$ as well as $H_*(\overline{f})$ in general are neither injective, nor surjective, nor isometric.

An ubiquitous tool in any decent (co)homology theory are long exact sequences provided by the snake lemma. In the world of Banach (co)chain complexes, the snake lemma takes the following form:

Proposition (1.9) (Snake lemma). Let $0 \longrightarrow A \xrightarrow{i} B \xrightarrow{p} C \longrightarrow 0$ be a short exact sequence of Banach chain complexes. Then there is a natural long exact sequence

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H_n(A) \xrightarrow{H_n(i)} H_n(B) \xrightarrow{H_n(p)} H_n(C) \xrightarrow{\partial} H_{n-1}(A) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

1 Homology of normed chain complexes

in homology, and the connecting homomorphism ∂ *is continuous.*

In the same way, short exact sequences of Banach cochain complexes give rise to long exact sequences in cohomology with continuous connecting homomorphisms.

Proof. That the mentioned sequence in homology is exact is a purely algebraic fact following from the snake lemma for **R**-chain complexes [7; Proposition 0.4].

In order to convince ourselves of the continuity of the connecting homomorphism ∂ , we first recall the definition of ∂ : Let $\gamma \in H_n(C)$, and let $c \in C_n$ be a cycle representing γ . Because $p_n: B_n \longrightarrow C_n$ is surjective, there is a chain $b \in B_n$ with $p_n(b) = c$. By construction, $p_{n-1}(\partial_n^B(b)) = \partial_n^C(p_n(b)) = \partial_n^C(c) = 0$, and hence there is an $a \in A_{n-1}$ satisfying $i_{n-1}(a) = \partial_n^B(b)$; moreover, a is a cycle and the class $[a] \in H_{n-1}(A)$ is independent of the choices made. The connecting homomorphism is then defined by

$$\partial(\gamma) := [a] \in H_{n-1}(A).$$

We now proceed using an argument by Monod [42; proof of Proposition 8.2.1]: Let $\varepsilon \in \mathbf{R}_{>0}$. By definition of the semi-norm on homology, the cycle *c* can be chosen in such a way that $||c|| \leq ||\gamma|| + \varepsilon$. The open mapping theorem applied to the operators \tilde{p}_n : $B / \ker p_n \longrightarrow C$ and \tilde{i}_{n-1} : $A_{n-1} \longrightarrow \operatorname{im} i_{n-1} = \ker p_{n-1}$ induced by p_n and i_{n-1} respectively shows that these operators have bounded inverses. Therefore, we can choose the chains $b \in B_n$ and $a \in A_{n-1}$ in a such a way that

$$egin{aligned} \|b\| &\leq \|\widetilde{p}_n^{-1}\|\cdotig(\|c\|+arepsilonig)\ &\leq \|\widetilde{p}_n^{-1}\|\cdotig(\|\gamma\|+2\cdotarepsilonig)\ &\|a\| &\leq \|\widetilde{i}_{n-1}^{-1}\|\cdot\|\partial_n^B(b)\|. \end{aligned}$$

This shows that

$$\|\partial\| \leq \|\widetilde{i}_{n-1}^{-1}\| \cdot \|\partial_n^B\| \cdot \|\widetilde{p}_n^{-1}\| < \infty,$$

i.e., the connecting homomorphism ∂ is continuous.

1.3 The equivariant setting

We now turn our attention towards equivariant normed chain complexes, i.e., normed chain complexes that additionally carry an isometric group action. Many normed chain complexes in fact are naturally derived from equivariant normed chain complexes by taking (co)invariants.

1.3.1 Banach G-modules

As first step, we recall the definitions of the categories of normed *G*-modules and of Banach *G*-modules respectively.

Definition (1.10). Let *G* be a discrete group.

- 1. A normed vector space together with an isometric (left) *G*-action is called a **normed** *G*-**module**. A **Banach** *G*-**module** is a normed *G*-module that is complete.
- 2. A *G*-morphism between normed *G*-modules is a *G*-equivariant bounded linear operator.

The most basic example of a Banach *G*-module with non-trivial group action is $\ell^1(G)$, the set of all ℓ^1 -functions $G \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ with the *G*-action given by shifting the argument. Obviously, any Banach *G*-module is a module over $\ell^1(G)$.

Geometrically, normed *G*-modules arise in the following way: Let *X* be a topological space with a continuous *G*-action and let $n \in \mathbf{N}$. Then the singular chain group $C_n(X)$ inherits a *G*-action, which is isometric with respect to the ℓ^1 -norm.

Definition (1.11). Let *G* be a group and let *V* be a normed *G*-module. The set of **invariants** of *V* is defined by

$$V^G := \{ v \in V \mid \forall_{g \in G} \ g \cdot v = v \}.$$

The set of **coinvariants** of *V* is the quotient

$$V_G := V / \overline{W},$$

where $W \subset V$ is the subspace generated by the set $\{g \cdot v - v \mid v \in V, g \in G\}$.

Clearly, if *V* is a normed (Banach) *G*-module, then V^G is a normed vector (Banach) space with respect to the restricted norm and V_G is a normed vector (Banach) space with respect to the quotient norm [49; Proposition 2.1.5] – because a *closed* subspace is quotiened out. However, notice that the space *W* itself used in the previous definition in general need not be closed in *V*.

Any *G*-morphism $f: V \longrightarrow W$ between normed *G*-modules induces a bounded linear operator $f_G: V_G \longrightarrow W_G$ satisfying $f_G \circ (V \twoheadrightarrow V_G) = (W \twoheadrightarrow W_G) \circ f$ [49; Proposition 2.1.7]. Similarly, any *G*-morphism $f: V \longrightarrow W$ restricts to a bounded linear operator $f^G: V^G \longrightarrow W^G$. Clearly, both \cdot_G and \cdot^G are functorial.

Like in the (algebraic) category of *G*-modules the most basic functors are tensor products and taking homomorphisms:

1 Homology of normed chain complexes

Definition (1.12). Let G be a discrete group and let U and V be two Banach G-modules.

1. The **projective tensor product** $U \otimes V$ is the Banach *G*-module whose underlying Banach space is the projective tensor product $U \otimes V$ of Banach spaces, i.e., the completion of the tensor product $U \otimes V$ of **R**-vector spaces with respect to the norm

$$\forall_{c\in U\otimes V} \|c\| := \inf \left\{ \sum_{j} \|u_{j}\| \cdot \|v_{j}\| \left| \sum_{j} u_{j} \otimes v_{j} \text{ represents } c \in U \otimes V \right\}.$$

The (diagonal) *G*-action on $U \otimes V$ is the *G*-action uniquely determined by

$$\forall_{g \in G} \quad \forall_{u \in U} \quad \forall_{v \in V} \quad g \cdot (u \otimes v) := (g \cdot u) \otimes (g \cdot v).$$

2. The Banach space B(U, V) of all bounded linear functions from U to V (with the operator norm) is a Banach *G*-module with respect to the *G*-action

$$G \times B(U, V) \longrightarrow B(U, V)$$
$$(g, f) \longmapsto \left(u \longmapsto g \cdot (f(g^{-1} \cdot u))\right)$$

In particular, $U' = B(U, \mathbf{R})$ is a Banach *G*-module (where **R** is regarded as the trivial Banach *G*-module).

If *U* and *V* are two Banach *G*-modules, then $(U \otimes V)_G$ can be viewed as an equivariant tensor product " $U^{op} \otimes_G V$." We prefer the notation $(U \otimes V)_G$ because it allows us to speak only about left *G*-modules.

As expected, the functors $\overline{\otimes}$ and *B* are adjoint in the following sense:

Remark (1.13). Let *G* be a discrete group and let *U*, *V*, and *W* be Banach *G*-modules. Then

$$B(U \boxtimes V, W) \longrightarrow B(U, B(V, W))$$
$$f \longmapsto (u \mapsto (v \mapsto f(u \otimes v)))$$
$$(u \otimes v \mapsto f(u)(v)) \longleftrightarrow f$$

is an isometric isomorphism of Banach G-modules.

Furthermore, taking duals converts coinvariants to invariants:

1.3 The equivariant setting

Proposition (1.14). For all Banach G-modules V the map

$$\varphi \colon (V_G)' \longrightarrow (V')^G$$
$$f \longmapsto f \circ \pi$$

is a natural isometric isomorphism, where $\pi \colon V \longrightarrow V_G$ is the canonical projection.

Proof. It is not hard to see that φ is well-defined and $\|\varphi\| \leq 1$. Conversely, we consider the map

$$\psi \colon (V')^G \longrightarrow (V_G)'$$
$$f \longmapsto \overline{f},$$

where $\overline{f}: V_G \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ is the unique continuous functional satisfying $\overline{f} \circ \pi = f$. Moreover, $\|\overline{f}\|_{\infty} \leq \|f\|_{\infty}$. Again, it is not difficult to check that ψ is well-defined and that $\|\psi\| \leq 1$.

By construction, $\varphi \circ \psi = \text{id}$ and $\psi \circ \varphi = \text{id}$, which implies that φ must be an isometric isomorphism.

1.3.2 Banach G-chain complexes

Assembling normed *G*-modules and *G*-morphisms into chain complexes yields the category of normed *G*-chain complexes:

Definition (1.15). Let *G* be a discrete group.

- 1. A **normed** *G***-(co)chain complex** is a normed (co)chain complex consisting of normed *G*-modules whose (co)boundary operators are *G*-morphisms.
- 2. A **Banach** *G***-(co)chain complex** is a normed *G*-(co)chain complex consisting of Banach *G*-modules.
- 3. A **morphism of normed** *G***-(co)chain complexes** is a (co)chain map of Banach *G*-(co)chain complexes that consists of *G*-morphisms.
- 4. Two morphisms of normed *G*-(co)chain complexes are *G***-homotopic** if there exists a (co)chain homotopy between them consisting of *G*-morphisms. ♦

Fundamental examples of normed *G*-chain complexes are the bar resolution of *G* as well as singular chain complexes of *G*-spaces (Sections 2.2 and 2.3).

The functors of taking invariants and coinvariants respectively extend to functors on the category of Banach *G*-chain complexes: 1 Homology of normed chain complexes

Definition (1.16). Let *G* be a discrete group.

- 1. If (C, δ) is a Banach *G*-cochain complex, then C^G is the Banach cochain complex given by $(C^G)^n := (C^n)^G$ with the coboundary operator δ^G induced by δ .
- 2. If (C, ∂) is Banach *G*-chain complex, then C_G is the Banach chain complex given by $(C_G)_n := (C_n)_G$ and the boundary operator ∂_G induced by ∂ .

Every *G*-morphism $f: C \longrightarrow D$ of normed/Banach *G*-(co)chain complexes induces morphisms $f^G: C^G \longrightarrow D^G$ and $f_G: C_G \longrightarrow D_G$ of normed/Banach (co)chain complexes, and these constructions are functorial.

Of course, the operations $\overline{\otimes}$ and *B* also have a pendant on the level of *G*-chain complexes:

Definition (1.17). Let *G* be a discrete group, let (C, ∂) be a Banach *G*-chain complex and let *V* be a Banach *G*-module.

1. The **projective tensor product** $C \otimes V$ is the Banach *G*-chain complex with

$$(C \overline{\otimes} V)_n := C_n \overline{\otimes} V$$

and the boundary operator $\partial \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{id}_V$.

2. The Banach *G*-cochain complex B(C, V) is defined by $B(C, V)^n := B(C_n, V)$, equipped with the coboundary operator

$$B(\partial_{n+1}, \mathrm{id}_V) \colon B(C, V)^n \longrightarrow B(C, V)^{n+1}$$
$$f \longmapsto (c \mapsto f(\partial_{n+1}(c))). \qquad \diamondsuit$$

A straightforward computation (using Remark (1.13)) shows that the functors *B* and $\overline{\otimes}$ are adjoint. I.e., for all Banach *G*-chain complexes *C* and all Banach *G*-modules *U*, *V*, there is a natural isometric isomorphism

$$B(C \overline{\otimes} U, V) \cong B(C, B(U, V)).$$

of Banach G-cochain complexes.

The tools introduced so far allow us to imitate standard constructions of homological algebra related to group (co)homology. For example, if *C* is a Banach *G*-chain complex and *V* is a Banach *G*-module, then we can build the Banach (co)chain complexes $(C \otimes V)_G$ and $B(C, V)^G$, and, in a second step, take their homology. By choosing suitable complexes *C*, these (co)chain complexes give rise to ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology with twisted coefficients (Sections 2.2 and 2.3). More generally, one can develop a theory of projective and injective resolutions in the framework of Banach *G*-(co)chain complexes (Appendix A).

2

ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

The singular chain complex (with real coefficients) of a topological space is a normed chain complex with respect to the ℓ^1 -norm. Taking the completion and the topological dual of the singular chain complex gives rise to ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of spaces respectively (Section 2.1).

Similarly, also the bar resolution of a discrete group can be turned into a normed chain complex by introducing a suitable ℓ^1 -norm. The completion and the topological dual of this normed chain complex give rise to ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of discrete groups respectively (Section 2.2).

Both constructions can be decorated with equivariant Banach modules, yielding the corresponding theories with (twisted) coefficients (Sections 2.2 and 2.3).

In this chapter, we give an introduction to ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology for topological spaces and discrete groups and study their basic properties (Sections 2.1.2 and 2.2.4).

The last section (Section 2.4) contains a survey of more sophisticated properties of bounded cohomology, mainly concerning amenable groups. In Chapter 4, we apply the methods developed in Chapter 3 to transfer these properties to ℓ^1 -homology.

11

2.1 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces

In the next paragraphs, we introduce ℓ^1 -homology of topological spaces (with trivial coefficients). Other flavours of ℓ^1 -homology like ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups or ℓ^1 -homology with twisted coefficients are presented in Section 2.2 and Section 2.3 respectively.

Definition (2.1). Let (X, A) be a pair of topological spaces. The ℓ^1 -norm on the singular chain complex $C_*(X)$ with real coefficients is defined as follows: For a chain $c = \sum_{i=0}^k a_i \cdot \sigma_i \in C_*(X)$ in reduced form we set

$$||c||_1 := \sum_{j=0}^k |a_j|.$$

The semi-norm on the quotient $C_*(X, A) = C_*(X)/C_*(A)$ induced by $\|\cdot\|_1$ is a norm because $C_*(A)$ is ℓ^1 -closed in $C_*(X)$. This norm on $C_*(X, A)$ is also denoted by $\|\cdot\|_1$.

The boundary operator $\partial_n : C_n(X, A) \longrightarrow C_{n-1}(X, A)$ is a bounded operator with respect to the ℓ^1 -norm of operator norm at most (n + 1). Hence, $C_*(X, A)$ is a normed chain complex. Clearly, $C_*(X)$ and $C_*(X, A)$ are in general not complete and thus these complexes are no Banach chain complexes.

Definition (2.2). Let (X, A) be a pair of topological spaces. The ℓ^1 -chain complex of (X, A) is the ℓ^1 -completion

$$C_*^{\ell^1}(X,A) := \overline{C_*(X,A)}^{\ell^1}$$

of the normed chain complex $C_*(X, A)$. We abbreviate $C_*^{\ell^1}(X, \emptyset)$ by $C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$.

By Remark (1.3), the completion $C_*^{\ell^1}(X, A)$ is a Banach chain complex. Furthermore, because $C_*(A)$ is ℓ^1 -closed in $C_*(X)$, there is an isometric isomorphism

$$C_*^{\ell^1}(X,A) \cong C_*^{\ell^1}(X) / C_*^{\ell^1}(A)$$

of Banach chain complexes.

 \diamond

Definition (2.3). If (X, A) is a pair of topological spaces, then the Banach cochain complex

$$C_{b}^{*}(X,A) := \left(C_{*}^{\ell^{1}}(X,A)\right)' = \left(C_{*}(X,A)\right)'$$

is the **bounded cochain complex** of (X, A). We write $C_b^*(X) := C_b^*(X, \emptyset)$.

Using the isomorphism $C_*^{\ell^1}(X, A) \cong C_*^{\ell^1}(X)/C_*^{\ell^1}(A)$, it is not difficult to see that there is for all $n \in \mathbf{N}$ an isometric isomorphism [49; Proposition 2.1.7]

$$C_{\mathbf{b}}^{n}(X, A) \cong \{ f \in C_{\mathbf{b}}^{n}(X) \mid f|_{C_{n}^{\ell^{1}}(A)} = 0 \}.$$

If $f: (X, A) \longrightarrow (Y, B)$ is a continuous map of pairs of topological spaces, then the induced map $C_*(f): C_*(X, A) \longrightarrow C_*(Y, B)$ is a chain map that is bounded in each degree (with operator norm equal to 1), i.e., it is a morphism of normed chain complexes. Its extension $C_*^{\ell^1}(f): C_*^{\ell^1}(X, A) \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(Y, B)$ is a morphism of Banach chain complexes and its dual $C_b^{\ell}(f): C_b^*(Y, B) \longrightarrow C_b^*(X, A)$ is a morphism of Banach cochain complexes.

Definition (2.4). Let (X, A) be a pair of topological spaces.

1. Then ℓ^1 -homology of (X, A) is defined as

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(X,A) := H_*(C^{\ell^1}_*(X,A)).$$

Dually, **bounded cohomology** of (X, A) is given by

$$H_{b}^{*}(X, A) := H^{*}(C_{b}^{*}(X, A)).$$

We write $H^{\ell^1}_*(X) := H^{\ell^1}_*(X, \emptyset)$ and $H^*_b(X) := H^*_b(X, \emptyset)$ for short.

- 2. The semi-norms on $H_*^{\ell^1}(X, A)$ and $H_b^*(X, A)$ are the ones induced by $\|\cdot\|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ respectively and are also denoted by $\|\cdot\|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$.
- 3. If $f: (X, A) \longrightarrow (Y, B)$ is a continuous map of pairs of topological spaces, then the maps on ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology induced by $C_*^{\ell^1}(f)$ and $C_b^*(f)$ are denoted by $H_*^{\ell^1}(f)$ and $H_b^*(f)$ respectively.

By construction, both ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology are functorial with respect to composition of continuous maps of (pairs of) topological spaces.

2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

2.1.1 The ℓ^1 -semi-norm on ℓ^1 -homology of spaces

Despite of the relation between ℓ^1 -homology or bounded cohomology and singular (co)homology being rather obscure, both ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology compute the ℓ^1 -semi-norm on singular homology (Proposition (2.5) and Theorem (3.8)). In fact, it turns out that these theories are much better adapted to the behaviour of the ℓ^1 -semi-norm than singular homology itself.

Proposition (2.5). Let (X, A) be a pair of topological spaces. Then the homomorphism $H_*(X, A) \longrightarrow H_*^{\ell^1}(X, A)$ induced by the inclusion $i_{X,A} \colon C_*(X, A) \hookrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(X, A)$ is isometric with respect to the semi-norms on $H_*(X, A)$ and $H_*^{\ell^1}(X, A)$ induced by the ℓ^1 -norm.

In particular, if $H_n^{\ell^1}(X, A) = 0$, then $\|\alpha\|_1 = 0$ for all $\alpha \in H_n(X, A)$.

Proof. This follows from Proposition (1.7) because $C_*(X, A)$ is, by definition, a dense subcomplex of $C_*^{\ell^1}(X, A)$ with respect to $\|\cdot\|_1$.

An interesting invariant defined in terms of the ℓ^1 -semi-norm on singular homology is the simplicial volume (Chapter 5). Proposition (2.5) is the key to study the simplicial volume via ℓ^1 -homology and the associated tools.

Moreover, from Proposition (2.5) we can deduce that ℓ^1 -homology of topological spaces is not always zero:

Example (2.6). For any $n \in \mathbf{N} \setminus \{1\}$ there is a topological space with $H_n^{\ell^1}(X) \neq 0$:

For example, if *M* is an oriented, closed, connected, hyperbolic manifold of dimension $n \ge 2$, it is well-known that all non-zero classes in $H_2(M), \ldots, H_n(M)$ have non-zero ℓ^1 -semi-norm [57; p. 6.6]. By Proposition (2.5), the image of these classes in ℓ^1 -homology cannot be zero.

It is not difficult to see that $H_0^{\ell^1}(X) \neq 0$ for all topological spaces. On the other hand, $H_1^{\ell^1}(X) = 0$ (Proposition (2.7)).

2.1.2 Basic properties of ℓ^1 -homology of spaces

In the following, we study the basic properties of ℓ^1 -homology, i.e., we analyse to which extent ℓ^1 -homology satisfies the Eilenberg-Steenrod axioms.

Proposition (2.7) (Basic properties of ℓ^1 **-homology of spaces).**

1. Homotopy invariance. The functor ℓ^1 -homology is homotopy invariant, i.e., if $f, g: (X, A) \longrightarrow (Y, B)$ are homotopic maps of pairs, then

$$H_*^{\ell^1}(f) = H_*^{\ell^1}(g) \colon H_*^{\ell^1}(X, A) \longrightarrow H_*^{\ell^1}(Y, B).$$

- 2. ℓ^1 -Homology of the point. For the one-point-space \bullet we obtain $H_0^{\ell^1}(\bullet) = \mathbf{R}$ and $H_k^{\ell^1}(\bullet) = 0$ for all $k \in \mathbf{N}_{>0}$.
- 3. The first ℓ^1 -homology group. For any space X we have $H_1^{\ell^1}(X) = 0$.
- 4. Long exact sequence of the pair. Let (*X*, *A*) be a pair of topological spaces. Then there is a natural long exact sequence

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\partial} H_k^{\ell^1}(A) \longrightarrow H_k^{\ell^1}(X) \longrightarrow H_k^{\ell^1}(X,A) \xrightarrow{\partial} H_{k-1}^{\ell^1}(A) \longrightarrow \cdots,$$

where ∂ is induced by the map $\partial : C_k^{\ell^1}(X, A) \longrightarrow C_k^{\ell^1}(A)$, and the other maps are the homomorphisms induced by the natural inclusions $A \hookrightarrow X \hookrightarrow (X, A)$.

5. Finite disjoint unions. If I is a finite set and $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ are topological spaces, then $H_*^{\ell^1}(\coprod_{i \in I} X_i)$ is isometrically isomorphic to $\bigoplus_{i \in I} H_*^{\ell^1}(X_i)$. Here, the direct sum is equipped with the sum of the norms.

Proof. Apart from part 3, all properties can be shown by the same arguments as in singular homology:

Homotopy invariance. If f and g are homotopic, the classic construction [16; Proposition III.5.7] of subdividing a homotopy between f and g in an appropriate way gives rise to a chain homotopy $h: C_*(X, A) \longrightarrow C_*(Y, B)$ between $C_*(f)$ and $C_*(g)$ that is bounded in each degree. Therefore, h can be extended to the ℓ^1 -chain complexes, and a straightforward calculation shows that this extension is a chain homotopy between $C_*^{\ell^1}(f)$ and $C_*^{\ell^1}(g)$. In particular, $H_*^{\ell^1}(f) = H_*^{\ell^1}(g)$. ℓ^1 -Homology of the point. By definition of the ℓ^1 -chain complex, $C_*^{\ell^1}(\bullet) = C_*(\bullet)$.

In particular, $H_k^{\ell^1}(\bullet) = H_k(\bullet)$, which equals **R** if k = 0 and which is 0 otherwise.

The first ℓ^1 *-homology group.* As first step, we show that each class in $H_1^{\ell^1}(X)$ can be represented by an ℓ^1 -cycle consisting of *loops* in *X*:

In order to keep the notational overhead limited, we only consider the case that *X* is path-connected (the general case can be treated by the same arguments, but requires an additional layer of indices). We choose a base point $x \in X$ and for each point $y \in X$ we choose a path $p_y: [0,1] \longrightarrow X$ joining *y* and *x*. Then for each 1-simplex $\sigma: [0,1] \longrightarrow X$ there is a homotopy $h_{\sigma}: [0,1] \times [0,1] \longrightarrow X$ satisfying

$$h_{\sigma}(\cdot, 0) = \sigma, \qquad h_{\sigma}(0, \cdot) = p_{\sigma(0)}, \qquad h_{\sigma}(1, \cdot) = p_{\sigma(1)}.$$

We now define

$$\ell \colon C_1(X) \longrightarrow C_1(X)$$
$$\sigma \longmapsto h_{\sigma}(\,\cdot\,,1).$$

2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

By construction $\|\ell\| \le 1$ and all chains in the image of ℓ are sums of loops (based at *x*) and hence are cycles. Moreover, subdividing $[0,1] \times [0,1]$ into the obvious two triangles gives rise to a homomorphism $H: C_1(X) \longrightarrow C_2(X)$ with

$$\partial(H(\sigma)) + p_{\sigma(1)} - p_{\sigma(0)} = \sigma - \ell(\sigma)$$

for all $\sigma \in map(\Delta^1, X)$ and $||H|| \le 2$. Therefore, we obtain extensions

$$\overline{\ell} \colon C_1^{\ell^1}(X) \longrightarrow C_1^{\ell^1}(X),$$

$$\overline{H} \colon C_1^{\ell^1}(X) \longrightarrow C_2^{\ell^1}(X)$$

of ℓ and H respectively such that \overline{H} witnesses the fact that for all cycles $c \in C_1^{\ell^1}(X)$ the image $\overline{\ell}(c)$ is a cycle and

$$[\overline{\ell}(c)] = [c] \in H_1^{\ell^1}(X).$$

Thus, it suffices to show $[\overline{\ell}(c)] = 0 \in H_1^{\ell^1}(X)$ for all cycles $c \in C_1^{\ell^1}(X)$: By construction, $\overline{\ell}(c)$ is an ℓ^1 -sum $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} a_n \cdot \sigma_n$ of loops $\sigma_n \colon [0,1] \longrightarrow X$. In particular, we have the decomposition $\sigma_n = \sigma_n^{\circ} \circ \tau$, where $\tau \colon [0,1] \longrightarrow S^1$ wraps exactly once around S^1 and where $\sigma_n^{\circ} \in \operatorname{map}(S^1, X)$.

Let $d: S^1 \longrightarrow S^1$ be an orientation preserving double covering. Then there is a chain $b \in C_2(S^1)$ with

$$\partial b = au - rac{1}{2} \cdot C_1 \left(d
ight) (au).$$

We consider the formal sum

$$b(\overline{\ell}(c)) := \sum_{n \in \mathbf{N}} a_n \cdot \sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} \frac{1}{2^j} \cdot C_2(\sigma_n^\circ) \circ C_2(d^j)(b),$$

which clearly is ℓ^1 -summable. Hence, $b(\overline{\ell}(c)) \in C_2^{\ell^1}(X)$, and one easily checks that $\partial b(\overline{\ell}(c)) = \overline{\ell}(c) \in C_1^{\ell^1}(X)$. In particular, $[c] = [\overline{\ell}(c)] = 0 \in H_1^{\ell^1}(X)$. Matsumoto and Morita show how $H_1^{\ell^1}(X) = 0$ can be derived from knowl-

Matsumoto and Morita show how $H_1^{\ell^1}(X) = 0$ can be derived from knowledge on bounded cohomology [38; Corollary 2.7]. On the other hand, Bouarich's proof [5; p. 164] is not entirely correct [37] – his argument shows only that the reduced (in the normed sense) first ℓ^1 -homology vanishes.

Long exact sequence. By the snake lemma (Proposition (1.9)), the short exact sequence $0 \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(A) \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(X) \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(X, A) \longrightarrow 0$ induces a long exact sequence in homology; moreover, the construction of the connecting homomorphism shows that it indeed is of the mentioned form.

2.1 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces

Finite disjoint unions. Because the standard simplices Δ^k are connected, it follows that there is an isometric isomorphism $C_*(X) \cong \bigoplus_{i \in I} C_*(X_i)$ of normed chain complexes. The finiteness of I ensures that $C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ and $\bigoplus_{i \in I} C_*^{\ell^1}(X_i)$ are isometrically isomorphic. Therefore, we obtain an isometric isomorphism

$$H_*^{\ell^1}(X) \cong \bigoplus_{i \in I} H_*^{\ell^1}(X_i).$$

Similar arguments as in the previous proposition show that bounded cohomology satisfies the corresponding properties [56; Sections 2.1.1 and 2.2.2].

However, ℓ^1 -homology (as well as bounded cohomology) does *not* satisfy excision. The geometric reason behind this phenomenon is the following: Singular homology satisfies excision, because any singular homology class can also be represented by a singular cycle consisting of "small" simplices. This is achieved by applying barycentric subdivision sufficiently often. However, in an (infinite) ℓ^1 -chain $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} a_n \cdot \sigma_n$, the number of barycentric subdivisions needed for the simplices $(\sigma_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ might be unbounded. Therefore, an ℓ^1 -homology class can in general not be represented by cycles consisting only of "small" simplices.

Example (2.8). We will see that $H_*^{\ell^1}(S^1) \cong H_*^{\ell^1}(\bullet)$ (Corollary (4.2)). But the second ℓ^1 -homology $H_2^{\ell^1}(S^1 \vee S^1)$ is not even finite dimensional because there is an isomorphism $H_2^{\ell^1}(S^1 \vee S^1) \cong H_2^{\ell^1}(\mathbb{Z} * \mathbb{Z})$ (Corollary (4.14)), and the latter term is not finite dimensional [6, 41]. In particular, there can be no cellular version of ℓ^1 -homology. \diamond

This failure of excision is both a curse and a blessing. On the one hand, the lack of excision makes concrete computations via the usual divide and conquer approach significantly harder; on the other hand, it turns out that both bounded cohomology and ℓ^1 -homology depend only on the fundamental group (Theorem (2.26) and Corollary (4.3)) and hence can be computed in terms of certain nice resolutions (Theorem (2.28) and Corollary (4.14)).

Remark (2.9). It is not clear, whether ℓ^1 -homology of an *infinite* disjoint union of spaces coincides with the ℓ^1 -sum of the ℓ^1 -homology of the pieces. Namely, let $(X_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a family of spaces and let $X := \coprod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} X_n$. Clearly, we have an isometric isomorphism $C_*^{\ell^1}(X) \cong \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}}^{\ell^1} C_*^{\ell^1}(X_n)$. But there might exist a cycle $c \in C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ such that its restrictions to all subspaces X_n are null-homologous in $C_*^{\ell^1}(X_n)$, but such that the sum of all such null-homologies is not ℓ^1 -summable.

In Section 2.4, we list some of the more sophisticated properties of bounded cohomology; their analogues in ℓ^1 -homology are derived in Chapter 4.

2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

2.1.3 Where is ℓ^p -homology?

It is tempting to consider not only the ℓ^1 -norm on the singular chain complex, but also ℓ^p -norms with p > 1. However, the singular chain complex is not a normed chain complex with respect to these norms (Proposition (2.11)) – hence, the boundary operator cannot be extended to the completion of the singular chain complex with respect to the ℓ^p -norm.

Definition (2.10). Let *X* be a topological space and let $p \in [1, \infty]$. The ℓ^p -norm on the singular chain complex $C_*(X)$ is defined by

$$\|c\|_p := \begin{cases} \sqrt[p]{\sum_{j=0}^k |a_j|^p} & \text{if } p \neq \infty\\ \sup\{|a_j| \mid j \in \{0, \dots, k\}\} & \text{if } p = \infty \end{cases}$$

for all $c := \sum_{j=0}^{k} a_j \cdot \sigma_j \in C_n(X)$.

Proposition (2.11). Let X be a path-connected topological space with at least two points and let $p \in (1, \infty]$. Then the singular chain complex $C_*(X)$ of X is not a normed chain complex with respect to the ℓ^p -norm.

 \diamond

Proof. In the following, let $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$. Let $x, y \in X$ be two points with $x \neq y$, and let $\sigma \in \operatorname{map}(\Delta^n, X)$ be a singular *n*-simplex of *X* with $\partial \sigma \neq 0$; for example, any singular *n*-simplex that has one vertex in *x* and *n* vertices in *y* enjoys this property.

For each $d \in \mathbf{N}$ we can find d different n-simplices of X having the same boundary as σ ; for example, using a cofibration $\partial \Delta^n \cup \{x_1, \ldots, x_d\} \hookrightarrow \Delta^n$, where $x_1, \ldots, x_d \in (\Delta^n)^\circ$, we can find singular n-simplices $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_d \colon \Delta^n \longrightarrow X$ such that

$$\sigma_j(x_k) = \begin{cases} x & \text{if } k \neq j \\ y & \text{if } k = j \end{cases}$$

and $\sigma_j|_{\partial\Delta^n} = \sigma|_{\partial\Delta^n}$ holds for all $j, k \in \{1, ..., d\}$. In particular, the $\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_d$ are d different singular simplices with $\partial\sigma_j = \partial\sigma$.

We then consider the chain

$$c_d := rac{1}{d} \cdot \sum_{j=1}^d \sigma_j \in C_n(X).$$

By construction, $\partial_n c_d = \partial \sigma \neq 0$. On the other hand, $\lim_{d\to\infty} ||c_d||_p = 0$ because p > 1. Therefore, the boundary operator ∂_n is not a bounded operator.

Furthermore, a refined version of this argument can be applied to show that the semi-norms on singular homology induced by $\|\cdot\|_p$ with p > 1 are trivial.

2.2 ℓ^1 -Homology of discrete groups

Like in ordinary group (co)homology, there are several ways to introduce their functional analytic analogues – bounded cohomology and ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups:

- Firstly, ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of discrete groups can be explicitly defined in terms of the Banach bar resolution, which is the ℓ^1 -completion of the bar resolution (Sections 2.2.1 and 2.2.2).
- Secondly, ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of discrete groups can also be described in the language of certain projective and injective resolutions (Section 2.2.3).

In Section 2.2.4, we examine basic properties of ℓ^1 -homology of groups.

2.2.1 The Banach bar resolution

The bar resolution with **R**-coefficients of a discrete group can be equipped with an ℓ^1 -norm turning this resolution into a normed chain complex. The corresponding completion is the so-called Banach bar resolution of the group. Standard operations like projective tensor products and spaces of bounded operators then create the Banach (co)chain complexes that underlie the definitions of ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of discrete groups with coefficients.

Definition (2.12). Let *G* be a discrete group. The **Banach bar resolution** of *G* is the ℓ^1 -completion of the bar resolution of *G*, i.e., the Banach *G*-chain complex defined as follows:

1. For each $n \in \mathbf{N}$ let

$$C_n^{\ell^1}(G) := \left\{ \sum_{g \in G^{n+1}} a_g \cdot g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n] \ \middle| \ \forall_{g \in G^{n+1}} \ a_g \in \mathbf{R} \text{ and } \sum_{g \in G^{n+1}} |a_g| < \infty \right\}$$

together with the norm $\left\|\sum_{g \in G^{n+1}} a_g \cdot g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n]\right\|_1 := \sum_{g \in G^{n+1}} |a_g|$ and the *G*-action characterised by

$$h \cdot (g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n]) := (h \cdot g_0) \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n]$$

for all $g \in G^{n+1}$ and all $h \in G$.

19

- 2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology
 - 2. The boundary operator is the G-morphism uniquely determined by

$$C_n^{\ell^1}(G) \longrightarrow C_{n-1}^{\ell^1}(G)$$

$$g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n] \longmapsto g_0 \cdot g_1 \cdot [g_2| \dots |g_n]$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} (-1)^j \cdot g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_{j-1}| g_j \cdot g_{j+1}| g_{j+2}| \dots |g_n]$$

$$+ (-1)^n \cdot g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_{n-1}].$$

3. Moreover, we define the augmentation $\varepsilon \colon C_0^{\ell^1}(G) \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ by adding up the coefficients. \diamond

Definition (2.13). Let *G* be a discrete group and let *V* be a Banach *G*-module.

1. Let $C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V)$ be the Banach *G*-chain complex given by

$$C^{\ell^1}_*(G;V) := C^{\ell^1}_*(G) \overline{\otimes} V.$$

2. Dually, we define the Banach *G*-cochain complex $C_b^*(G; V)$ by

$$C_{b}^{*}(G; V) := B(C_{*}^{\ell^{1}}(G), V).$$

(Details on the corresponding norms, *G*-actions and (co)boundary operators can be found in Definitions (1.12) and (1.17)). \diamond

Remark (2.14). Let *G* be a discrete group. Then, $C_*^{\ell^1}(G; \mathbf{R}) = C_*^{\ell^1}(G)$. If *V* is a Banach *G*-module, the adjointness relation between $\overline{\otimes}$ and \cdot' (see Remark (1.13)) shows that

$$C_{\mathbf{b}}^{*}(G;V') = (C_{*}^{\ell^{1}}(G;V))'.$$

Remark (2.15). For any discrete group *G*, the bijections

$$G^{n+1} \longrightarrow G^{n+1}$$
$$g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n] \longmapsto (g_n^{-1}, \dots, g_0^{-1})$$

induce an isometric isomorphism $(C_*^{\ell^1}(G))' \longrightarrow C_b^*(G)$ of Banach *G*-cochain complexes, where $C_b^*(G)$ is the cochain complex defined by Ivanov [25; Section 3.4].

Of course, these constructions are functorial with respect to group homomorphisms and change of coefficients:
Remark (2.16). Let φ : $G \longrightarrow H$ be a homomorphism of discrete groups, let V be a Banach G-module and let W be a Banach H-module. Then

$$C_n^{\ell^1}(\varphi) \colon C_n^{\ell^1}(G) \longrightarrow \varphi^* \big(C_n^{\ell^1}(H) \big)$$

$$g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n] \longmapsto \varphi(g_0) \cdot \big[\varphi(g_1) | \dots | \varphi(g_n) \big]$$

defines a morphism $C_*^{\ell^1}(\varphi) : C_*^{\ell^1}(G) \longrightarrow \varphi^* C_*^{\ell^1}(H)$ of Banach *G*-chain complexes of norm 1; here, $\varphi^*(\cdot)$ stands for the Banach *G*-module structure on the Banach *H*-module in question that is induced by φ . In particular, for any morphism $f : V \longrightarrow \varphi^* W$ of Banach *G*-modules, the map

$$C_*^{\ell^1}(\varphi; f) := C_*^{\ell^1}(\varphi) \overline{\otimes} f \colon C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V) \longrightarrow \varphi^* \big(C_*^{\ell^1}(H; W) \big)$$

is a morphism of Banach *G*-chain complexes (of norm at most ||f||). Analogously, for any morphism $f: \varphi^*W \longrightarrow V$ of Banach *G*-modules,

$$C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(\varphi; f) := B(C^{\ell^1}_*(\varphi), f) : \varphi^*(C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(H; W)) \longrightarrow C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G; V)$$

is a morphism of Banach *G*-cochain complexes (of norm at most ||f||).

2.2.2 Definition of ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups

The definition of ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of discrete groups is now a straightforward adaption of the classic definition of group (co)homology in terms of the bar resolution:

Definition (2.17). Let *G* be a discrete group and let *V* be a Banach *G*-module.

- 1. The ℓ^1 -homology of *G* with coefficients in *V*, denoted by $H_*^{\ell^1}(G; V)$, is the homology of the Banach chain complex $C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V)_G$.
 - We write $H_*^{\ell^1}(G) := H_*^{\ell^1}(G; \mathbf{R})$, where **R** is the trivial Banach *G*-module.
- 2. The **bounded cohomology of** *G* **with coefficients in** *V* is defined as

$$H_{\mathbf{b}}^{*}(G; V) := H^{*}(C_{\mathbf{b}}^{*}(G; V)^{G}),$$

and we write $H_b^*(G) := H_b^*(G; \mathbf{R})$, where **R** is the trivial Banach *G*-module.

3. If $\varphi: G \longrightarrow H$ is a homomorphism of discrete groups, *W* is a Banach *H*-module, and $f: V \longrightarrow \varphi^* W$ is a morphism of Banach *G*-modules, we write

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(\varphi;f)\colon H^{\ell^1}_*(G;V)\longrightarrow H^{\ell^1}_*(H;W)$$

for the homomorphism induced by the composition

$$p \circ C_*^{\ell^1}(\varphi; f)_G \colon C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V)_G \longrightarrow \varphi^*(C_*^{\ell^1}(H; W))_G \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(H; W)_H$$

- 2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology
 - 4. Dually, if $\varphi \colon G \longrightarrow H$ is a homomorphism of discrete groups, *W* is a Banach *H*-module and $f \colon \varphi^*W \longrightarrow V$ is a morphism of Banach *G*-modules, then we write

$$H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(\varphi; f) \colon H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(H; W) \longrightarrow H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G; V)$$

for the homomorphism induced by the composition

$$C_{\mathbf{b}}^{*}(\varphi; f)^{G} \circ i \colon C_{\mathbf{b}}^{*}(H; W)^{H} \hookrightarrow \varphi^{*}(C_{\mathbf{b}}^{*}(H; W))^{G} \longrightarrow C_{\mathbf{b}}^{*}(G; V)^{G}. \qquad \diamond$$

Notice that the ℓ^1 -norm on the Banach bar resolution $C^{\ell^1}_*(G)$ induces seminorms on $H^{\ell^1}_*(G; V)$ and on $H^*_b(G; V)$.

2.2.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of discrete groups via projective resolutions

In this section, we show that ℓ^1 -homology (and bounded cohomology) of discrete groups enjoy the same flexibility as ordinary group (co)homology: namely, both ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology can be computed by means of relative homological algebra, as studied by Brooks, Ivanov, Monod, and Park [6, 25, 42, 47]. An introduction to this version of homological algebra is given in Appendix A.

Theorem (2.18). Let G be a discrete group and let V be a Banach G-module.

1. For any strong relatively projective *G*-resolution $(C, \eta: C_0 \rightarrow V)$ of *V* there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H_*^{\ell^1}(G;V) \cong H_*(C_G).$$

2. For any strong relatively injective G-resolution $(C, \eta: V \to C^0)$ of V there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G; V) \cong H^*(C^G).$$

3. If $(C, \eta: C_0 \rightarrow \mathbf{R})$ is a strong relatively projective *G*-resolution of the trivial Banach *G*-module \mathbf{R} , then there are canonical isomorphisms (degreewise isomorphisms of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(G;V) \cong H_*((C \overline{\otimes} V)_G), H^*_{\mathsf{b}}(G;V) \cong H^*(B(C,V)^G).$$

The semi-norms on $H_*^{\ell^1}(\cdot;\cdot)$ and $H_b^*(\cdot;\cdot)$ induced by the standard resolutions $C_*^{\ell^1}(G;V)$ and $C_b^*(G;V)$ coincide with the canonical semi-norms in the sense of Ivanov [25, 47, 42; Corollary 3.6.1, Corollary 2.3, Corollary 7.4.7]. However, it is clear that not every strong relatively projective/injective resolution induces the same semi-norm in (co)homology.

Of course, not only the groups $H_*^{\ell^1}(\cdot;\cdot)$ and $H_b^*(\cdot;\cdot)$ can be described via resolutions, but also the morphisms $H_*^{\ell^1}(\varphi;f)$ and $H_b^*(\varphi;f)$ [42, 33; Section 8, Section 5.1].

Bühler developed a description of ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology as derived functors via exact categories [11], thereby providing an even more conceptual approach, which paves the way to applying standard methods from homological algebra directly to ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology.

Proof (of Theorem (2.18)). The fundamental lemma of homological algebra in the context of Banach *G*-modules (Propositions (A.7) and (A.9)) shows that the two terms $H_*(C_G)$ and $H^*(C^G)$ do not depend (up to canonical isomorphisms) on the chosen strong relatively projective resolutions and strong relatively injective resolutions respectively.

Therefore, for the first and the second part it suffices to show that $C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V)$ and $C_b^*(G; V)$ are strong relatively projective/injective resolutions of V. This is done in Proposition (2.19).

It remains to prove the third part: If $(C, \eta: C_0 \to R)$ is a strong relatively projective resolution of **R**, there exist by the fundamental lemma of homological algebra (Proposition (A.9)) mutually *G*-homotopy inverse *G*-chain homotopy equivalences $\varphi : C \square \eta \simeq C_*^{\ell^1}(G) \square \varepsilon : \psi$; here, the symbol " \square " denotes concatenation of chain complexes. Hence, $\varphi \boxtimes id_V$ and $\psi \boxtimes id_V$ clearly are (mutually *G*-homotopy inverse) *G*-chain homotopy equivalences

$$(C \overline{\otimes} V) \circ (\eta \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{id}_V) \simeq \left(C_*^{\ell^1}(G) \overline{\otimes} V \right) \circ (\varepsilon \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{id}_V) = C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V) \circ (\varepsilon \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{id}_V).$$

In particular, we obtain an isomorphism

$$H_*((C \otimes V)_G) \cong H_*(C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V)_G),$$

which is in each degree an isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces. Therefore, it follows that

$$H_*^{\ell^1}(G;V) \cong H_*((C \otimes V)_G).$$

Analogously, $B(\varphi, id_V)$ and $B(\psi, id_V)$ are (mutually *G*-homotopy inverse) *G*-cochain equivalences between $C_b^*(G; V) = B(C_*^{\ell^1}(G), V)$ and B(C, V). Thus, we see

2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

that there is a canonical isomorphism $H_b^*(G; V) \cong H^*(B(C, V)^G)$, which is in each degree an isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces.

Proposition (2.19). *Let G be a discrete group and let V be a Banach G-module.*

- 1. Then $C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V)$ together with the augmentation $\varepsilon \otimes id_V$ is a strong relatively projective *G*-resolution of *V*.
- 2. Dually, $C_b^*(G; V)$ together with the augmentation $B(\varepsilon, id_V)$ is a strong relatively injective *G*-resolution of *V*.
- *Here*, $\varepsilon \colon C_0^{\ell^1}(G) \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ *is the augmentation introduced in Definition* (2.12).

Proof. Ad 1. Park showed that $(C_*^{\ell^1}(G), \varepsilon)$ is a strong relatively projective resolution of the trivial Banach *G*-module **R** [47; p. 596f]: A contracting chain homotopy *s* of the concatenated chain complex $C_*^{\ell^1}(G) \square \varepsilon$ of norm at most 1 can, for example, be defined by $s_{-1}(1) := 1 \cdot []$ and

$$s_n \colon C_n^{\ell^1}(G) \longrightarrow C_{n+1}^{\ell^1}(G)$$
$$g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n] \longmapsto (-1)^{n+1} \cdot [g_0 |g_1| \dots |g_n].$$

Therefore, $s \otimes id_V$ is a contracting chain homotopy of $C^{\ell^1}_*(G; V) \circ (\varepsilon \otimes id_V)$, which also has norm at most 1. Hence, $(C^{\ell^1}_*(G; V), \varepsilon \otimes id_V)$ is a strong resolution of the Banach *G*-module $\mathbb{R} \otimes V = \overline{V} = V$.

For each $n \in \mathbf{N}$, the Banach *G*-module $C_n^{\ell^1}(G; V) = C_n^{\ell^1}(G) \otimes V$ is relatively projective because any mapping problem (in the sense of Definition (A.1)) of the form

$$U \xrightarrow{c_n^{\ell^1}(G; V)}{\overset{\checkmark}{\underset{\sigma}{\overset{\sigma}{\longrightarrow}}}} W \longrightarrow 0$$

is solved by the G-morphism given by

$$C_n^{\ell^1}(G;V) \longrightarrow U$$

$$g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n] \otimes v \longmapsto g_0 \cdot \sigma \circ \alpha (1 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n] \otimes (g_0^{-1} \cdot v)).$$

Ad 2. Dually, it is not difficult to see that $B(s, id_V)$ is a contracting cochain homotopy of $B(\varepsilon, id_V) \square B(C_*^{\ell^1}(G), V)$. Furthermore, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the Banach

G-module $C_b^n(G; V) = B(C_n^{\ell^1}(G), V)$ is relatively injective because any mapping problem (in the sense of Definition (A.1)) of the form



can be solved by the G-morphism

$$W \longrightarrow C^n_{\mathsf{b}}(G; V) = B(C^{\ell^1}_n(G), V)$$
$$w \longmapsto (g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n] \mapsto (\alpha(g_0 \cdot \sigma(g_0^{-1} \cdot w)))(g_0 \cdot [g_1| \dots |g_n])).$$

If we were only interested in the case of V = W' for some Banach *G*-module *W*, then we could just apply Proposition (A.8) to the first part.

2.2.4 Basic properties of ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups

As expected, in degree zero ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of a discrete group coincide with the (co)invariants of the coefficients. Like the corresponding theories for topological spaces, ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of discrete groups with **R**-coefficients vanish in degree 1.

Proposition (2.20) (Low dimensions). *Let G be a discrete group and let V be a Banach G-module. Then*

$$H_0^{\ell^1}(G; V) \cong V_G, H_b^0(G; V) \cong V^G, H_1^{\ell^1}(G) = 0 = H_b^1(G).$$

Proof. (*Co*)*homology in degree* 0: Almost the same calculations as in ordinary group (co)homology prove the statements on ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology in degree 0. The only noteworthy difference is that V_G is obtained from V by dividing out the *closure* of span{ $g \cdot v - v \mid v \in V, g \in G$ }.

(*Co*)*homology in degree* 1: For each $g \in G$ the chain

$$s(g) := \sum_{n \in \mathbf{N}} \frac{1}{2^{n+1}} \cdot [g^{2^n} \mid g^{2^n}] \in C_2^{\ell^1}(G)$$

2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

constructed by Mitsumatsu [41] satisfies $\partial_G s(g) = 1 \cdot [g]$ in the quotient $C_1^{\ell^1}(G)_G$. Hence, the map $\partial_G \colon C_2^{\ell^1}(G)_G \longrightarrow C_1^{\ell^1}(G)_G$ induced by the boundary operator on $C_*^{\ell^1}(G)$ is surjective. This implies that the dual map

$$\begin{array}{c} \left(C_1^{\ell^1}(G)_G\right)' \longrightarrow \left(C_2^{\ell^1}(G)_G\right)' \\ (1.14) \\ C_b^1(G)^G \longrightarrow C_b^2(G)^G \end{array}$$

is injective. Therefore, we obtain $H_1^{\ell^1}(G) = 0$ and $H_b^1(G) = 0$.

Moreover, like in ordinary group cohomology, short exact sequences on the level of coefficients give rise to long exact sequences in (co)homology [26, 42, 11]:

Proposition (2.21) (Long exact sequence). Let G be a discrete group, and let

$$0 \longrightarrow U \stackrel{i}{\longrightarrow} V \stackrel{p}{\longrightarrow} W \longrightarrow 0$$

be a short exact sequence of Banach G-modules with relatively injective i. Then there are natural long exact sequences

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H_n^{\ell^1}(G; U) \longrightarrow H_n^{\ell^1}(G; V) \longrightarrow H_n^{\ell^1}(G; W) \longrightarrow H_{n-1}^{\ell^1}(G; U) \longrightarrow \cdots,$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow H_b^n(G; W') \longrightarrow H_b^n(G; V') \longrightarrow H_b^n(G; U') \longrightarrow H_b^{n+1}(G; W') \longrightarrow \cdots$$

with continuous connecting homomorphisms.

Proof. For every $n \in \mathbf{N}$, the Banach *G*-module $C_n^{\ell^1}(G)$ is relatively projective (Proposition (2.19)). Therefore, we obtain short exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(G, U)_G \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V)_G \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(G; W)_G \longrightarrow 0,$$

$$0 \longrightarrow C_b^*(G; W')^G \longrightarrow C_b^*(G; V')^G \longrightarrow C_b^*(G; U')^G \longrightarrow 0$$

of Banach G-(co)chain complexes (Proposition (A.3)).

Now the snake lemma (Proposition (1.9)) gives the two natural long exact sequences on (co)homology. \Box

A closer look at the proof of Proposition (A.3) reveals that in the situation of the above proposition it is not necessary to assume that *i* is relatively injective [26, 42; Proposition 2.10, Section 8.2].

2.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces with twisted coefficients

2.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces with twisted coefficients

Analogously to singular (co)homology, there are also versions of ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of spaces with twisted coefficients.

Definition (2.22). Let *X* be a connected topological space with universal covering \widetilde{X} and fundamental group *G*, and let *V* be a Banach *G*-module.

1. The ℓ^1 -chain complex of *X* with twisted coefficients in *V* is defined as the Banach chain complex of coinvariants

$$C^{\ell^1}_*(X;V) := \left(C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X}) \otimes V\right)_G$$

Here, $C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$ inherits the *G*-action from the action of the fundamental group on the universal covering \widetilde{X} .

- 2. The ℓ^1 -homology of *X* with twisted coefficients in *V*, denoted by $H^{\ell^1}_*(X;V)$, is the homology of the Banach chain complex $C^{\ell^1}_*(X;V)$.
- 3. The **bounded cochain complex of** X **with twisted coefficients in** V is defined as the Banach cochain complex of invariants

$$C_{\mathbf{b}}^*(X;V) := B(C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}),V)^G.$$

4. Bounded cohomology of *X* with twisted coefficients in *V* is the cohomology of the Banach cochain complex $C_b^*(X; V)$ and is denoted by $H_b^*(X; V)$.

(Details on the definition of the Banach *G*-(co)chain complexes $C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}) \otimes V$ and $B(C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}), V)$ can be found in Definitions (1.12) and (1.17)).

The ℓ^1 -chain complex and the bounded cochain complex of *X* (as defined in Section 2.1) can be recovered from this definition by taking trivial coefficients; namely, as Park stated [47; proof of Theorem 4.1], the ℓ^1 -chain complex of *X* can be viewed as the coinvariants of the ℓ^1 -chain complex of \widetilde{X} :

Proposition (2.23). If X is a connected topological space admitting a universal covering $\pi: \widetilde{X} \longrightarrow X$, then the morphism $C_*^{\ell^1}(\pi): C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ induces an isometric isomorphism

$$\varphi \colon C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X})_{\pi_1(X)} \longrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(X)$$

of Banach chain complexes.

2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

Therefore, $C_*^{\ell^1}(X; \mathbf{R}) = C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$, and we obtain from Proposition (1.14) that

$$C_{b}^{*}(X; \mathbf{R}) \cong \left(C_{*}^{\ell^{1}}(\widetilde{X})'\right)^{\pi_{1}(X)} \cong \left(C_{*}^{\ell^{1}}(\widetilde{X})_{\pi_{1}(X)}\right)' \cong \left(C_{*}^{\ell^{1}}(X)\right)' \cong C_{b}^{*}(X).$$

Proof (of Proposition (2.23)). For brevity, we write *G* for $\pi_1(X)$ and *W* for the subcomplex span{ $g \cdot c - c \mid c \in C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}), g \in G$ }.

Since $C_*^{\ell^1}(\pi)$ is continuous (with norm 1) and since $C_*^{\ell^1}(\pi)$ clearly vanishes on W, it also vanishes on the closure \overline{W} . In particular, $C_*^{\ell^1}(\pi)$ induces a morphism

$$\varphi \colon C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X})_G \longrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(X).$$

of Banach chain complexes with norm equal to 1 [49; Proposition 2.1.7].

We now construct an inverse to φ : To this end, for each $\tau \in map(\Delta^*, X)$ we choose a π -lift $\tilde{\tau} \in map(\Delta^*, \tilde{X})$. Then

$$\psi \colon C^{\ell^1}_*(X) \longrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X})_G$$
$$\sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} a_j \cdot \tau_j \longmapsto \sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} a_j \cdot \widetilde{\tau}_j + \overline{W}$$

is a linear map, which satisfies $\|\psi\| \le 1$. (As we will see in the following paragraph, ψ is the inverse of φ and thus is also compatible with the boundary operators).

Clearly, $\varphi \circ \psi = \text{id. Conversely, let } c = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} a_j \cdot \sigma_j + \overline{W} \in C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X})_G$. For every index $j \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists a $g_j \in G$ such that $(\pi \circ \sigma_j)^{\sim} = g_j \cdot \sigma_j$. Therefore, we obtain

$$(\psi \circ \varphi)(c) - c = \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} a_j \cdot (\pi \circ \sigma_j) - \sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} a_j \cdot \sigma_j\right) + \overline{W}$$
$$= \sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} a_j \cdot (g_j \cdot \sigma_j - \sigma_j) + \overline{W}.$$

Because the series $\sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} |a_j|$ converges, the sum $\sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} a_j \cdot (g_j \cdot \sigma_j - \sigma_j)$ lies in the ℓ^1 -closure of W, i.e., in \overline{W} . This implies $(\psi \circ \varphi)(c) - c = 0$ and hence $\psi \circ \varphi = \text{id}$. This proves the proposition.

Basic properties of ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology with twisted coefficients can be derived by similar means as in Sections 2.1.2 and 2.2.4. We refrain from doing so because ℓ^1 -homology as well as bounded cohomology of spaces actually coincide with the corresponding theories of discrete groups (Theorem (2.28) and Corollary (4.14)).

2.4 Peeking into the mirror universe

2.4 Peeking into the mirror universe

The seemingly small difference in the definition of bounded cochains and singular cochains has drastic consequences for the behaviour of the corresponding cohomology theories. In this section, we give a short survey of the astonishing properties of bounded cohomology. Unfortunately, the beautiful geometric applications of bounded cohomology to rigidity theory, as for example developed by Burger, Monod and Shalom [12, 43], are beyond the scope of this thesis. Instead we focus on the classic results concerning amenable and hyperbolic groups.

The material presented below (especially Sections 2.4.3 and 2.4.4) does not only serve as a guideline for the properties of ℓ^1 -homology we can expect to hold, but also enables us to derive similar results for ℓ^1 -homology by means of the translation mechanism (see Chapters 3 and 4).

2.4.1 Amenable groups

Before studying the relation between amenable groups and bounded cohomology, we first recall the definition of amenable groups:

Definition (2.24). A discrete group *A* is called **amenable** if there is a left-invariant mean on the set $B(A, \mathbf{R})$ of bounded functions from *A* to \mathbf{R} , i.e., if there is a linear map $m: B(A, \mathbf{R}) \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ satisfying

$$\forall_{f \in B(A,\mathbf{R})} \quad \forall_{a \in A} \quad m(f) = m(b \mapsto f(a^{-1} \cdot b))$$

and

$$\forall_{f \in B(A,\mathbf{R})} \quad \inf\{f(a) \mid a \in A\} \le m(f) \le \sup\{f(a) \mid a \in A\}.$$

Every finite, every Abelian, and every solvable group is amenable. The class of amenable groups is closed under taking subgroups and quotients. An example of a non-amenable group is the free group $\mathbf{Z} * \mathbf{Z}$. A detailed discussion of amenable groups can be found in Paterson's book [48].

2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

2.4.2 Amenable groups and bounded cohomology

The proof of the following proposition contains the prototypic argument in the setting of bounded cohomology and shows how amenability can be exploited in the theory of bounded cohomology [18; p. 39]:

Proposition (2.25). Let X be a connected, aspherical CW-complex with amenable fundamental group. Then $H_{\mathbf{b}}^{k}(X) = 0$ for all $k \in \mathbf{N}_{>0}$.

Proof. For brevity, we write $G := \pi_1(X)$ for the fundamental group of X and $\pi \colon \widetilde{X} \longrightarrow X$ for the universal covering. The space \widetilde{X} is contractible because X is aspherical. In particular, $H^k_{\rm b}(\widetilde{X}) = 0$ for all $k \in \mathbf{N}_{>0}$.

Because *G* is amenable, there is a *G*-invariant mean $m: B(G, \mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$. This mean allows to construct a split of the homomorphism $H_b^*(\pi): H_b^*(X) \longrightarrow H_b^*(\widetilde{X})$ as follows: Covering theory shows that

$$s: C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X) \longrightarrow C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X)$$
$$f \longmapsto (\sigma \mapsto m(g \mapsto f(g \cdot \widetilde{\sigma})))$$

(where $\tilde{\sigma}$ denotes any π -lift of the singular simplex σ) is a well-defined chain map satisfying

$$s \circ C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(\pi) = \mathrm{id}_{C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X)}.$$

Therefore, we obtain the relation $H^*(s) \circ H^*_b(\pi) = \operatorname{id}_{H^*_b(X)}$ on the level of bounded cohomology. In particular, $H^*(s)$ is surjective.

Now the claim follows because the bounded cohomology of \widetilde{X} is trivial in non-zero degree.

Of course, the construction of *s* in the proof would not be possible on the singular cochain complex because the mean *m* can only be applied to *bounded* functions.

Moreover, the argument in the proof of the previous proposition admits no analogue on the level of ℓ^1 -chain complexes (cf. Caveats (4.13) and (4.13)). Because the construction in the proof of Proposition (2.25) lies at the heart of most results on bounded cohomology related to amenability, the corresponding statements for ℓ^1 -homology cannot be proved by imitating the cohomological proofs.

2.4.3 The mapping theorem in bounded cohomology

Gromov [18; p. 40] and Ivanov [25; Theorem 4.3] established that bounded cohomology of spaces depends only on the fundamental group. More generally, they showed the following:

30

2.4 Peeking into the mirror universe

Theorem (2.26) (Mapping theorem for bounded cohomology). *If* $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ *is a continuous map of connected, countable CW-complexes such that the induced map* $\pi_1(f)$ *is surjective and has amenable kernel, then the induced homomorphism*

$$H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(f) \colon H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(Y) \longrightarrow H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X)$$

is an isometric isomorphism.

In particular, the bounded cohomology of spaces with amenable fundamental group vanishes in non-zero degree.

Similarly, bounded cohomology of groups cannot see amenable, normal subgroups [25, 45, 42; Section 3.8, Theorem 1, Corollary 8.5.2]:

Theorem (2.27). Let G be a discrete group, let $A \subset G$ be an amenable normal subgroup and let V be a Banach G-module. Then the projection $G \longrightarrow G/A$ induces an isometric isomorphism

$$H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G/A; V'^A) \cong H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G; V').$$

Conversely, the vanishing of bounded cohomology (with respect to *all* twisted coefficients) even characterises amenable groups [26].

2.4.4 Bounded cohomology of spaces via injective resolutions

Singular cohomology of an aspherical space coincides with group cohomology of the fundamental group, and hence singular cohomology of aspherical spaces can be computed by injective resolutions and vice versa. The same is true for bounded cohomology. But since bounded cohomology depends only on the fundamental group (Theorem (2.26)), the corresponding statement is much stronger:

Theorem (2.28). Let X be a countable, connected CW-complex, let $G := \pi_1(X)$, and let V be a Banach G-module. Then there is a natural isometric isomorphism

$$H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X;V') \cong H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G;V').$$

As a consequence, bounded cohomology of spaces can also be computed via strong relatively injective resolutions (Theorem (2.18)).

In the case of trivial coefficients, the theorem was proved by Ivanov [25; Theorem 4.1] (based on work of Brooks [6]). A proof of the generalised version is given in Appendix B.

2 ℓ^1 -Homology and bounded cohomology

2.4.5 Bounded cohomology and hyperbolic groups

Using straightening (see Section 4.4), Thurston shows that for all oriented, closed, connected, hyperbolic manifolds M the comparison map $H_b^k(M) \longrightarrow H^k(M)$ is surjective for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$. In particular, bounded cohomology is not always zero.

An interesting class of groups, containing all fundamental groups of oriented, closed, connected, hyperbolic manifolds, is the class of hyperbolic groups introduced by Gromov [19]. Mineyev [39, 40] extended Thurston's result to all hyperbolic groups and discovered that this property characterises hyperbolicity:

Theorem (2.29) (Characterisation of hyperbolic groups by bounded cohomology). Let G be a finitely presented group. Then G is hyperbolic if and only if for all Banach G-modules V and all $k \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$ the comparison map $H_{b}^{k}(G; V) \longrightarrow H^{k}(G; V)$ is surjective.

In particular, the mapping theorem (Theorem (2.26)) yields: If *X* is an aspherical, countable, connected CW-complex with hyperbolic fundamental group, then the comparison map $H_b^k(X) \longrightarrow H^k(X)$ is surjective for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$.

3

Duality

The universal coefficient theorem shows that the algebraic dual of homology of a chain complex of vector spaces coincides with the cohomology of the algebraic dual cochain complex. In this chapter, we investigate the effect of replacing algebraic duals by topological duals.

While the naïve analogue of the universal coefficient theorem fails in this Banach setting, we present the following translation mechanism (Theorem (3.1)): A morphism of Banach chain complexes induces an isomorphism on homology if and only if its dual induces an isomorphism on cohomology of the corresponding dual Banach cochain complexes. Additionally, if the isomorphism on cohomology is isometric, then so is the isomorphism on homology.

A first step towards a proof is the observation that taking topological duals is compatible with acyclicity of Banach chain complexes. Using mapping cones, we can transform this compatibility into the translation mechanism.

We first give a precise statement of the translation principle and discuss duality in the Banach setting (Section 3.1). In the second step, mapping cones are studied (Section 3.2). The proof of the translation mechanism is given in Section 3.3. In the last section, we have a closer look at the relation between cohomological and homological comparison maps.

Applications of the translation mechanism to ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology are given in Chapter 4.

3.1 Linking homology and cohomology

3.1.1 Statement of the main theorem

Unlike taking algebraic duals of chain complexes of vector spaces, taking topological duals of normed chain complexes does not commute with homology (Remark (3.4)). However, it is still possible to transfer certain information from homology of a Banach chain complex to cohomology of the dual Banach cochain complex and vice versa:

Theorem (3.1) (Translation mechanism for isomorphisms). Let $f: C \longrightarrow D$ be a morphism of Banach chain complexes and let $f': D' \longrightarrow C'$ be its dual.

- 1. Then the induced homomorphism $H_*(f): H_*(C) \longrightarrow H_*(D)$ is an isomorphism of vector spaces if and only if $H^*(f'): H^*(D') \longrightarrow H^*(C')$ is an isomorphism of vector spaces.
- 2. Furthermore, if $H^*(f'): H^*(D') \longrightarrow H^*(C')$ is an isometric isomorphism, then also $H_*(f): H_*(C) \longrightarrow H_*(D)$ is an isometric isomorphism.

The proof of the first part relies on the following duality principle: A Banach chain complex is acyclic if and only if the corresponding dual Banach cochain complex is acyclic (Theorem (3.5)). The key to lifting this duality to morphisms is to apply the duality principle to mapping cones of morphisms of Banach chain complexes.

The second part can be derived from the first part because the semi-norm on homology of a normed chain complex can be computed in terms of the semi-norm on cohomology of its dual complex (Theorem (3.8)). On the other hand, the seminorm on cohomology of the dual in general cannot be computed in terms of the semi-norm on homology. Therefore, we cannot expect that the converse of the second part holds.

Before delving into the details of the proof of the translation mechanism, we first introduce the Kronecker product and shed some light on the relation it induces between homology of Banach chain complexes and cohomology of the corresponding dual cochain complexes.

34

3.1.2 The Kronecker product in the normed setting

Analogous to the algebraic setting, evaluation links homology of a normed chain complex and cohomology of its dual complex.

Definition (3.2). Let *C* be a normed chain complex. Evaluation $C^{n} \otimes C_{n} \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ induces linear maps, the so-called **Kronecker products**,

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle \colon H^*(C') \otimes H_*(C) \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle \colon H^*(C') \otimes \overline{H}_*(C) \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle \colon \overline{H}^*(C') \otimes \overline{H}_*(C) \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}.$$

These Kronecker products are well-defined because all elements in C' are, by definition, continuous.

Remark (3.3). Let $f: C \longrightarrow D$ be a morphism of normed chain complexes and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then the induced homomorphisms $H_n(f)$ and $H^n(f')$ are adjoint in the sense that

$$\langle \varphi, H_n(f)(\alpha) \rangle = \langle H^n(f')(\varphi), \alpha \rangle$$

for all $\alpha \in H_n(C)$ and all $\varphi \in H^n(D')$. Analogously, $\overline{H}_n(f)$ and $\overline{H}^n(f')$ are adjoint with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

By the universal coefficient theorem, the algebraic dual of homology of a chain complex of vector spaces coincides with the cohomology of the algebraic dual complex. However, taking topological duals (even of complete normed chain complexes) fails to commute with homology:

Remark (3.4). There is no obvious duality isomorphism between homology and cohomology of Banach chain complexes:

Let *C* be a Banach chain complex. Then we have the following commutative diagram



where the horizontal arrows are the homomorphisms induced by the Kronecker products (i.e., they are induced by evaluation of elements in *C*′ on elements in *C*),

3 Duality

the left vertical arrow is the canonical projection and the right vertical arrow is the composition $(\overline{H}_*(C))' \hookrightarrow \hom_{\mathbf{R}}(\overline{H}_*(C), \mathbf{R}) \hookrightarrow \hom_{\mathbf{R}}(H_*(C), \mathbf{R})$ of inclusions.

The lower horizontal morphism, and hence also the diagonal morphism, is surjective by the Hahn-Banach theorem. Moreover, Matsumoto and Morita showed that the diagonal morphism is injective if and only if $H^*(C') = \overline{H}^*(C')$ holds [38; Theorem 2.3].

Obviously, this is not the case in general. It is even wrong if $C = C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ for certain topological spaces *X* [54, 53]. Hence, there is no obvious duality between ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology.

Even the lower horizontal arrow is in general not injective: The kernel of the evaluation map

$$\ker \partial^{n+1} \longrightarrow \left(\ker \partial_n / \overline{\operatorname{im} \partial_{n+1}} \right)' = \left(\overline{H}_n(C) \right)'$$

equals $({}^{\perp}\operatorname{im}(\partial'^n))^{\perp}$, which is the weak*-closure of im ∂'^n [51; Theorem 4.7]. Furthermore, the norm-closure $\operatorname{im} \partial'^n$ and the weak*-closure $({}^{\perp}\operatorname{im}(\partial'^n))^{\perp}$ coincide if and only if $\operatorname{im} \partial_{n+1}$ is closed [51; Theorem 4.14]. Thus there is also no obvious duality isomorphism between reduced ℓ^1 -homology and reduced bounded cohomology. \diamond

Nevertheless, the Kronecker product is strong enough to give sufficient conditions for (co)homology classes to be non-trivial. For example, if $\alpha \in H_*(C)$ and $\varphi \in H^*(C')$ with $\langle \varphi, \alpha \rangle = 1$, then neither α , nor φ can be zero. This effect can be used to show that ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of certain surface groups are non-trivial [41].

3.1.3 Duality tools for the proof of the translation mechanism

Surprisingly, there is the following relation between homology of Banach chain complexes and cohomology of their duals, which has been discovered by Johnson [26; Proposition 1.2] as well as by Matsumoto and Morita [38; Corollary 2.4].

Theorem (3.5) (Duality principle). Let C be a Banach chain complex. Then $H_*(C)$ vanishes if and only if $H^*(C')$ vanishes.

Here, the "*" carries the meaning "All of the $H_n(C)$ are zero if and only if all the $H^n(C')$ are zero."

For the sake of completeness we provide a proof of this theorem. The proof is based on the following fact, stating that taking dual Banach spaces pretends to be an exact functor; it is not a genuine exact functor because the categories involved are not Abelian.

3.1 Linking homology and cohomology

Lemma (3.6). Let $f: U \longrightarrow V$ and $g: V \longrightarrow W$ be two bounded operators of Banach spaces satisfying $g \circ f = 0$. Then the following two statements are equivalent:

- 1. The image of g is closed and im $f = \ker g$.
- 2. The image of f' is closed and im(g') = ker(f').

Proof. The various kernels and images are related as follows [51; Theorem 4.7 and Theorem 4.12], where $\overline{\operatorname{im}(g')}^*$ denotes the weak*-closure of $\operatorname{im}(g')$:

$$(\operatorname{im} f)^{\perp} = \operatorname{ker}(f'),$$
$$(\operatorname{ker} g)^{\perp} = \left(^{\perp} \operatorname{im}(g')\right)^{\perp} = \overline{\operatorname{im}(g')}^{*}.$$

Suppose the image of *g* is closed and im $f = \ker g$. Then also im *f* is closed. Hence, $\operatorname{im}(f')$ and $\operatorname{im}(g')$ are (weak*-)closed by the closed range theorem [51; Theorem 4.14]. Therefore, we obtain $\ker(f') = \overline{\operatorname{im}(g')}^* = \operatorname{im}(g')$.

Conversely, suppose the image of f' is closed and im(g') = ker(f'). Thus, also im(g') is closed. By the closed range theorem, im(g') is even weak*-closed and both im f and im g are closed. In particular,

$$(\operatorname{im} f)^{\perp} = (\operatorname{ker} g)^{\perp}.$$

Because the image im *f* is closed and im $f \subset \ker g$, the Hahn-Banach theorem shows that im $f = \ker g$.

Proof (of Theorem (3.5)). If the (co)homology of a Banach (co)chain complex vanishes, then the images of all (co)boundary operators are kernels of bounded operators and hence closed. Therefore, the theorem follows from Lemma (3.6). \Box

Remark (3.7). Lemma (3.6) can also be used to give stronger versions of Theorem (3.5); for example, one can loosen the restriction on the degrees [38; Theorem 2.3]. However, we do not need these generalisations for the applications we have in mind and therefore stick to the more streamlined formulation of Theorem (3.5). \diamond

Moreover, Gromov realised that the semi-norms on homology and cohomology are intertwined in the following way [18, 1; p. 17, Proposition F.2.2]:

Theorem (3.8) (Duality principle for semi-norms). *Let C be a normed chain complex and let* $n \in \mathbf{N}$ *. Then*

$$\|\alpha\| = \sup\left\{\frac{1}{\|\varphi\|_{\infty}} \mid \varphi \in H^{n}(C') \text{ and } \langle \varphi, \alpha \rangle = 1\right\}$$

holds for each $\alpha \in H_n(C)$ *. Here,* sup $\emptyset := 0$ *.*

3 Duality

Proof. If $\alpha \in H_n(C)$ and $\varphi \in H^n(C')$, then

$$\langle \varphi, \alpha \rangle | \leq ||\alpha|| \cdot ||\varphi||_{\infty}.$$

This shows that $\|\alpha\|$ is at least as large as the supremum. Now suppose $\|\alpha\| \neq 0$, i.e., if *c* is a cycle representing α , then $c \notin \overline{\operatorname{im} \partial_{n+1}}$. Thus, by the Hahn-Banach theorem there exists a functional $f: C_n \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ satisfying

$$f|_{\operatorname{im}\partial_{n+1}} = 0, \qquad f(c) = 1, \qquad ||f||_{\infty} \le 1/||\alpha||.$$

In particular, $f \in C'^n$ is a cocycle. Let $\varphi := [f] \in H^n(C')$ be the corresponding cohomology class. Then, by construction, $\langle \varphi, \alpha \rangle = 1$ and $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} \le \|f\|_{\infty} \le 1/\|\alpha\|$. Hence, $\|\alpha\|$ is at most as large as the supremum.

The discussion in Remark (3.4) shows however that the semi-norm on $H^*(C')$ can in general not be computed by the semi-norm on $H_*(C)$. (It might happen that the reduced homology $\overline{H}_*(C)$ is zero, but $\overline{H}^*(C')$ is non-zero).

3.2 Mapping cones

Mapping cones of chain maps are a device translating questions about isomorphisms on homology into questions about the vanishing of homology groups (Lemma (3.10)). Like many concepts in homological algebra, the mapping cone is modeled on its topological counterpart – the mapping cone of continuous maps.

Definition (3.9). 1. Let $f: (C, \partial^C) \longrightarrow (D, \partial^D)$ be a morphism of normed chain complexes. Then the **mapping cone** of *f*, denoted by Cone(f), is the normed chain complex defined by

$$\operatorname{Cone}(f)_n := C_{n-1} \oplus D_n,$$

linked by the boundary operator that is given by the matrix

$$\operatorname{Cone}(f)_{n} = C_{n-1} \oplus D_{n}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} -\partial^{\mathsf{C}} & 0 \\ f & \partial^{\mathsf{D}} \end{pmatrix} \downarrow \qquad -\partial^{\mathsf{C}} \downarrow \qquad f \qquad \downarrow \partial^{\mathsf{D}}$$

$$\operatorname{Cone}(f)_{n-1} = C_{n-2} \oplus D_{n-1}.$$

2. Dually, if $f: (D, \delta_D) \longrightarrow (C, \delta_C)$ is a morphism of normed cochain complexes, then the **mapping cone** of *f*, also denoted by Cone(f), is the normed cochain complex defined by

$$\operatorname{Cone}(f)^n := D^{n+1} \oplus C^n$$

with the coboundary operator determined by the matrix

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Cone}(f)^{n} &= D^{n+1} \oplus & C^{n} \\ \begin{pmatrix} -\delta_{D} & 0 \\ f & \delta_{C} \end{pmatrix} & & -\delta_{D} \\ & & -\delta_{D} \end{pmatrix} & & \int f & \int \delta_{C} \\ \operatorname{Cone}(f)^{n+1} &= D^{n+2} \oplus C^{n+1} \end{array}$$

In the first case, we equip the mapping cone with the direct sum of the norms, in the second case, we use the maximum norm. \diamond

Clearly, if f is a morphism of Banach (co)chain complexes, then the mapping cone Cone(f) is also a Banach (co)chain complex.

3.2.1 Mapping cones and homology isomorphisms

The main feature of mapping cones is being able to detect isomorphisms on homology:

- **Lemma (3.10).** 1. Let $f: C \longrightarrow D$ be a morphism of normed chain complexes. Then the induced map $H_*(f): H_*(C) \longrightarrow H_*(D)$ is an isomorphism (of vector spaces) if and only if all homology groups $H_*(Cone(f))$ are zero.
 - 2. Dually, let $f: D \longrightarrow C$ be a morphism of normed cochain complexes. Then the induced map $H^*(f): H^*(D) \longrightarrow H^*(C)$ is an isomorphism if and only if all co-homology groups $H^*(\text{Cone}(f))$ are zero.

In the proof of the lemma, we use the following notation:

Definition (3.11). If *C* is a normed chain complex, the normed chain complex ΣC that is derived from *C* via $(\Sigma C)_n := C_{n-1}$ is called the **suspension of** *C*. For a normed cochain complex *C*, the suspension ΣC is defined by $(\Sigma C)^n := C^{n-1}$.

Proof. The sequence (where the morphisms are given by the obvious inclusion and the negative of the projection) $0 \longrightarrow D \longrightarrow \text{Cone}(f) \longrightarrow \Sigma C \longrightarrow 0$ of

3 Duality

normed chain complexes is exact. Hence, we obtain a long exact sequence in homology (Proposition (1.9)) whose connecting morphism is easily seen to coincide with $H_*(f)$ [7; Proposition 0.6]:

This proves the first part. The second part can be shown in the same way, making use of the long exact cohomology sequence corresponding to the short exact sequence $0 \longrightarrow C \longrightarrow \text{Cone}(f) \longrightarrow \Sigma^{-1}D \longrightarrow 0$ of normed cochain complexes. \Box

Notice that both the lemma and its proof are completely algebraic in nature – we used only the underlying **R**-chain complexes.

3.2.2 Mapping cones of dual morphisms

In order to understand the relation between the induced maps $H_*(f)$ and $H^*(f')$ it remains to relate the mapping cone of f to the one of f'.

Lemma (3.12). Let $f: C \longrightarrow D$ be a morphism of normed chain complexes and let $f': D' \longrightarrow C'$ the induced morphism between the dual complexes. Then there is a natural isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Cone}(f)' \cong \Sigma \operatorname{Cone}(-f')$$

of normed cochain complexes, relating the mapping cones of f and -f'. In particular,

$$H^*(\operatorname{Cone}(f)') \cong H^*(\Sigma \operatorname{Cone}(-f')).$$

Proof. For each $n \in \mathbf{N}$, there is an isomorphism

$$(\operatorname{Cone}(f)')^n = (C_{n-1} \oplus D_n)' \longrightarrow (D_n)' \oplus (C_{n-1})' = \operatorname{Cone}(-f')^{n-1} \varphi \longmapsto (-1)^n \cdot (d \mapsto \varphi(0,d), c \mapsto \varphi(c,0)) (-1)^n \cdot ((c,d) \mapsto \varphi(c) + \psi(d)) \longleftrightarrow (\psi,\varphi)$$

of normed vector spaces. By definition, the coboundary operator of Cone(f)' is given by

$$(C_{n-1} \oplus D_n)' \longrightarrow (C_n \oplus D_{n+1})'$$
$$\varphi \longmapsto \Big((c,d) \mapsto \varphi \big(-\partial^C(c), f(c) + \partial^D(d) \big) \Big),$$

40

3.3 Transferring isomorphisms

which corresponds under the isomorphisms given above to the coboundary operator on $\Sigma \text{Cone}(-f')$. Hence, we obtain an isomorphism $\text{Cone}(f)' \cong \Sigma \text{Cone}(-f')$ of normed cochain complexes.

3.3 Transferring isomorphisms

In this section, we put all the pieces together and complete the proof of the translation mechanism (Theorem (3.1)).

3.3.1 Transferring algebraic isomorphisms

Fusing the properties of mapping cones with the duality principle (Theorem (3.5)) yields a proof of the first part of Theorem (3.1):

Theorem (3.13). Let $f: C \longrightarrow D$ be a morphism of Banach chain complexes. Then the induced homomorphism $H_*(f): H_*(C) \longrightarrow H_*(D)$ is an isomorphism of vector spaces if and only if the induced homomorphism $H^*(f'): H^*(D') \longrightarrow H^*(C')$ is an isomorphism of vector spaces.

Proof. By Lemma (3.10), the induced homomorphism $H_*(f)$ is an isomorphism if and only if $H_*(\text{Cone}(f)) = 0$. In view of the duality principle (Theorem (3.5)) and Lemma (3.12), this is equivalent to

$$0 = H^*(\operatorname{Cone}(f)') \cong H^*(\Sigma \operatorname{Cone}(-f')) = H^{*-1}(\operatorname{Cone}(-f')).$$

(The duality principle is applicable because the cone of a morphism of Banach chain complexes is a Banach chain complex.) On the other hand, the cohomology groups $H^{*-1}(\text{Cone}(-f'))$ are all zero if and only if $H^*(-f'): H^*(D') \longrightarrow H^*(C')$ is an isomorphism (Lemma (3.10)). Moreover, $H^*(f') = -H^*(-f')$, and therefore the claim follows.

3.3.2 Transferring isometric isomorphisms

Similarly, combining the properties of mapping cones with the duality principle for semi-norms (Theorem (3.8)) proves the second part of Theorem (3.1):

3 Duality

Theorem (3.14). Let $f: C \longrightarrow D$ be a morphism of normed chain complexes that induces an isometric isomorphism $H^*(f'): H^*(D') \longrightarrow H^*(C')$ between the cohomology groups of the topological duals. Then also $H_*(f): H_*(C) \longrightarrow H_*(D)$ is isometric.

Proof. That the homomorphism $H_*(f)$ is isometric is a consequence of the duality principle for semi-norms (Theorem (3.8)), namely:

Let $n \in \mathbf{N}$ and let $\alpha \in H_n(C)$. Using the duality principle for semi-norms twice and the fact that $H^*(f')$ is an isometric isomorphism, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| H_n(f)(\alpha) \right\| &= \sup \left\{ \frac{1}{\|\psi\|_{\infty}} \mid \psi \in H^n(D') \text{ and } \langle \psi, H_n(f)(\alpha) \rangle = 1 \right\} \\ &= \sup \left\{ \frac{1}{\|\psi\|_{\infty}} \mid \psi \in H^n(D') \text{ and } \langle H^n(f')(\psi), \alpha \rangle = 1 \right\} \\ &= \sup \left\{ \frac{1}{\|H^n(f')(\psi)\|_{\infty}} \mid \psi \in H^n(D') \text{ and } \langle H^n(f')(\psi), \alpha \rangle = 1 \right\} \\ &= \sup \left\{ \frac{1}{\|\varphi\|_{\infty}} \mid \varphi \in H^n(C') \text{ and } \langle \varphi, \alpha \rangle = 1 \right\} \\ &= \|\alpha\|, \end{split}$$

as desired.

3.4 Comparing comparison maps

In addition to the translation mechanism (Theorem (3.1)), there also exists a link between the cohomological and homological comparison maps, i.e., between the maps measuring the difference between the algebraic and the functional analytic settings.

Proposition (3.15). Let *C* be a normed chain complex, let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $i: C \hookrightarrow \overline{C}$ and $j: C' \hookrightarrow \hom_{\mathbb{R}}(C, \mathbb{R})$ be the canonical inclusions. If the cohomological comparison map $H^n(j): H^n(C') \longrightarrow H^n(\hom_{\mathbb{R}}(C, \mathbb{R}))$ is surjective, then the homological comparison map $H_n(i): H_n(C) \longrightarrow H_n(\overline{C})$ is injective.

Proof. Let $\alpha \in H_n(C) \setminus \{0\}$. Clearly, it suffices to show $||H_n(i)(\alpha)|| \neq 0$.

By the universal coefficient theorem, the Kronecker product induces an isomorphism $H^n(\text{hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(C, \mathbb{R})) \cong \text{hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(H_n(C), \mathbb{R})$. Hence, there is a cohomology

class $\psi \in H^n(\hom_{\mathbf{R}}(C, \mathbf{R}))$ with $\langle \psi, \alpha \rangle = 1$. By assumption, the cohomological comparison map $H^n(j)$ is surjective, i.e., there is a $\varphi \in H^n(C')$ with $H^n(j)(\varphi) = \psi$. In particular,

$$\langle \varphi, H_n(i)(\alpha) \rangle = \langle H^n(j)(\varphi), \alpha \rangle = \langle \psi, \alpha \rangle = 1.$$

Therefore, $\varphi \neq 0$ and we obtain $||H_n(i)(\alpha)|| \neq 0$ from the duality principle for semi-norms (Theorem (3.8)).

However, the converse of this proposition is not true without imposing substantial finiteness conditions as the following example shows.

Example (3.16). There exist normed chain complexes C and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the homological comparison map $H_n(C) \longrightarrow H_n(\overline{C})$ is injective, but the cohomological comparison map $H^n(C') \longrightarrow H^n(\hom_{\mathbb{R}}(C,\mathbb{R}))$ is not surjective:

Let *C* be the Banach chain complex concentrated in degree *n* with $C_n = \ell^1(\mathbf{Z})$. Then $\overline{C} = C$ and hence the homological comparison map $H_n(C) \longrightarrow H_n(\overline{C})$ is injective.

By construction,

$$H^n(C') = B(\ell^1(\mathbf{Z}), \mathbf{R})$$
$$H^n(\hom_{\mathbf{R}}(C, \mathbf{R})) = \hom_{\mathbf{R}}(\ell^1(\mathbf{Z}), \mathbf{R}).$$

Therefore, the cohomological comparison map $H^n(C') \longrightarrow H^n(\hom_{\mathbf{R}}(C, \mathbf{R}))$ cannot be surjective – the space $\ell^1(\mathbf{Z})$ is infinite dimensional.

While it is easy to see (for example, using the Kronecker product) that the image of the cohomological comparison map is always a Banach space [6, 17; p. 60, Corollary 1.12], it is unknown for which normed chain complexes *C* the seminorm on the image of the homological comparison map $H_*(C) \longrightarrow H_*(\overline{C})$ is a norm; a discussion of this issue in the case that *C* is the singular chain complex of a manifold can be found in Section 6.3.1. 3 Duality

4

Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology

45

In this chapter, we apply the translation mechanism established in the previous chapter (Theorem (3.1)) to ℓ^1 -homology, thereby gaining a uniform, lightweight approach to the following results:

- Like bounded cohomology ℓ^1 -homology of a space depends only on the fundamental group (Corollary (4.3)).
- More generally, ℓ^1 -homology of spaces as well as of discrete groups cannot see amenable, normal subgroups (Corollaries (4.2) and (4.12)).
- ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces can be computed via certain projective resolutions (Corollary (4.14)).

In Section 4.4, we present an example application of these results – a "straightening" of chains on the level of ℓ^1 -homology. The motivation for this application is the geometric straightening in the non-positively curved setting. One of the consequences of the ℓ^1 -straightening is a homological proof of the fact that measure homology and singular homology are isometrically isomorphic (Appendix D).

4.1 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of spaces

The translation mechanism (Theorem (3.1)) allows to transfer certain results from bounded cohomology to ℓ^1 -homology. In this section, we present the simplest applications of this type, concerning ℓ^1 -homology of spaces with **R**-coefficients.

4.1.1 The translation mechanism for ℓ^1 -homology of spaces

In the language of ℓ^1 -homology, the translation mechanism reads as follows:

Corollary (4.1). Let $f: (X, A) \longrightarrow (Y, B)$ be a continuous map of pairs of topological spaces.

- 1. The induced homomorphism $H^{\ell^1}_*(f) \colon H^{\ell^1}_*(X,A) \longrightarrow H^{\ell^1}_*(Y,B)$ is an isomorphism if and only if $H^*_b(f) \colon H^*_b(Y,B) \longrightarrow H^*_b(X,A)$ is an isomorphism.
- 2. If $H_b^*(f): H_b^*(Y, B) \longrightarrow H_b^*(X, A)$ is an isometric isomorphism, then $H_*^{\ell^1}(f)$ is also an isometric isomorphism.
- 3. In particular, $H_*^{\ell^1}(X, A)$ vanishes if and only if $H_h^*(X, A)$ vanishes.

Proof. By definition, $C_b^*(X, A) = (C_*^{\ell^1}(X, A))'$ and $C_b^*(Y, B) = (C_*^{\ell^1}(Y, B))'$. The cochain map $C_b^*(f): C_b^*(Y, B) \longrightarrow C_b^*(X, A)$ coincides with $(C_*^{\ell^1}(f))'$. Applying the translation mechanism Theorem (3.1) to $C_*^{\ell^1}(f)$ proves the Corollary.

4.1.2 The mapping theorem in ℓ^1 -homology

For example, Corollary (4.1) yields a new, lightweight proof of the fact that ℓ^1 -homology depends only on the fundamental group (Corollary (4.3)) and that amenable groups are a blind spot of ℓ^1 -homology (Corollary (4.2)). A short introduction to amenable groups is given in Section 2.4.1.

Corollary (4.2) (Mapping theorem for ℓ^1 **-homology).** *Let* $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ *be a continuous map of connected, countable CW-complexes such that* $\pi_1(f): \pi_1(X) \longrightarrow \pi_1(Y)$ *is surjective and has amenable kernel. Then the induced homomorphism*

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(f)\colon H^{\ell^1}_*(X)\longrightarrow H^{\ell^1}_*(Y)$$

is an isometric isomorphism.

4.1 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of spaces

Proof. It is a classic result in the theory of bounded cohomology that in this situation $H_b^*(f) \colon H_b^*(Y) \longrightarrow H_b^*(X)$ is an isometric isomorphism (Theorem (2.26)). Applying Corollary (4.1) completes the proof.

Corollary (4.3). The ℓ^1 -homology of connected, countable CW-complexes depends only on the fundamental group.

Proof. Let *X* be a connected, countable CW-complex. Its fundamental group is countable, and hence there is a model of the classifying space $B\pi_1(X)$ that is a countable, connected CW-complex. Therefore, we can apply the previous corollary.

Bouarich gave the first proof that ℓ^1 -homology depends only on the fundamental group [5; Corollaire 6]. His proof is based on Theorem (3.5), the fact that bounded cohomology of simply connected spaces vanishes, and an ℓ^1 -version of Brown's theorem. Moreover, Park [47; Corollary 4.2] already claimed that Corollary (4.2) holds. However, due to a gap in her argument, her proof is not complete. This issue is addressed in Caveat (4.13) and Caveat (4.15).

Corollary (4.2) also gives a new proof of the following result of Bouarich [5; Corollaire 5]:

Corollary (4.4). Let $p: E \longrightarrow B$ be a fibration of connected, countable CW-complexes with path-connected fibre F. If the fundamental group $\pi_1(F)$ is amenable, then the induced map $H_*^{\ell^1}(p): H_*^{\ell^1}(E) \longrightarrow H_*^{\ell^1}(B)$ is an isometric isomorphism.

Proof. From the portion

$$\cdots \longrightarrow \pi_1(F) \longrightarrow \pi_1(E) \xrightarrow{\pi_1(p)} \pi_1(B) \longrightarrow \pi_0(F) = 0$$

of the long exact sequence associated to the fibration p, we obtain that $\pi_1(p)$ is surjective and that its kernel ker $\pi_1(p)$, as homomorphic image of the amenable group $\pi_1(F)$, must be amenable [48; Proposition 1.12 and 1.13]. Now the result follows from Corollary (4.2).

4.1.3 Amenable subsets and ℓ^1 -homology

Gromov introduced the notion of amenable subsets of spaces [18; p. 40]; amenable subsets serve as a generalisation of sets that are contractible in the ambient space.

4 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology

Definition (4.5). Let *X* be a topological space. A subset $A \subset X$ is called **amenable** if the subgroups im $\pi_1(B \hookrightarrow X) \subset \pi_1(X)$ are amenable for all path-connected components *B* of *A*.

Corollary (4.6) (Amenable subsets and ℓ^1 **-homology).** *Let* X *be a connected, countable CW-complex and suppose that* $A \subset X$ *is an amenable subcomplex with finitely many connected components. Then*

$$\operatorname{im} H_k^{\ell^1}(A \hookrightarrow X) = 0$$

for all $k \in \mathbf{N}_{>0}$.

Proof. Keeping in mind that ℓ^1 -homology is additive with respect to finite disjoint unions (Proposition (2.7)), we can restrict ourselves to the case where *A* is connected.

Killing the kernel of $\pi_1(A \hookrightarrow X)$ by gluing in disks shows that we can find a connected, countable CW-complex \overline{X} containing X and a subcomplex \overline{A} of \overline{X} containing A with the following properties [25; p. 1110]: The group $\pi_1(\overline{A})$ is amenable, the inclusion $X \hookrightarrow \overline{X}$ induces an isomorphism on the level of fundamental groups, and the diagram



of inclusions is commutative. By the mapping theorem (Corollary (4.2)), the right vertical arrow induces an isometric isomorphism on the level of ℓ^1 -homology and $H_k^{\ell^1}(\overline{A}) = 0$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$. Therefore, the corresponding diagram in ℓ^1 -homology shows that im $H_k^{\ell^1}(A \hookrightarrow X) = 0$.

For bounded cohomology, the comparison map in high degree is well understood in the case that the space in question admits an open, amenable covering with controlled multiplicity [18, 25; p. 40, Corollary 6.3]. Probably this is also true for ℓ^1 -homology – for example, one could try to transfer Ivanov's argument to ℓ^1 -homology.

4.1.4 Hyperbolic groups and ℓ^1 -homology

Mineyev showed that hyperbolicity gives rise to large bounded cohomology (Section 2.4.5). A small part of this result can also be formulated in terms of ℓ^1 -homology:

4.2 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups

Corollary (4.7). Let X be an aspherical, countable, connected CW-complex with hyperbolic fundamental group. Then the comparison map $H_k(X) \longrightarrow H_k^{\ell^1}(X)$ is injective for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>2}$.

Proof. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$. By Mineyev's result (Section 2.4.5), the cohomological comparison map $H_b^k(X) \longrightarrow H^k(X)$ is surjective. Therefore, Proposition (3.15) applied to the normed chain complex $C_*(X)$ shows that the homological comparison map $H_k(X) \longrightarrow H_k^{\ell^1}(X)$ is injective. \Box

4.2 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups

Analogously to the previous section, the translation mechanism can also be applied to ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups (Corollary (4.8)). For example, this transforms the characterisation of amenable groups via bounded cohomology into a characterisation in terms of ℓ^1 -homology (Corollary (4.11)). Moreover, we deduce that like bounded cohomology, ℓ^1 -homology ignores amenable normal subgroups (Corollary (4.12)).

4.2.1 The translation mechanism for ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups

Corollary (4.8). Let $\varphi: G \longrightarrow H$ be a homomorphism of discrete groups, let V be a Banach G-module, let W be a Banach H-module and suppose $f: V \longrightarrow \varphi^*W$ is a morphism of Banach G-modules.

- 1. Then the homomorphism $H^{\ell^1}_*(\varphi; f) \colon H^{\ell^1}_*(G; V) \longrightarrow H^{\ell^1}_*(H; W)$ is an isomorphism if and only if $H^*_b(\varphi; f') \colon H^*_b(H; W') \longrightarrow H^*_b(G; V')$ is an isomorphism.
- 2. If $H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(\varphi; f')$ is an isometric isomorphism, then so is $H^{\ell^1}_*(\varphi; f)$.

Proof. By definition (Definition (2.17)), we have

$$egin{aligned} &H^{\ell^1}_*(arphi;f)=H_*ig(p\circ C^{\ell^1}_*(arphi;f)_Gig),\ &C^*_{\mathrm{b}}(arphi;f')=H^*ig(C^*_{\mathrm{b}}(arphi;f')^G\circ iig), \end{aligned}$$

where $p: (\varphi^* C^{\ell^1}_*(H; W))_G \longrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(H; W)_H$ denotes the canonical projection and $i: C^*_b(H; W')^H \longrightarrow (\varphi^* C^*_b(H; W'))^G$ is the inclusion.

4 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology

$$(C_{*}^{\ell^{1}}(H;W)_{H})' \xrightarrow{(1.14)} (C_{*}^{\ell^{1}}(H;W)')^{H} \xrightarrow{(2.14)} C_{b}^{*}(H;W')^{H}$$

$$\downarrow p' \qquad i \downarrow \qquad i$$

Figure (4.9). Linking ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology of discrete groups (proof of Corollary (4.8))

A straightforward calculation shows that the diagram in Figure (4.9) is a commutative diagram of morphisms of Banach chain complexes, where all horizontal morphisms are isometric isomorphisms.

Therefore, applying the translation mechanism (Theorem (3.1)) to the morphism $p \circ C_*^{\ell^1}(\varphi; f)_G$ of Banach chain complexes proves the corollary.

Corollary (4.10). Let G be a discrete group and let V be a Banach G-module. Then $H_*^{\ell^1}(G;V) \cong H_*^{\ell^1}(1;V)$ if and only if $H_b^*(G;V') \cong H_b^*(1;V')$.

4.2.2 Amenable groups and ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups

Corollary (4.8) enables us to carry over many results on bounded cohomology of discrete groups to ℓ^1 -homology. In the following, we present two examples of this kind:

Corollary (4.11) (Characterisation of amenable groups by ℓ^1 **-homology).** *For a discrete group G the following are equivalent:*

- 1. The group G is amenable.
- 2. For all Banach G-modules V, the ℓ^1 -homology $H_*^{\ell^1}(G; V)$ of G with coefficients in V is trivial, i.e., $H_*^{\ell^1}(G; V) \cong H_*^{\ell^1}(1; V)$.

Proof. Amenable groups can be characterised by the vanishing of bounded cohomology with arbitrary (dual) coefficients in non-zero degree [26, 45]. Therefore the claim follows with help of Corollary (4.10). \Box

50

4.2 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups

Corollary (4.12). *Let G be a discrete group, let* $A \subset G$ *be an amenable, normal subgroup and let V be a Banach G-module. Then the projection* $G \longrightarrow G/A$ *induces an isometric isomorphism*

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(G;V) \cong H^{\ell^1}_*(G/A;V_A).$$

Proof. The corresponding homomorphism

$$H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G \twoheadrightarrow G/A; V'^A \hookrightarrow V') \colon H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G/A; V'^A) \longrightarrow H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G; V')$$

is an isometric isomorphism [45, 42; Theorem 1, Corollary 8.5.2] (the case with **R**-coefficients was already treated by Ivanov [25; Section 3.8]). Because the inclusion $V'^A \hookrightarrow V'$ is the dual of the projection $V \longrightarrow V_A$ (which follows from Proposition (1.14)), we can apply Corollary (4.8).

Caveat (4.13). Let *G* be a discrete group and let $A \subset G$ be an amenable normal subgroup.

Ivanov proved that the cochain complex $C_b^*(G/A)$ is a strong relatively injective *G*-resolution of the trivial *G*-module **R** [25; Theorem 3.8.4] by showing that the *G*-morphisms $C_b^*(G/A) \longrightarrow C_b^*(G)$ induced by the projection $G \longrightarrow G/A$ are split injective [25; Lemma 3.8.1 and Corollary 3.8.2].

Analogously, Park claimed that the *G*-morphisms $C_n^{\ell^1}(G) \longrightarrow C_n^{\ell^1}(G/A)$ are split surjective [47; Lemma 2.4 and Lemma 2.5] and concluded that the $C_n^{\ell^1}(G/A)$ are relatively projective *G*-modules. Unfortunately, Park's proof [47; proof of Lemma 2.4] contains an error: the *A*-invariant mean on $B(A, \mathbf{R})$ provided by amenability of *A* in general is *not* σ -additive.

In fact, $C_n^{\ell^1}(G/A)$ in general is *not* a relatively projective *G*-module as the following example shows: Let *G* be an infinite amenable group (e.g., $G = \mathbb{Z}$) and let A := G. Then the *G*-action on G/A = 1 is trivial. However, since *G* is infinite, the *G*-modules $C_n^{\ell^1}(G)$ do not contain any non-zero *G*-invariant elements. Therefore, any *G*-morphism of type $C_n^{\ell^1}(G/A) \longrightarrow C_n^{\ell^1}(G)$ must be trivial. We now consider the mapping problem

$$C_n^{\ell^1}(G/A) = \mathbf{R}$$

$$? \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\text{id}}$$

$$C_n^{\ell^1}(G) \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathbf{R} \longrightarrow 0$$

with the *G*-morphism π given by $g_0 \cdot [g_1 | \dots | g_n] \mapsto 1$, which obviously admits a (non-equivariant) split of norm 1. The argument above shows that this mapping

4 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology

problem cannot have a solution, and hence that $C_n^{\ell^1}(G/A)$ cannot be a relatively projective *G*-module.

This problem also affects several other results of Park, e.g., her proof of the fact that ℓ^1 -homology depends only on the fundamental group [47; Theorem 4.1] and of the equivalence theorem [47; Theorem 3.7 and 4.4].

4.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces via projective resolutions

Finally, we are able to identify ℓ^1 -homology of topological spaces with ℓ^1 -homology of the associated fundamental groups:

Corollary (4.14). Suppose X is a countable, connected CW-complex with fundamental group G, and let V be a Banach G-module.

1. There is a canonical isometric isomorphism

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(X;V) \cong H^{\ell^1}_*(G;V).$$

2. In particular: If C is a strong relatively projective G-resolution of V, then there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H^{\ell^1}_*(X;V) \cong H_*(C_G).$$

3. If C is a strong relatively projective G-resolution of the trivial Banach G-module \mathbf{R} , then there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H_*^{\ell^1}(X;V) \cong H_*((C \otimes V)_G).$$

Therefore, the results of Section 4.2 are also valid for ℓ^1 -homology with twisted coefficients and provide generalisations of the results presented in Section 4.1.

Caveat (4.15). Ivanov proved the corresponding theorem for bounded cohomology with **R**-coefficients [25; Theorem 4.1] by verifying that $C_b^*(\tilde{X})$ is a strong relatively injective resolution of the trivial Banach *G*-module **R** [25; Theorem 2.4].

The proof that the resolution $C_b^*(X)$ is strong relies heavily on the fact that certain chain maps are split injective (see Lemma (B.4)). However, for the same reasons as explained in Caveat (4.13), it is not possible to translate these arguments

4.3 ℓ^1 -Homology of spaces via projective resolutions

into the language of ℓ^1 -chain complexes. Hence, it seems impossible to prove that the chain complex $C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$ is a *strong* resolution. In particular, Park's proof [47; proof of Theorem 4.1] of Corollary (4.14) (with **R**-coefficients) is not complete.

Using the techniques developed in Chapter 3, we can derive Corollary (4.14) from the corresponding result in bounded cohomology (cf. Theorem (2.28), which is proved in Appendix B).

Proof (of Corollary (4.14)). *Ad* 1. In order to prove the first part of Corollary (4.14), we proceed as follows:

- 1. We establish a connection between $C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X}; V)$ and the strong relatively projective resolution $C^{\ell^1}_*(G; V)$.
- 2. The dual of this morphism, when restricted to the invariants, induces an isometric isomorphism on the level of cohomology of the invariants (Theorem (2.28)).
- 3. Finally, we apply the translation mechanism (Theorem (3.1)) to transfer this isometric isomorphism back to ℓ^1 -homology.

First step. Park [47; proof of Theorem 4.1] constructed the following map ("predually" to Ivanov's construction [25; proof of Theorem 4.1]):

Let $F \subset X$ be a (set-theoretic) fundamental domain of the *G*-action on X. In the following, the vertices of the standard *n*-simplex Δ^n are denoted by v_0, \ldots, v_n . For a singular simplex $\sigma \in \text{map}(\Delta^n, \tilde{X})$ let $g_0(\sigma), \ldots, g_n(\sigma) \in G$ be the group elements characterised uniquely by

$$g_0(\sigma)^{-1} \cdot \sigma(v_0) \in F$$
$$g_1(\sigma)^{-1} \cdot g_0(\sigma)^{-1} \cdot \sigma(v_1) \in F$$
$$\vdots$$
$$g_n(\sigma)^{-1} \cdots g_1(\sigma)^{-1} \cdot g_0(\sigma)^{-1} \cdot \sigma(v_n) \in F.$$

Then the map $\eta \colon C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(G)$ given by

$$C_n^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow C_n^{\ell^1}(G)$$

$$\sigma \longmapsto g_0(\sigma) \cdot \left[g_1(\sigma) \big| \dots \big| g_n(\sigma)\right]$$

is a morphism of Banach G-chain complexes. Hence,

$$\eta_V := \eta \,\overline{\otimes} \, \mathrm{id}_V \colon C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X}; V) \longrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(G; V)$$

is also a morphism of Banach G-chain complexes.

4 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology

Let $(\eta_V)_G \colon C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X}; V)_G \longrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(G; V)_G$ denote the morphism of Banach chain complexes induced by η_V . We show now that a different choice of fundamental domain $F^* \subset \widetilde{X}$ leads to a map chain homotopic to $(\eta_V)_G$:

Homological algebra shows that there is up to *G*-homotopy only one *G*-morphism $C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(G)$ (Proposition (A.7)); in fact, $C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$ is a Banach *G*-chain complex consisting of relatively projective *G*-modules [47; p. 611] and $C_*^{\ell^1}(G)$ is a strong relatively projective resolution of **R** (Proposition (2.19)). But η and η^* , the map obtained via F^* , are such *G*-morphisms and hence are *G*-homotopic. Therefore, also $\eta \otimes id_V$ and $\eta^*_V := \eta^* \otimes id_V$ must be *G*-homotopic, which implies that the induced maps $(\eta_V)_G$ and $(\eta^*_V)_G$ are homotopic. In particular,

$$H_*((\eta_V)_G): H_*(C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X};V)_G) \longrightarrow H_*(C_*^{\ell^1}(G;V)_G)$$

does not depend on the choice of fundamental domain.

Second step. The dual of the *G*-morphism η_V coincides under the natural isometric isomorphisms $(C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}; V))' \cong C_b^*(\widetilde{X}; V')$ and $(C_*^{\ell^1}(G; V))' \cong C_b^*(G; V')$ of Banach *G*-cochain complexes (Remarks (1.13) and (2.14)) with $\vartheta_{V'} \colon C_b^*(G; V') \longrightarrow C_b^*(\widetilde{X}; V')$, the morphism of Banach *G*-cochain complexes given by

$$C^{n}_{b}(G;V') \longrightarrow C^{n}_{b}(\tilde{X};V')$$

$$f \longmapsto \left(\sigma \mapsto f(g_{0}(\sigma),\ldots,g_{n}(\sigma))\right).$$
(4.16)

In other words, the diagram

$$\begin{pmatrix} C_*^{\ell^1}(G;V) \end{pmatrix}' \xrightarrow{(\eta_V)'} \begin{pmatrix} C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X};V) \end{pmatrix}' (2.14) \\ C_b^*(G;V') \xrightarrow{\vartheta_{v'}} C_b^*(\widetilde{X};V')$$

is commutative. Taking *G*-invariants of this diagram yields the commutative diagram of morphisms of Banach cochain complexes in Figure (4.17).

The restriction $(\vartheta_{V'})^G$ to the subcomplexes of *G*-invariants induces an isometric isomorphism on the level of cohomology (Theorem (2.28)/Theorem (B.1)). Hence, also the top row of the diagram (i.e, $(\eta_V)_G'$) must induce an isometric isomorphism on the level of cohomology.

Third step. Therefore, we can derive from the translation mechanism (Theorem (3.1)) that

$$(\eta_V)_G \colon C^{\ell^1}_*(X;V) = C^{\ell^1}_*(\widetilde{X};V)_G \longrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(G;V)_G$$

4.4 Example application - a generalised straightening



Figure (4.17). Relating η_V and $\vartheta_{V'}$

induces a (canonical) isometric isomorphism on the level of homology. This finishes the proof of the first part.

Ad 2. and 3. These statements follow from the first part combined with the corresponding results on ℓ^1 -homology of discrete groups (Theorem (2.18)).

4.4 Example application – a generalised straightening

For manifolds of non-positive sectional curvature, the existence of unique geodesics on the universal covering shows that the singular chain complex can be replaced by the chain complex of so-called straight simplices (Proposition (4.20)). Straight simplices in this context are defined as projections of geodesic simplices on the universal covering.

Based on ℓ^1 -homology, we exhibit a generalised straightening that is valid for all countable, connected CW-complexes (Theorem (4.21)).

As first step, we define straight simplices for general spaces, starting with the notationally more transparent case of universal coverings. Geodesic simplices on the universal covering of a manifold with non-positive sectional curvature depend only the set of vertices, leading to the following definition:

Definition (4.18). Let *X* be a connected space with fundamental group *G* that admits a universal covering $\widetilde{X} \longrightarrow X$.

- 4 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology
 - 1. The real vector space $\mathbf{R}[\widetilde{X}^{n+1}]$, i.e., the **R**-vector space with basis \widetilde{X}^{n+1} , with the obvious ℓ^1 -norm carries an isometric *G*-action given by the diagonal action of *G* on \widetilde{X}^{n+1} .
 - 2. The **straight chain complex** of \widetilde{X} is the normed *G*-chain complex $S_*(\widetilde{X})$ defined by

$$S_n(X) := \mathbf{R}[\widetilde{X}^{n+1}]$$

together with the ℓ^1 -norm and the boundary operator given by

$$S_n(\widehat{X}) \longrightarrow S_{n-1}(\widehat{X})$$
$$(x_0, \dots, x_n) \longmapsto \sum_{j=0}^n (-1)^j \cdot (x_0, \dots, \widehat{x}_j, \dots, x_n).$$

3. Moreover, we define the **straightening map** $S_{\widetilde{X}} \colon C_*(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow S_*(\widetilde{X})$ via

$$C_n(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow S_n(\widetilde{X})$$

$$\sigma \longmapsto (\sigma(v_0), \dots, \sigma(v_n)),$$

 \Diamond

where v_0, \ldots, v_n are the vertices of the standard *n*-simplex Δ^n .

Clearly, the straightening $s_{\tilde{X}}$ is a well-defined chain map, which is bounded in each degree and which is compatible with the respective *G*-actions. I.e., $s_{\tilde{X}}$ is a morphism of normed *G*-chain complexes. In order to obtain a straightening not only for the universal covering \tilde{X} but also for the space *X* itself, we pass to the coinvariants:

Definition (4.19). Let *X* be a connected, topological space that admits a universal covering $\widetilde{X} \longrightarrow X$. Let *G* be the fundamental group of *X*.

1. The **straight chain complex** of *X* is the normed chain complex defined by

$$S_*(X) := S_*(X)_G.$$

- 2. The **straight** ℓ^1 -chain complex of *X*, denoted by $S_*^{\ell^1}(X)$, is the completion of the normed chain complex $S_*(X)$.
- 3. The **straightening** and ℓ^1 -straightening of X respectively are given by

$$s_X := (s_{\widetilde{X}})_G \colon C_*(X) = C_*(X)_G \longrightarrow S_*(X),$$

$$\overline{s}_X := (\overline{s_{\widetilde{X}}})_G \colon C_*^{\ell^1}(X) = C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})_G \longrightarrow S_*^{\ell^1}(X),$$

where $\overline{s_{\widetilde{X}}}$ denotes the extension of the morphism $s_{\widetilde{X}} \colon C_*(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow S_*(\widetilde{X})$ of normed chain complexes to the respective completions. \diamond
4.4 Example application - a generalised straightening

For the universal covering \tilde{X} this "new" definition of the straight chain complex and the straightening map coincides with the first definition.

Proposition (4.20) (Straightening in the non-positively curved case). Let M be a connected, Riemannian manifold with non-positive sectional curvature. Then straightening $s_M: C_*(M) \longrightarrow S_*(M)$ induces an isometric isomorphism

$$H_*(s_M): H_*(M) \longrightarrow H_*(S_*(M)).$$

If *M* is a Riemannian manifold with non-positive sectional curvature, any two points in the Riemannian universal covering \widetilde{M} of *M* are connected by precisely one geodesic (up to parametrisation). In particular, it makes sense to speak of convex combinations of points in \widetilde{M} . A singular *n*-simplex σ of \widetilde{M} is called *geodesic* if there exist $(m_0, \ldots, m_n) \in \widetilde{M}^{n+1}$ such that σ is of the form

$$\Delta^n \longrightarrow M$$
$$(t_0, \dots, t_n) \longmapsto \sum_{j=0}^n t_j \cdot m_j.$$

Proof (of Proposition (4.20)). For brevity, we write $G := \pi_1(M)$. Because M is nonpositively curved, for each (n + 1)-tuple (m_0, \ldots, m_n) of points in the universal covering \widetilde{M} , there exists exactly one geodesic n-simplex $\Delta^n \longrightarrow \widetilde{M}$ whose vertices are m_0, \ldots, m_n . Therefore, the chain complex $S_*(\widetilde{M})$ is isometrically G-isomorphic to the subcomplex $C^g_*(\widetilde{M})$ of $C_*(\widetilde{M})$ generated by all geodesic simplices.

Furthermore, the geometry of \hat{M} allows to find an explicit *G*-homotopy between the identity and the morphism

$$C_*(\widetilde{M}) \xrightarrow{\circ_M} S_*(\widetilde{M}) \longrightarrow C^{\mathsf{g}}_*(\widetilde{M}) \longrightarrow C_*(\widetilde{M})$$

of Banach *G*-chain complexes [50; Lemma 2 on p. 531]. Clearly, this equivariant chain homotopy descends to a chain homotopy on *M* and thus $H_*(s_M)$ is an isomorphism.

The isomorphism $H_*(s_M)$ is even isometric because both $s_{\widetilde{M}}$ and the composition $S_*(\widetilde{M}) \longrightarrow C^g_*(\widetilde{M}) \longrightarrow C_*(\widetilde{M})$ are norm-decreasing.

Of course, in general, the geometry and topology of the universal covering is much more complicated and the corresponding statement would be false. However, if we look at the completion of the chain complexes, i.e., if we step into the ℓ^1 -world, then straightening induces an isometric isomorphism on the level of homology: 4 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology

Theorem (4.21) (ℓ^1 -Straightening). Let X be a countable, connected CW-complex. Then straightening $\bar{s}_X \colon C^{\ell^1}_*(X) \longrightarrow S^{\ell^1}_*(X)$ induces an isometric isomorphism

$$H_*(\bar{s}_X)\colon H^{\ell^1}_*(X)\longrightarrow H_*(S^{\ell^1}_*(X)).$$

Proof. One can show that $S_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$, with the augmentation $S_0^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ given by adding up the coefficients, is a strong relatively projective *G*-resolution of the trivial *G*-module **R**. This is similar to the proof that $C_*^{\ell^1}(G)$ is a strong relatively projective resolution of **R** (Proposition (2.19)):

Namely, the Banach *G*-modules $S_n^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$ are relatively projective because they are ℓ^1 -completions of free **R***G*-modules [47; Lemma 2.1]. For the chain contraction, we choose a point $p \in \widetilde{X}$ and define

$$k_n \colon S_n^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow S_{n+1}^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$$

$$(x_0, \dots, x_n) \longmapsto (-1)^{n+1} \cdot (p, x_0, \dots, x_n),$$

as well as

$$k_{-1} \colon \mathbf{R} \longrightarrow S_0^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$$
$$1 \longmapsto 1 \cdot p.$$

It is not difficult to see that $(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq -1}}$ indeed is a chain contraction of $S_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$ (concatenated with the augmentation) of norm at most 1. Hence, $S_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$ is a strong relatively projective *G*-resolution of **R**.

Therefore, the fundamental lemma of homological algebra (Proposition (A.7)) implies that $\bar{s}_{\tilde{X}}$ is a *G*-chain homotopy equivalence and hence that $\bar{s}_X = (\bar{s}_{\tilde{X}})_G$ is a chain homotopy equivalence. In particular, $H_*(\bar{s}_X)$ is an isomorphism.

It remains to show that this isomorphism is isometric: By construction, the canonical morphism $\eta: C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(G)$ of Banach *G*-chain complexes (introduced in the proof of Corollary (4.14)) factorises over the straight ℓ^1 -chain complex:



Moreover, both diagonal arrows are of norm at most 1. Because $H_*(\eta_G)$ is an isometric isomorphism (Corollary (4.14)), we deduce that the isomorphism $H_*(\bar{s}_X) = H_*((\bar{s}_{\tilde{X}})_G)$ is isometric.

4.4 Example application – a generalised straightening

An important aspect of the abstract straightening as described above is that it allows to get control of the semi-norm in measure homology (see Appendix D). Measure homology in turn is the foundation for Thurston's smearing technique, which is a useful tool in the study of simplicial volume.

Remark (4.22). If *M* is a Riemannian manifold with non-positive sectional curvature and if $N \subset M$ is a convex subset, then also the corresponding relative version of Proposition (4.20) holds. Here, the subset *N* is said to be convex if all connected components of its preimage in \widetilde{M} under the universal covering map are convex.

It is not entirely clear whether the same holds for the generalised straightening in Theorem (4.21); namely, it is difficult to check whether the cochain contractions of $C_{\rm b}^n(\widetilde{X})$ can be chosen to be natural with respect to inclusion maps.

59

4 Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology

60

5

Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology

The simplicial volume of oriented (not necessarily compact) manifolds is a proper homotopy invariant measuring the complexity of (generalised) triangulations, i.e., the complexity of the fundamental class in locally finite homology with respect to the ℓ^1 -semi-norm.

Gromov introduced the simplicial volume in order to give an alternative proof of Mostow rigidity. Subsequently, in his seminal paper *Volume and bounded cohomology* even more relations, such as the volume estimate, between simplicial volume and Riemannian geometry are uncovered.

On the other hand, the simplicial volume is accessible by powerful algebraic tools – both ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology compute the simplicial volume.

Before giving the precise definition of simplicial volume in Section 5.2, we first recapitulate locally finite homology and the local characterisation of fundamental cycles (Section 5.1). Section 5.3 contains the description of simplicial volume in terms of ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology. Finally, in Section 5.4 properties of the simplicial volume are collected.

A closer investigation of the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds is performed in Chapter 6.

5.1 Fundamental cycles of manifolds

In this section, we recall the definition of fundamental cycles of oriented manifolds, which serve as an easier to handle replacement of triangulations, as well as their local characterisation (Theorem (5.4)). Since fundamental cycles of noncompact manifolds live in locally finite homology, we first give a short introduction into locally finite homology and its contravariant companion – cohomology with compact supports.

5.1.1 Locally finite homology

By definition, the singular chain complex contains only finite chains. On the other hand, triangulations of non-compact manifolds need not be finite. Therefore, some questions on non-compact manifolds force to allow certain infinite chains, leading to locally finite homology. Similarly, singular cohomology needs to be replaced by cohomology with compact supports:

Definition (5.1). Let *X* be a topological space and let $k \in \mathbf{N}$.

- 1. We write C(X) for the set of all compact, connected, non-empty subsets of *X*.
- A set A ⊂ map(Δ^k, X) is called **locally finite** if any compact subset of X intersects the image of only finitely many elements of A. The set of all locally finite subsets of map(Δ^k, X) is denoted by S^{lf}_k(X).
- 3. The **locally finite chain complex** of *X* is the chain complex $C_*^{lf}(X)$ consisting of the vector spaces

$$C_{k}^{\mathrm{lf}}(X) := \left\{ \sum_{\sigma \in A} a_{\sigma} \cdot \sigma \mid A \in S_{k}^{\mathrm{lf}}(X) \text{ and } (a_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in A} \subset \mathbf{R} \right\}$$

of (formal, possibly infinite) sums equipped with the boundary operator given by the alternating sums of the (k - 1)-faces.

- 4. The homology $H_*^{\text{lf}}(X)$ of the locally finite chain complex is called **locally** finite homology of *X*.
- 62

5.1 Fundamental cycles of manifolds



Figure (5.2). Restriction of chains; the shaded part is the restriction $c|_K$ of c (Definition (5.3))

- 5. A cochain $f \in C^k(X)$ has **compact support** if there exists a compact subset K in X such that $f(\sigma) = 0$ holds whenever $\sigma \in map(\Delta^k, X \setminus K)$. The **cochain complex with compact supports** of X is the subcomplex $C^*_{cs}(X)$ of $C^*(X)$ of cochains with compact support.
- 6. The **cohomology with compact supports** of *X*, denoted by $H^*_{cs}(X)$, is the cohomology of $C^*_{cs}(X)$.

By definition, for compact spaces singular homology and locally finite homology coincide. Dually, in this case also singular cohomology and cohomology with compact supports are equal.

Notice that we can evaluate cochains with compact support on locally finite chains, and this evaluation descends to (co)homology.

Algebraically, the locally finite chain complex of X can also be expressed as the inverse limit

$$C^{\mathrm{lf}}_{*}(X) = \varprojlim_{K \in C(X)} C_{*}(X, X \setminus K),$$

where the set C(X) is directed by inclusion. For $K, L \in C(X)$ with $L \subset K$ the structure map $C_*(X, X \setminus K) \longrightarrow C_*(X, X \setminus L)$ is the one induced by the inclusion $(X, X \setminus K) \longrightarrow (X, X \setminus L)$. Dually,

$$C^*_{\mathrm{cs}}(X) = \operatorname{colim}_{K \in C(X)} C^*(X, X \setminus K).$$

Definition (5.3). Let *X* be a topological space, let $k \in \mathbf{N}$, and let $K \in C(X)$. The **restriction** of a chain $c = \sum_{\sigma \in A} a_{\sigma} \cdot \sigma \in C_k^{\text{lf}}(X)$ to the subspace *K* is defined as

$$c|_{K} := \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in A, \\ \sigma(\Delta^{k}) \cap K \neq \emptyset}} a_{\sigma} \cdot \sigma \in C_{k}(X).$$

5 Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology

Restriction of chains is illustrated in Figure (5.2). Clearly, $\cdot|_K$ gives rise to a chain map $\cdot|_K: C^{\text{lf}}_*(X) \longrightarrow C_*(X, X \setminus K)$ and hence to a homomorphism

$$\cdot |_{K} \colon H^{\mathrm{lf}}_{*}(X) \longrightarrow H_{*}(X, X \setminus K).$$

If $L \in C(X)$ with $L \subset K$, then the restrictions $\cdot|_K$ and $\cdot|_L$ are compatible with the inclusion $i_L^K \colon C_*(X, X \setminus K) \longrightarrow C_*(X, X \setminus L)$, i.e., $\cdot|_L = i_L^K \circ \cdot|_K$. For example, the natural map $C_*^{\text{lf}}(X) \longrightarrow \varprojlim_{K \in C(M)} C_*(X, X \setminus K)$ is given by the restriction maps.

5.1.2 Homology of manifolds in the top dimension

The top-dimensional (locally finite) homology with **R**-coefficients of oriented, connected manifolds is one-dimensional and contains a distinguished generator, the so-called fundamental class. Moreover, this generator can be described "locally," i.e., by restrictions to small sets:

Theorem (5.4) (Fundamental classes of manifolds).

1. Let *M* be an oriented, connected *n*-manifold without boundary and let $K \in C(M)$. *Then*

 $H_n(M, M \setminus K) \cong \mathbf{R},$

and there is a unique generator $[M, M \setminus K]$ with the following property: For all points $x \in K$, the restriction $[M, M \setminus K]|_{\{x\}} \in H_n(M, M \setminus \{x\})$ coincides (under change of coefficients) with the image of the generator of $H_n(M, M \setminus \{x\}; \mathbb{Z})$ given by the (homological) orientation of M. In particular, if $L \in C(M)$ with $L \subset K$, then the restriction homomorphism

$$\cdot |_L \colon H_n(M, M \setminus K) \longrightarrow H_n(M, M \setminus L)$$

is an isomorphism mapping $[M, M \setminus K]$ *to* $[M, M \setminus L]$ *.*

2. Let *M* be an oriented, connected *n*-manifold without boundary. Then $H_n^{\text{lf}}(M) \cong \mathbf{R}$ and there is a unique class $[M] \in H_n^{\text{lf}}(M)$ such that

$$[M]|_{K} = [M, M \setminus K] \in H_{n}(M, M \setminus K)$$

holds for all $K \in C(M)$.

3. Let $(M, \partial M)$ be an oriented, compact, connected *n*-manifold with boundary ∂M . Then $H_n(M, \partial M) \cong \mathbf{R}$ and there is a unique class $[M, \partial M] \in H_n(M, \partial M)$ such that

$$[M, \partial M]|_{K} = [M^{\circ}, M^{\circ} \setminus K] \in H_{n}(M^{\circ}, M^{\circ} \setminus K) \cong H_{n}(M, M \setminus K)$$

5.1 Fundamental cycles of manifolds

holds for all $K \in C(M^{\circ})$ *. Furthermore,*

$$\partial[M,\partial M] = \sum_{N\in\pi_0(\partial M)} [N] \in H_{n-1}(\partial M).$$

Proof. Almost any textbook on algebraic topology contains a proof of the first and the third part [36; Chapter XIV].

For the second part, we use the description of $C_*^{\text{lf}}(M)$ as inverse limit. Clearly, the directed system $(C_*(M, M \setminus K))_{K \in C(M)}$ satisfies the Mittag-Leffler condition. Moreover, $H_{n+1}(M, M \setminus K) = 0$ for all $K \in C(M)$ [36; Lemma XIV.2.3]. Therefore, the lim¹-term vanishes and we obtain [59; Theorem 3.5.8]

$$H_n^{\mathrm{lf}}(M) \cong \varprojlim_{K \in C(M)} H_n(M, M \setminus K).$$

In view of the first part, it follows that $H_n^{\text{lf}}(M) \cong \mathbf{R}$ and that there exists a unique class $[M] \in H_n^{\text{lf}}(M)$ with the desired properties.

Definition (5.5). The classes $[M, M \setminus K]$, [M], and $[M, \partial M]$ in Theorem (5.4) are called **fundamental classes** of the respective objects. Cycles representing such a class are called **fundamental cycles**.

For example, any triangulation of a manifold gives rise to a fundamental cycle – i.e., fundamental cycles can be viewed as generalised triangulations. But the concept of fundamental cycles is much more flexible, especially when considering homology with **R**-coefficients:

Example (5.6). For each $d \in \mathbf{N}_{>0}$, the chain $1/d \cdot \sigma_d$ is a fundamental cycle of the circle S^1 , where $\sigma_d : [0, 1] \longrightarrow S^1$ is given by $\sigma_d(t) := e^{2\pi i \cdot d \cdot t}$.

Dually, there are also cohomological versions of the fundamental class:

Corollary (5.7) (Cohomological fundamental classes of manifolds). In the corresponding situations of Theorem (5.4) there are cohomology classes $[M, M \setminus K]^* \in H^n(M, M \setminus K) \cong \mathbf{R}$, $[M]^* \in H^n_{cs}(M) \cong \mathbf{R}$, and $[M, \partial M]^* \in H^n(M, \partial M) \cong \mathbf{R}$ uniquely determined by the relations

$$ig \langle [M, M \setminus K]^*, [M, M \setminus K] ig
angle = 1, \ \langle [M]^*, [M] ig
angle = 1, \ \langle [M, \partial M]^*, [M, \partial M] ig
angle = 1.$$

5 Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology

Proof. The compact case follows from Theorem (5.4) by means of the universal coefficient theorem. For the non-compact case, it suffices to note that (because the set C(M) is directed by inclusion [55; p. 162])

$$H_{\mathrm{cs}}^{n}(M) = H^{n}\left(\operatorname{colim}_{K \in C(M)} C^{*}(M, M \setminus K)\right) \cong \operatorname{colim}_{K \in C(M)} H^{n}(M, M \setminus K)$$

and $H_n^{\text{lf}}(M) \cong \lim_{K \in C(M)} H_n(M, M \setminus K)$ (proof of Theorem (5.4)).

Definition (5.8). The classes $[M, M \setminus K]^*$, $[M]^*$, and $[M, \partial M]^*$ in Corollary (5.7) are called **cohomological fundamental classes** of the respective objects and all cocycles representing such a class are called **fundamental cocycles**.

Theorem (5.4) can easily be generalised to cover also the case of non-connected manifolds (which naturally occur as boundaries of compact manifolds). Hence, we can also speak of fundamental (co)cycles and (cohomological) fundamental classes of oriented, non-connected manifolds.

5.2 Definition of simplicial volume

The simplicial volume of oriented manifolds is a proper homotopy invariant measuring the complexity of (generalised) triangulations, i.e., the complexity of the fundamental class with respect to the ℓ^1 -semi-norm.

We start with the compact case (Section 5.2.1) and then consider one possible generalisation to the non-compact case (Section 5.2.2).

5.2.1 The compact case

As already indicated, the simplicial volume is defined as the evaluation of the ℓ^1 -semi-norm on the fundamental class [18; p. 8]:

Definition (5.9). Let $(M, \partial M)$ be an oriented, closed, connected *n*-manifold with boundary ∂M . The **simplicial volume** of $(M, \partial M)$ is given by

$$||M, \partial M|| := ||[M, \partial M]||_1$$

= inf { ||*c*||₁ | *c* ∈ *C_n*(*M*) is a relative fundamental cycle of (*M*, ∂*M*) }
∈ [0, ∞). ♢

The term "relative fundamental cycle in $C_n(M)$ " refers to a chain that under the projection $C_n(M) \longrightarrow C_n(M, \partial M)$ is mapped to a fundamental cycle of $(M, \partial M)$.

The definition of simplicial volume can easily be generalised to cover also nonconnected manifolds (by taking the sum of the simplicial volumes of the connected components) and non-orientable manifolds (by dividing the simplicial volume of the orientation covering by 2).

Example (5.10). A simple, yet instructive, example is to compute the simplicial volume of S^1 : For each $d \in \mathbf{N}_{>0}$, there is a fundamental cycle $1/d \cdot \sigma_d \in C_1(S^1)$, where σ_d is a singular simplex on the circle (cf. Example (5.6)). Therefore, we obtain $||S^1|| \le 1/d$ for all $d \in \mathbf{N}_{>0}$ and hence $||S^1|| = 0$. The same type of argument shows that the simplicial volume of all spheres and tori (of non-zero dimension) equals zero.

A more extensive collection of examples and properties of simplicial volume is given in Section 5.4.

5.2.2 The non-compact case

Clearly, also the chain complex $C_*^{\text{lf}}(X)$ of locally finite singular chains of a topological space becomes a "normed" chain complex with respect to the ℓ^1 -norm; the reason we put quotation marks here is that the ℓ^1 -norm of locally finite chain complexes is not necessarily finite.

In particular, we obtain a notion of simplicial volume for non-compact manifolds [18; p. 8], which in the compact case coincides with the one defined in Section 5.2.1:

Definition (5.11). Let *M* be a connected *n*-manifold without boundary. The **simplicial volume** of *M* is defined as

$$\begin{split} \|M\| &:= \|[M]\|_1 \\ &= \inf \left\{ \|c\|_1 \mid c \in C_n^{\text{lf}}(M) \text{ is a fundamental cycle of } M \right\} \\ &\in [0,\infty]. \end{split}$$

The tamest examples of non-compact manifolds are manifolds that are the interior of a compact manifold with boundary. The simplicial volume of such manifolds is related to the simplicial volume of the ambient compact manifold as follows: 5 Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology

Proposition (5.12). Let $(W, \partial W)$ be an oriented, compact, connected manifold with boundary and let $M := W^{\circ}$. Then

$$\|M\| \geq \|W, \partial W\|.$$

Proof. Because *M* is homeomorphic to $M' := W \cup_{\partial W} \partial W \times [0, \infty)$ [14, 8], it suffices to show that $||M'|| \ge ||W, \partial W||$.

Let $c' \in C_n^{\text{lf}}(M')$ be a locally finite fundamental cycle of M'. Pushing the restriction $c'|_W$ via the obvious projection $M' \longrightarrow W$ to W yields a chain $c \in C_n(W)$ with $\partial c \in C_{n-1}(\partial W)$. Because c and c' coincide on W° , it follows from the local characterisation of fundamental cycles (Theorem (5.4)) that c is a relative fundamental cycle of $(W, \partial W)$.

By construction, $\|c\|_1 \le \|c'\|_1$, which implies $\|M\| = \|M'\| \ge \|W, \partial W\|$.

In general, this inequality is a strict inequality – namely, the simplicial volume of the interior might be infinite, whereas the relative simplicial volume of the compactification is always finite. In Chapter 6, we present a necessary and sufficient finiteness criterion for such interiors and investigate some examples of simplicial volumes of such manifolds (Section 6.4).

5.3 Computing simplicial volume

Both ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology provide a convenient setting for computing the simplicial volume in a systematic way. We first look at the compact case and, in a second step, discuss the corresponding generalisations for the noncompact case. Because ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology are homotopy invariants, but the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds is only invariant under proper homotopy equivalences, the latter case is more involved.

In both cases, we first present the homological approach and then the cohomological one because – especially in the non-compact case – the connection with ℓ^1 -homology is much more transparent.

5.3.1 The compact case – homological approach

Using the comparison map from singular homology to ℓ^1 -homology, we can express the simplicial volume in terms of ℓ^1 -homology:

Proposition (5.13). Let $(M, \partial M)$ be an oriented, compact, connected *n*-manifold with boundary. Then

$$\|M,\partial M\| = \|H_n(i_{M,\partial M})([M,\partial M])\|_1,$$

where $i_{M,\partial M}$: $C_*(M,\partial M) \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(M,\partial M)$ is the canonical inclusion.

Proof. This is a special case of Proposition (2.5).

Hence, if *M* is closed and connected, then information on ℓ^1 -homology of the fundamental group $\pi_1(M)$ transforms into computations of the simplicial volume of *M*, which is particularly suited for vanishing results:

Corollary (5.14). Let M be an oriented, closed, connected n-manifold with classifying map $f: M \longrightarrow B\pi_1(M)$. Then

$$\|M\| = \|H_n^{\ell_1}(f) (H_n(i_M)([M]))\|_1$$

= $\|H_n (f)([M])\|_1.$

In particular, if $H_n^{\ell^1}(\pi_1(M)) = 0$ *, then* ||M|| = 0*.*

Proof. By the mapping theorem for ℓ^1 -homology (Corollary (4.2)), the induced homomorphism $H_*^{\ell^1}(f) : H_*^{\ell^1}(M) \longrightarrow H_*^{\ell^1}(B\pi_1(M))$ is an isometric isomorphism. Therefore, the first equality follows from Proposition (5.13). The second one can be derived from the first one by applying Proposition (2.5) to the classifying space $B\pi_1(M)$.

Furthermore, $H_*^{\ell^1}(\pi_1(M)) \cong H_*^{\ell^1}(B\pi_1(M))$ (Corollary (4.14)), which implies the last statement.

The first proof of the second equality of Corollary (5.14) was originally given by Gromov [18; Corollary B on p. 40], using bounded cohomology.

5.3.2 The compact case – cohomological approach

The duality principle for semi-norms translates the ℓ^1 -homological description of simplicial volume (Proposition (5.13)) into one in terms of bounded cohomology (Proposition (5.15)). Historically, this cohomological interpretation was the first algebraic approach to simplicial volume [18; p. 17].

5 Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology

Proposition (5.15) (Duality principle for compact manifolds). *Let* $(M, \partial M)$ *be an oriented, compact, connected n-manifold with boundary. Then*

$$\|M,\partial M\| = \sup\left\{\frac{1}{\|\varphi\|_{\infty}} \mid \varphi \in H^n_{\mathsf{b}}(M,\partial M), \ \langle \varphi, [M,\partial M] \rangle = 1\right\} = \frac{1}{\left\|[M,\partial M]^*\right\|_{\infty}}.$$

Here, sup $\emptyset := 0$.

Because not all fundamental cocycles are bounded, the value $||[M, \partial M]^*||_{\infty}$ can be infinite; in this case, we use the convention $1/\infty = 0$.

Proof. The first equality follows from the duality principle for semi-norms (Theorem (3.8)). The second equality is easily derived from the fact that

$$\|[M,\partial M]^*\|_{\infty} = \inf\{\|\varphi\|_{\infty} \mid \varphi \in H^n_b(M), H^n(j_M)(\varphi) = [M,\partial M]^*\},\$$

where $j_M : C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(M, \partial M) \longrightarrow C^*(M, \partial M)$ is the inclusion.

5.3.3 The non-compact case – homological approach

Analogously to the compact case (Proposition (5.13)), also the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds can be expressed with help of ℓ^1 -homology.

Definition (5.16). Let *M* be an oriented, connected *n*-manifold without boundary. We write $[M]^{\ell^1} \subset H_n^{\ell^1}(M)$ for the set of all homology classes that are represented by at least one locally finite fundamental cycle (with finite ℓ^1 -norm).

If *M* is compact, then the set $[M]^{\ell^1}$ contains exactly one element, namely the class $H_n(i_M)([M])$. However, if *M* is non-compact the set $[M]^{\ell^1}$ may be empty (this happens if and only if $||M|| = \infty$) or consist of more than one element.

Proposition (5.17). If M is an oriented, connected n-manifold without boundary, then

$$||M|| = \inf\{||\alpha||_1 \mid \alpha \in [M]^{\ell^1} \subset H_n^{\ell^1}(M)\}.$$

Here, inf $\emptyset := \infty$.

Proof. Let $i: C^{\mathrm{lf}}_*(M) \cap C^{\ell^1}_*(M) \hookrightarrow C^{\mathrm{lf}}_*(M)$ and $j: C^{\mathrm{lf}}_*(M) \cap C^{\ell^1}_*(M) \hookrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(M)$ denote the inclusions. By definition,

$$||M|| = \inf\{||\alpha||_1 \mid \alpha \in H_*(i)^{-1}([M])\} = \inf\{||\alpha||_1 \mid \alpha \in H_*(j)^{-1}([M]^{\ell^1})\}.$$

70

5.3 Computing simplicial volume

The sequence

$$C_*(M) \hookrightarrow C^{\mathrm{lf}}_*(M) \cap C^{\ell^1}_*(M) \hookrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(M)$$

of inclusions of normed chain complexes shows that the middle complex is a dense subcomplex of the ℓ^1 -chain complex $C_*^{\ell^1}(M)$. Thus, the induced map

$$H_*(j): H_*(C^{\mathrm{lf}}_*(M) \cap C^{\ell^1}_*(M)) \longrightarrow H^{\ell^1}_*(M)$$

on homology is isometric (Proposition (1.7)). This yields the desired description of ||M||.

For example, in combination with Corollary (4.14) the previous proposition gives rise to the following vanishing result:

Corollary (5.18). Let *M* be an oriented, connected *n*-manifold with $H_n^{\ell^1}(\pi_1(M)) = 0$. Then $||M|| \in \{0, \infty\}$.

5.3.4 The non-compact case – cohomological approach

There are two possible generalisations of Proposition (5.15) to the non-compact case. One can either dualise the computation via ℓ^1 -homology (leading to Proposition (5.19)), or, as indicated by Gromov [18; p. 17], one can try to find a suitable semi-norm on cohomology with compact supports and evaluate it on the dual fundamental class (Theorem (5.20)).

Proposition (5.19). Let M be an oriented, connected n-manifold without boundary. Then

$$\|M\| = \inf_{\alpha \in [M]^{\ell^1}} \sup \left\{ \frac{1}{\|\varphi\|_{\infty}} \mid \varphi \in H^n_{\mathrm{b}}(M), \langle \varphi, \alpha \rangle = 1 \right\}.$$

Proof. Combining the computation of ||M|| via ℓ^1 -homology (Proposition (5.17)) with the duality principle of semi-norms (Theorem (3.8)) proves the proposition.

Theorem (5.20) (Duality principle for non-compact manifolds). *Let M be an oriented, connected manifold without boundary. Then*

$$\|M\| = \frac{1}{\left\| [M]^* \right\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}}}.$$

5 Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology

This theorem is proved in Appendix C, where also the exact definition of the semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}^{lf}$ on $H_{cs}^{n}(M)$ is given (Definition (C.1)).

The advantage of the first version is being closely related to bounded cohomology; but in general the semi-norm of more than one cohomology class has to be computed. The second version needs only knowledge about the dual fundamental class, but the semi-norm involved is quite difficult to control. Hence, Proposition (5.19) is more suitable for vanishing results and Theorem (5.20) is to be preferred for calculations that involve concrete constructions on the dual fundamental class (e.g., product formulae – see Theorem (C.7)).

5.4 A collection of properties of simplicial volume

In this section, we present a collection of topological as well as geometric properties of simplicial volume. The geometric ones, such as proportionality, the minimal volume estimate and the computation for hyperbolic manifolds, demonstrate that the simplicial volume also can be viewed as a topological approximation of the Riemannian volume.

Degree estimate. Let $f: M \longrightarrow N$ be a proper, continuous map of oriented, connected manifolds (of the same dimension) of non-zero degree. Then

$$\|N\| \leq \frac{1}{|\deg f|} \cdot \|M\|.$$

This also holds for compact manifolds with boundary and maps relative to the boundary.

Self-maps. Let $f: M \longrightarrow M$ be a continuous self-map of the oriented, closed, connected manifold M with $|\deg f| \ge 2$. Then ||M|| = 0. Clearly, this also holds for compact manifolds with boundary and self-maps respecting the boundary.

Example (5.21). In particular, the simplicial volume of spheres and tori of non-zero dimension is zero. \diamond

72

5.4 A collection of properties of simplicial volume

Proper homotopy invariance. If the two oriented, connected manifolds M and N are properly homotopy equivalent, then ||M|| = ||N||. This is also true for compact manifolds with boundary and homotopy equivalences relative to the boundary.

This follows from the degree estimate because properly homotopic manifolds have the same dimension, any proper homotopy equivalence has degree 1.

Finite coverings. Let $p: M \longrightarrow N$ be a finite covering of oriented, connected manifolds. Then

$$\|M\| = |\deg p| \cdot \|N\|.$$

This also holds for compact manifolds with boundary and finite covering maps respecting the boundaries.

The estimate " \leq " follows from the degree estimate. The reverse inequality can be shown by summing up all *p*-lifts of the simplices in a fundamental cycle of *M* (which gives a fundamental cycle of *N*).

Connected sums. Let *M* and *N* be oriented, closed, connected manifolds of the same dimension > 2. Then

$$||M \# N|| = ||M|| + ||N||.$$

The pinching map $M \# N \longrightarrow M \lor N$ induces an isomorphism on the level of fundamental groups. Therefore, the mapping theorem of ℓ^1 -homology (or bounded cohomology) can be used to show that " \leq " holds. Gromov proves the (more complicated) estimate " \geq " by looking at a concrete description of the universal covering of $M \lor N$ as a so-called tree-like complex [18; Section 3.5].

Similar arguments apply not only to connected sums, but also to "amenable gluings," i.e., to manifolds that are glued along a common submanifold of codimension 1 that is amenable [18, 28; p. 55, Chapter 3].

Products. Let *M* and *N* be oriented, closed, connected manifolds. Then

$$\|M\| \cdot \|N\| \le \|M imes N\| \le \begin{pmatrix} \dim M + \dim N \\ \dim M \end{pmatrix} \cdot \|M\| \cdot \|N\|.$$

The first inequality remains true if the compactness condition on one of the two factors is dropped, the second estimate even holds if both manifolds are non-compact (Theorem (C.7)). However, the first inequality fails in general for non-compact manifolds, and for compact manifolds with boundary (cf. Sections C.4 and 6.4).

5 Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology

Because the cross-product of two fundamental cycles is a fundamental cycle of the product manifold, the second inequality follows. Gromov's proof of the first inequality takes advantage of the cohomological description of simplicial volume; a detailed proof is given in Section C.4.

Example (5.22). Bucher-Karlsson computes the first concrete value of a nontrivial product [10]: If M_1 and M_2 are two oriented, closed, connected, hyperbolic surfaces, then $||M_1 \times M_2|| = 3/2 \cdot ||M_1|| \cdot ||M_2||$. Moreover, in this case the simplicial volumes of the factors M_1 and M_2 can be computed explicitly (Example (5.23)).

Fibrations. Let $F \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow B$ be a fibration of oriented, closed, connected manifolds with dim F > 0. If $\pi_1(F)$ is amenable, then ||M|| = 0.

A spectral sequence argument shows that dim $M > \dim B$; therefore, the mapping theorem of ℓ^1 -homology/bounded cohomology yields ||M|| = 0 [35; Exercise 14.15 and p. 556].

Circle actions. Let *M* be an oriented, closed, connected, smooth manifold with non-trivial, smooth S^1 -action. Then ||M|| = 0.

Yano describes a quite concrete, geometric construction to reduce general S^1 -actions to the product case [60]. Gromov proves the vanishing via the corresponding statement on the minimal volume [18; p. 93].

Proportionality principle. Let *M* and *N* be oriented, closed, connected, Riemannian manifolds with isometric universal covering. Then

$$\frac{\|M\|}{\operatorname{vol} M} = \frac{\|N\|}{\operatorname{vol} N}.$$

Thurston sketches a homological proof using measure homology [57, 56; p. 6.9, Chapter 5] (see also Appendix D, especially Section D.3). A skeleton for a cohomological proof is given by Gromov [18; Section 2.3]. Both proofs depend on normalised Haar measures on the compact quotients of the group of orientation preserving isometries on the common universal covering divided by the respective fundamental groups.

The proportionality principle in general does not hold in the non-compact or in the relative cases [18; p. 59].

Volume estimate. Let *M* be an oriented, smooth *n*-manifold without boundary. Then the simplicial volume is bounded from above by the minimal volume minvol *M* in the sense that

$$||M|| \le (n-1)^n \cdot n! \cdot \operatorname{minvol} M.$$

5.4 A collection of properties of simplicial volume

Both the original proof of Gromov, as well as the version of Besson, Courtois and Gallot rely on the description of simplicial volume via bounded cohomology and comass estimates [18, 2].

Negative curvature. Let *M* be an oriented, closed, connected Riemannian *n*-manifold of negative curvature. Then ||M|| > 0. If *M* is hyperbolic, then

$$\|M\| = \frac{\operatorname{vol} M}{v_n}$$

where $v_n \in (0, \infty)$ is the maximal volume of an ideal *n*-simplex in hyperbolic *n*-space.

The curvature condition ensures that there is an upper bound on the volumes of geodesic simplices in the universal covering of M. Thurston's straightening (Proposition (4.20)) shows that the simplicial volume of a negatively curved manifold can be computed by looking only at fundamental cycles consisting of (projections of) geodesic simplices. Therefore, integration over the volume form of M shows that the simplicial volume is bounded from below [57, 24].

The upper bound can be obtained by Thurston's smearing construction [57; Chapter 6] or the corresponding discrete version [1, 50; Theorem C.4.2, Theorem 11.4.3].

Example (5.23). If F_g is the oriented, closed, connected surface of genus g at least 2, then $||F_g|| = 4 \cdot g - 4$.

Locally symmetric spaces of non-compact type. Oriented, closed, connected, locally symmetric spaces of non-compact type have non-zero simplicial volume.

Lafont and Schmidt apply a refined straightening procedure to show positivity [29], modulo two special cases. These special cases are covered by work of Thurston [57; Chapter 6] and Bucher-Karlsson [9] respectively.

Hyperbolic fundamental group. Oriented, closed, connected, aspherical manifolds with hyperbolic fundamental group have non-zero simplicial volume.

This follows from Mineyev's work on bounded cohomology of hyperbolic groups (Section 2.4.5) together with Proposition (5.15).

Amenable fundamental group. Let *M* be an oriented, connected *n*-manifold (without boundary) of dimension at least 1 with amenable fundamental group. Then $||M|| \in \{0, \infty\}$. If *M* is compact, then ||M|| = 0.

By Corollary (4.12) we have $H_n^{\ell^1}(\pi_1(M)) = 0$, and hence Proposition (5.18) applies.

- 5 Simplicial volume and ℓ^1 -homology
- Amenable coverings. More generally, let M be an oriented, closed, connected manifold of dimension n that possesses a covering by open, amenable subsets of multiplicity at most n. Then ||M|| = 0.

In this situation, the comparison map $H_b^*(M) \longrightarrow H^*(M)$ factors over the cohomology of the nerve of the open covering [18, 25]. Therefore, the class $[M]^*$ does not lie in the image of the comparison map $H_b^n(M) \longrightarrow H^n(M)$. In other words, $\|[M]^*\|_{\infty} = \infty$. This implies that $\|M\| = 0$ (Proposition (5.15)).

Free fundamental group. Let *M* be an oriented, closed, connected manifold of dimension at least 1 with free fundamental group. Then ||M|| = 0.

The homology of free groups vanishes in degrees bigger than 1, and ℓ^1 -homology vanishes in degree 1 (Proposition (2.7)); thus, the image of [M] under the classifying map $M \longrightarrow B\pi_1(M)$ is zero in ℓ^1 -homology. Therefore, we obtain ||M|| = 0 (Corollary (5.14)).

The corresponding statement for the relative simplicial volume of compact manifolds with boundary and for the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds is not true (Section 6.4.3).

The definition of the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds given in Section 5.2.2 is of more topological than geometric nature – it does not reflect (Riemannian) geometric properties as well as the simplicial volume in the category of compact manifolds. By imposing geometric conditions on the locally finite fundamental cycles that appear in the infimum of Definition (5.11), one obtains versions of the simplicial volume that carry more geometric information. Of course, these geometric versions are in general only invariant under proper homotopy equivalences that are compatible with the geometric structures involved.

One example of such a variant of simplicial volume is the so-called *Lipschitz simplicial volume* [18, 34], where the infimum of ℓ^1 -norms is taken over the set of those locally finite fundamental cycles whose simplices satisfy a uniform Lipschitz condition. The Lipschitz simplicial volume can be used to establish proportionality principles and product formulae for certain classes of non-compact manifolds [34]. The price for this gain is that we lose the strong connection with homological tools such as ℓ^1 -homology and bounded cohomology.

In the next chapter, we study the question under which conditions the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds is finite in a special case – namely for manifolds that are the interior of a compact manifold with boundary.

The simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds is not finite in general. It might even then be infinite if the non-compact manifold M in question is the interior of a compact manifold $(W, \partial W)$ with boundary. Gromov showed that the vanishing of the simplicial volume of the boundary ∂W is a necessary condition for ||M|| to be finite.

It turns out that ℓ^1 -homology allows to give a necessary and sufficient condition for the finiteness of ||M|| if M has such a nice compactification (Theorem (6.1)). More precisely: the simplicial volume of M is finite if and only if the fundamental class of ∂W is mapped to zero in ℓ^1 -homology under the comparison map, i.e., if ∂W is " ℓ^1 -invisible." Clearly, this is a purely topological condition.

Since bounded cohomology cannot see whether a given class in ℓ^1 -homology is zero, this finiteness criterion cannot be formulated in terms of bounded cohomology.

The finiteness criterion is stated in Section 6.1 and proved in Section 6.2. We then investigate the class of ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds (Section 6.3). In the last section, we show how the finiteness criterion can help getting a better understanding of the behaviour of simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds.

77

6.1 Stating the finiteness criterion

One of the virtues of ℓ^1 -homology is its ability to characterise the finiteness of simplicial volume of certain non-compact manifolds:

Theorem (6.1) (Finiteness criterion). *Let* $(W, \partial W)$ *be an oriented, compact, connected n-manifold with boundary and let* $M := W^{\circ}$ *. Then the following are equivalent:*

- 1. The simplicial volume ||M|| is finite.
- 2. The fundamental class of the boundary ∂W vanishes in ℓ^1 -homology, i.e.,

$$H_{n-1}(i_{\partial W})([\partial W]) = 0 \in H_{n-1}^{\ell^1}(\partial W)$$

where $i_{\partial W}: C_*(\partial W) \longrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(\partial W)$ is the natural inclusion.

The Kronecker product of bounded cohomology and ℓ^1 -homology factorises over reduced ℓ^1 -homology. Therefore, bounded cohomology in general cannot detect the vanishing of a given class in ℓ^1 -homology – bounded cohomology can only tell whether the corresponding class in reduced ℓ^1 -homology is zero, i.e., whether the ℓ^1 -semi-norm of the considered class is zero.

Combining the finiteness criterion with the fact that the comparison map between singular homology and ℓ^1 -homology is isometric (Proposition (2.5)), we obtain the necessary condition formulated by Gromov [18; p. 17]:

Corollary (6.2). Let $(W, \partial W)$ be an oriented, connected, compact manifold with boundary and let $M := W^\circ$. If ||M|| is finite, then $||\partial W|| = 0$.

A more thorough discussion of the relation between the second item of the finiteness criterion and the vanishing of simplicial volume of the boundary is given in Section 6.3.1.

The first sufficient condition for finiteness of simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds needs self-maps on the boundary of non-trivial degree [18; p. 8]. In addition, Gromov states also sufficient conditions for finiteness using amenable coverings and minimal volume [18; p. 58, p. 12/p. 73]. However, his techniques are much more sophisticated and less transparent. Furthermore, the estimate via the minimal volume is not a topological condition, but depends on a smooth structure.

6.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion

Of course, it would be interesting to know whether the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)) can be generalised to cover all non-compact manifolds. A possible strategy might be to find a suitable definition of " ℓ^1 -homology at infinity" and to study its relation with the fundamental group at infinity.

6.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion

Before starting with the proof of the finiteness criterion, we introduce the notion of ℓ^1 -invisibility, which is a shorthand for the second item in the statement of the finiteness criterion.

Definition (6.3). An oriented, closed *n*-manifold *M* is called ℓ^1 -invisible if its fundamental class vanishes in ℓ^1 -homology, i.e., if

$$H_n(i_M)([M]) = 0 \in H_n^{\ell^1}(M).$$

If *M* is ℓ^1 -invisible, then ||M|| = 0. More generally, we can reformulate the ℓ^1 -invisibility condition as follows – which is also a step towards the proof of the finiteness criterion:

Proposition (6.4). Let M be an oriented, closed n-manifold. Then the following are equivalent:

- 1. The manifold M is ℓ^1 -invisible.
- 2. There are fundamental cycles $(z_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_n(M)$ and chains $(b_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_{n+1}(M)$ satisfying

$$egin{aligned} &orall_{k\in\mathbf{N}} \quad \partial(b_k) = z_{k+1} - z_k, \ &\sum_{k\in\mathbf{N}} \|b_k\|_1 < \infty, \ &\sum_{k\in\mathbf{N}} \|z_k\|_1 < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The proof is nothing but a rearrangement of absolutely convergent series in the ℓ^1 -chain complex.

1 ⇒ 2 Suppose that *M* is ℓ^1 -invisible. Let $z \in C_n(M)$ be a fundamental cycle of *M*. Since *M* is ℓ^1 -invisible, there exists an ℓ^1 -chain $b \in C_{n+1}^{\ell^1}(M)$ with

$$\partial b = -z.$$

The chain *b* can be written in the form $b = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} a_k \cdot \sigma_k \in C_{n+1}^{\ell^1}(M)$ with $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and different $\sigma_k \in \max(\Delta^{n+1}, M)$. We now set $b_k := a_k \cdot \sigma_k$ and

$$z_k := z + \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \partial(b_k) \in C_n(M)$$

for all $k \in \mathbf{N}$. This implies $\sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} ||b_k||_1 < \infty$ and $\partial(b_k) = z_{k+1} - z_k$ for all $k \in \mathbf{N}$. Moreover, the definition of ∂ in the ℓ^1 -chain complex shows that

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbf{N}}\partial(b_k)=\partial b=-z=-z_0.$$

In order to satisfy the additional summability condition on the $||z_k||_1$, we construct a suitable subsequence of $(z_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ and then modify the $(b_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ accordingly: From the considerations above we deduce that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} z_k = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left(z_0 + \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \partial(b_j) \right)$$
$$= z_0 + \lim_{k \to \infty} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \partial(b_j)$$
$$= z_0 - z_0$$
$$= 0$$

(in particular, the limit $\lim_{k\to\infty} z_k$ indeed exists). We set s(0) := 0 and choose inductively $s(k) \in \mathbf{N}$ large enough so that s(k) > s(k-1) and

$$||z_{s(k)}||_1 \leq \frac{1}{2^k} \cdot ||z_0||_1.$$

Then the resulting sequences $(z'_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_{n-1}(\partial W)$ and $(b'_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_n(\partial W)$ defined by

$$egin{aligned} & z'_k := z_{s(k)}, \ & b'_k := \sum_{j=s(k)}^{s(k+1)-1} b_j \end{aligned}$$

for all $k \in \mathbf{N}$ satisfy condition 2.

80

6.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion

 $2 \Rightarrow 1$ Conversely, suppose that part 2 is satisfied. Then the infinite sum

$$b:=\sum_{k\in\mathbf{N}}b_k$$

is a well-defined chain in $C_{n+1}^{\ell^1}(M)$. Since $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \|b_k\|_1 < \infty$ as well as $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \|z_k\|_1 < \infty$, we can compute the boundary of *b* via

$$\partial b = \partial \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} b_k\right) = \sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} \partial (b_k) = \sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} (z_{k+1} - z_k) = z_0.$$

Because z_0 is a fundamental cycle of *M*, this proves that *M* is ℓ^1 -invisible.

We now turn to the geometric part of the proof of the finiteness criterion:

Proof (of Theorem (6.1)). The theorem trivially holds if the boundary ∂W is empty; therefore, we assume for the rest of the proof that $\partial W \neq \emptyset$. The homeomorphism [8, 14]

$$M \cong W \sqcup_{\partial W} \partial W \times [0, \infty) =: M'$$

shows that we can also look at the notationally more convenient manifold M' instead of M.

1 ⇒ 2 Suppose the simplicial volume ||M|| = ||M'|| is finite. In other words, there is a locally finite fundamental cycle $c \in C_n^{\text{lf}}(M')$ with $||c||_1 < \infty$. We now restrict c to a cylinder lying in $\partial W \times [0, \infty) \subset M'$. The boundary of this restriction is a fundamental cycle of ∂W and the restriction itself gives rise to the desired boundary in the ℓ^1 -chain complex. In the following, we explain this procedure in more detail (the notation is illustrated in Figure (6.5)):

For $t \in (0, \infty)$, we consider the cylinder

$$Z_t := \partial W \times [t, \infty) \subset M'.$$

Because *c* is locally finite, there exists a $t \in (0, \infty)$ such that the restriction $c|_{Z_t} \in C_n^{\text{lf}}(M')$ does not meet *W*.

Let

$$p_t: \partial W \times [0, \infty) \longrightarrow Z_t,$$

$$q_t: \partial W \times [0, \infty) \longrightarrow \partial W \times [0, t)$$



Figure (6.5). The proof of " $1 \Rightarrow 2$ " of the finiteness criterion

denote the canonical projections. Clearly,

$$c_t := C_n^{\mathrm{lt}} (p_t)(c|_{Z_t})$$

is a locally finite chain on Z_t whose boundary lies in $\partial W \times \{t\} = \partial Z_t$. In the following paragraph, we show that ∂c_t is a fundamental cycle of $\partial W \times \{t\}$:

The boundary of the restriction

$$c_t^{t+1} := C_n (q_{t+1}) (c_t|_{\partial W \times [t,t+1]}) \in C_n (\partial W \times [t,t+1])$$

lies in $\partial W \times \{t, t+1\}$. By construction, we have $c_t^{t+1}|_{\{x\}} = c|_{\{x\}}$ for all points $x \in \partial W \times (t, t+1)$. Therefore, the local characterisation of fundamental cycles (Theorem (5.4)) implies that c_t^{t+1} is a relative fundamental cycle of the manifold $\partial W \times [t, t+1]$ with boundary. In particular,

$$z_t := \partial c_t = (\partial c_t^{t+1})|_{\partial W \times \{t\}} \in C_{n-1} (\partial W \times \{t\})$$

is a fundamental cycle of $\partial W \times \{t\}$ (Theorem (5.4)).

The finiteness of $||c||_1$ yields $c \in C_n^{\ell^1}(M')$ and $c_t \in C_n^{\ell^1}(Z_t)$. Therefore,

$$b_t := C_n^{\ell^1}(q_t)(c_t) \in C_n^{\ell^1}(\partial W \times \{t\})$$

and

$$\partial(b_t) = C_{n-1}^{\ell^1}(q_t) \big(\partial(c_t)\big) = C_{n-1}^{\ell^1}(q_t)(z_t) = z_t.$$

I.e., $H_{n-1}(i_{\partial W \times \{t\}})([\partial W \times \{t\}]) = 0 \in H_{n-1}^{\ell^1}(\partial W \times \{t\})$. Using the identification $\partial W \cong \partial W \times \{t\}$, we see that ∂W is ℓ^1 -invisible and hence that part 2 is satisfied.

6.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the proof of the finiteness criterion



Figure (6.6). The proof of " $2 \Rightarrow 1$ " of the finiteness criterion

 $2 \Rightarrow 1$ Conversely, suppose that part 2 holds, i.e., that ∂W is ℓ^1 -invisible. By Proposition (6.4), we find fundamental cycles $(z_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_{n-1}(\partial W)$ and chains $(b_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_n(\partial W)$ with

$$egin{aligned} &orall_{k\in\mathbf{N}} \quad \partial(b_k) = z_{k+1} - z_k, \ &\sum_{k\in\mathbf{N}} \|b_k\|_1 < \infty, \ &\sum_{k\in\mathbf{N}} \|z_k\|_1 < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

The idea is – similarly to Gromov's argument in a special case [18; p. 8] – to take a relative fundamental cycle of $(W, \partial W)$ and to glue the $(b_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ to its boundary. To ensure that the resulting chain is locally finite, we spread out the chain $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} b_k$ over the cylinder $\partial W \times [0, \infty)$.

More precisely, let $c \in C_n(W)$ be a relative fundamental cycle of the manifold $(W, \partial W)$ with boundary. Then $\partial c \in C_{n-1}(\partial W)$ is a fundamental cycle of the oriented, compact manifold ∂W . Of course, we may assume that $\partial c = z_0$.

The spreading out of $(b_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is achieved by using the following chains: For any cycle $z \in C_{n-1}(\partial W)$ and any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we can find a chain $b(z,k) \in C_n(\partial W \times [0,\infty))$ such that

$$\partial (b(z,k)) = C_{n-1} (j_{k+1})(z) - C_{n-1} (j_k)(z), \|b(z,k)\|_1 \le n \cdot \|z\|_1;$$

here, $j_k: \partial W \hookrightarrow \partial W \times \{k\} \hookrightarrow \partial W \times [0, \infty)$ denotes the inclusion. For example, such a chain b(z, k) can be constructed by looking at the canonical triangulation of $\Delta^{n-1} \times [0, 1]$ into *n*-simplices.

We now define (see also Figure (6.6))

$$b := \sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} \left(C_n \left(j_k \right) (b_k) + b(z_{k+1}, k) \right)$$

and $\overline{c} := c + b$. Because all b_k and all $b(z_{k+1}, k)$ are finite, the stretched chain b is a well-defined locally finite n-chain of M'. Therefore, also $\overline{c} \in C_n^{\text{lf}}(M')$.

In the chain complex $C_*^{\text{lf}}(M')$ of locally finite chains we can compute

$$\begin{aligned} \partial(\bar{c}) &= \partial(c) + \partial(b) \\ &= z_0 + \sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} & \left(C_{n-1} \left(j_k \right) (z_{k+1}) - C_{n-1} \left(j_k \right) (z_k) \right. \\ &+ C_{n-1} \left(j_{k+1} \right) (z_{k+1}) - C_{n-1} \left(j_k \right) (z_{k+1}) \right) \\ &= z_0 + \sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} & \left(C_{n-1} \left(j_{k+1} \right) (z_{k+1}) - C_{n-1} \left(j_k \right) (z_k) \right) \\ &= z_0 - z_0 \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

In other words, \overline{c} is a cycle. The construction shows that $\overline{c}|_M = c|_M$ and hence that \overline{c} is a locally finite fundamental cycle of M' (Theorem (5.4)). Furthermore, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\overline{c}\|_{1} &\leq \|c\|_{1} + \|b\|_{1} \\ &\leq \|c\|_{1} + \sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} \left(\|b_{k}\|_{1} + \left\|b(z_{k+1}, k)\right\|_{1}\right) \\ &\leq \|c\|_{1} + \sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} \|b_{k}\|_{1} + \sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} n \cdot \|z_{k+1}\|_{1} \\ &< \infty, \end{split}$$

which shows that $||M'|| < \infty$.

This finishes the proof of the finiteness criterion.

6.3 A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds

In view of the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)), it is interesting to analyse ℓ^1 -invisibility in more detail.

6.3 A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds

In this section, we study the relation of ℓ^1 -invisibility to the vanishing of simplicial volume (Section 6.3.1), the behaviour with respect to standard topological constructions (Section 6.3.2), the influence of the fundamental group (Section 6.3.3), the relation to curvature (Section 6.3.4), as well as a possible connection with L^2 -Betti numbers (Section 6.3.5).

For applications, we refer to Section 6.4.

6.3.1 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and simplicial volume

If a manifold is ℓ^1 -invisible, then its simplicial volume is zero because the comparison map to ℓ^1 -homology is isometric (Proposition (2.5)).

Matsumoto and Morita [38] introduce the so-called uniform boundary condition for normed chain complexes. This framework allows in certain cases to derive ℓ^1 -invisibility from the vanishing of simplicial volume (Proposition (6.8)).

Definition (6.7). A normed chain complex $(C, \|\cdot\|)$ is said to satisfy the **uniform boundary condition in degree** q if there is a constant $K \in \mathbf{R}_{>0}$ such that for any null-homologous cycle $z \in C_q$ there exists a chain $b \in C_{q+1}$ with

$$\partial(b) = z$$
 and $||b|| \le K \cdot ||z||.$

Proposition (6.8). Let M be an oriented, closed, connected n-manifold with ||M|| = 0.

- If the chain complex (C_{*} (M), || · ||₁) satisfies the uniform boundary condition in degree n, then M is ℓ¹-invisible.
- 2. If $H^{n+1}_{\mathbf{b}}(M) = 0$, then M is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Proof. In the first case, condition 2 of the technical characterisation of ℓ^1 -invisibility, Proposition (6.4), is satisfied. The second case can be reduced to the first case by a result of Matsumoto and Morita [38; Theorem 2.8].

On the other hand, if *M* is an oriented, closed, connected, ℓ^1 -invisible *n*-manifold, then $(C_*(M), \|\cdot\|_1)$ does not necessarily satisfy the uniform boundary condition in degree *n*, as the following example shows:

Example (6.9). Let $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 5}$. Then there exists a finitely presented group *G* such that $H_b^{n+1}(G)$ is non-zero (for example, we could take *G* to be the fundamental group of an oriented, closed, connected hyperbolic (n + 1)-manifold, cf. Theorem (2.29)). Furthermore, there is also an oriented, closed, connected manifold *N* of dimension (n - 1) with fundamental group *G* [36; p. 114f].

We now consider the oriented, closed, connected *n*-manifold

$$M := N \times S^2.$$

By construction, $\pi_1(M) \cong G$ and hence $H_b^{n+1}(M) \cong H_b^{n+1}(G) \neq 0$ by the mapping theorem in bounded cohomology (Theorem (2.28)). In particular, the comparison map $H_b^{n+1}(M) \longrightarrow H^{n+1}(M) = 0$ is *not* injective. By a result of Matsumoto and Morita [38; Theorem 2.8], this means that $C_*(M)$ does not satisfy the uniform boundary condition in degree *n*. On the other hand, one can show that *M* is ℓ^1 -invisible (Proposition (6.10).2/5).

It could be true that the vanishing of the simplicial volume of an oriented, closed, connected manifold already implies ℓ^1 -invisibility. However, this seems to be rather unlikely:

If a manifold is ℓ^1 -invisible, there must exist fundamental cycles and boundaries between them of small ℓ^1 -norm (Proposition (6.4)). If the simplicial volume of an oriented, closed, connected *n*-manifold *M* is zero, a priori we can only deduce that there is a sequence $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_n(M)$ of fundamental cycles with $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||z_n||_1 = 0$. But this does not give any control over the ℓ^1 -norms of the set of all chains $b_k \in C_{n+1}(M)$ with $\partial b_k = z_{k+1} - z_k$. It is conceivable that there are manifolds such that $||b_k||_1$ must be large, whenever $||z_k||_1$ and $||z_{k+1}||_1$ are small.

Unfortunately, it also seems to be very difficult to prove existence of a counterexample, let alone exhibit a concrete counterexample. For example, it is not possible to use the work on non-Banach bounded cohomology because bounded cohomology cannot see the difference between ℓ^1 -homology and reduced ℓ^1 -homology. Furthermore, in almost all cases where it is known that the simplicial volume is zero, the underlying reason is strong enough to also give ℓ^1 -invisibility, as we will see in the following subsections.

6.3.2 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and standard constructions

Proposition (6.10). *Let M and N be two oriented, closed, connected manifolds of dimension at least* 1.

- 1. Non-trivial maps. Suppose M and N are of the same dimension and there exists a continuous map $f: M \longrightarrow N$ of non-zero degree. If M is ℓ^1 -invisible, then N is also ℓ^1 -invisible.
- 2. Non-trivial self-maps. If *M* admits a self-map $f: M \longrightarrow M$ with $|\deg f| \ge 2$, then *M* is ℓ^1 -invisible.

6.3 A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds

- Connected sums. Suppose M and N are of the same dimension at least 3. If both M and N are ℓ¹-invisible, then also the connected sum M # N is ℓ¹-invisible.
- 4. Amenable gluings. Let (W_1, A) and (W_2, A) be oriented, compact, connected *m*-manifolds with boundary A and let $M := W_1 \cup_A W_2$. Suppose that

$$H_m(i_{(W_i,A)})([W_i,A]) = 0 \in H_m^{\ell^1}(W_i,A)$$

for $j \in \{1,2\}$ and that im $H_m^{\ell^1}(A \hookrightarrow M) = 0$; the second condition is for example satisfied if A is an amenable subset of M or of one of the W_j (Definition (4.5) and Corollary (4.6)). Then the oriented, closed, connected m-manifold M is ℓ^1 -invisible.

- 5. Products. If M is ℓ^1 -invisible, then also the product $M \times N$ is ℓ^1 -invisible.
- 6. Fibrations. Let $p: M \longrightarrow B$ be a fibration of oriented, closed, connected manifolds whose fibre F is also an oriented, closed, connected manifold of non-zero dimension. If $\pi_1(F)$ is amenable, then M is ℓ^1 -invisible.
- 7. Circle actions. If M is smooth and admits a smooth S^1 -action that is either free or has at least one fixed point, then M is ℓ^1 -invisible.
- 8. Proportionality. Suppose M and N are equipped with a Riemannian metric such that the Riemannian universal coverings of M and N are isometric. Then M is ℓ^1 -invisible if and only if N is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Comparing this list with the properties of simplicial volume (Section 5.4) raises the question whether all oriented, closed, connected manifolds with vanishing minimal volume are ℓ^1 -invisible.

The proofs for most of the parts of the proposition are modeled on the proofs for the corresponding properties of simplicial volume.

Proof. In the following, we write *m* := dim *M* and *n* := dim *N*. *Non-trivial maps.* By definition of the mapping degree, we have

$$H_m(i_N)([N]) = \frac{1}{\deg f} \cdot H_m(i_N)(H_m(f)([M]))$$
$$= \frac{1}{\deg f} \cdot H_m^{\ell^1}(f)(H_m(i_M)([M]))$$
$$= 0$$

Hence, *N* is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Non-trivial self-maps. Let $z \in C_m(M)$ be a fundamental cycle of M. For brevity, we write $d := \deg f$. The definition of the mapping degree of the mapping degree

shows that there is a chain $b \in C_{m+1}(M)$ satisfying

$$\partial b = z - rac{1}{d} \cdot C_m(f)(z).$$

The chains $(z_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_m(M)$ and $(b_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_{m+1}(M)$ defined by

$$z_k := \frac{1}{d^k} \cdot C_m(f^k)(z),$$

$$b_k := \frac{1}{d^k} \cdot C_{m+1}(f^k)(b)$$

for all $k \in \mathbf{N}$ satisfy condition 2 of Proposition (6.4). Therefore, *M* is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Connected sums. The pinching map $f: M \# N \longrightarrow M \lor N$ induces an isomorphism on the level of fundamental groups because dim $M = \dim N \ge 3$ (by the Seifert-van Kampen theorem). By the mapping theorem for ℓ^1 -homology (Corollary (4.2)), the induced homomorphism $H_m^{\ell^1}(f): H_m^{\ell^1}(M \# N) \longrightarrow H_m^{\ell^1}(M \lor N)$ therefore is an (isometric) isomorphism.

Let $j_M: M \longrightarrow M \lor N$ and $j_N: N \longrightarrow M \lor N$ be the canonical inclusions. The Mayer-Vietoris sequence for singular homology shows that

$$H_m(j_M) \oplus H_m(j_N) \colon H_m(M) \oplus H_m(N) \longrightarrow H_m(M \lor N)$$

is an isomorphism satisfying

$$H_m(j_M) \oplus H_m(j_N)([M],[N]) = H_m(f)([M\#N]).$$

We now consider the commutative diagram

where the horizontal maps are given by the respective comparison maps between singular homology and ℓ^1 -homology.

Both *M* and *N* are ℓ^1 -invisible, and thus the lower horizontal arrow maps ([M], [N]) to 0. Therefore, the comparison map of $M \vee N$ maps $H_m(f)([M \# N])$

6.3 A closer look at ℓ^1 -invisible manifolds



Figure (6.11). Amenable gluings

to 0. Now the fact that $H_m^{\ell^1}(f)$ is injective shows that the comparison map of M # N maps [M # N] to 0; thus, the connected sum M # N is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Amenable gluings. Let $w_1 \in C_m(W_1)$ and $w_2 \in C_m(W_2)$ be relative fundamental cycles of (W_1, A) and (W_2, A) respectively. Since the corresponding relative fundamental classes are zero in ℓ^1 -homology, there exist chains $b_j \in C_{m+1}^{\ell^1}(W_j)$ as well as $a_j \in C_m^{\ell^1}(A)$ satisfying

$$\partial b_1 = w_1 + a_1$$
 and $\partial b_2 = w_2 + a_2$.

(All the notation is illustrated in Figure (6.11)). Because w_j is a relative fundamental cycle, both ∂w_1 and ∂w_2 are fundamental cycles of (the not necessarily connected) closed (m - 1)-manifold A. In particular, there is a chain $z_A \in C_m(A)$ with

$$\partial z_A = \partial w_2 - \partial w_1.$$

We now consider the chain

$$z := w_1 - w_2 + z_A \in C_m(M).$$

By construction, *z* is a cycle and because *z* coincides on the open subset $W_1^\circ \subset M$ with the (relative) fundamental cycle w_1 , the cycle *z* must be a fundamental cycle of *M* (Theorem (5.4)).

On the other hand, $\partial(z_A - a_1 + a_2) = 0$ shows that $z - a_1 + a_2 \in C_m^{\ell^1}(A)$ is a cycle. Because im $H_m^{\ell^1}(A \hookrightarrow M) = 0$, there is a $b_A \in C_{m+1}^{\ell^1}(M)$ with

$$\partial b_A = z_A - a_1 + a_2.$$

o	n
ŏ	У
_	-

Putting it all together yields

$$\partial(b_1 - b_2 + b_A) = w_1 - w_2 + z_A = z.$$

I.e., the ℓ^1 -chain $b_1 - b_2 + b_A \in C_{m+1}^{\ell^1}(M)$ is a witness for the ℓ^1 -invisibility of M.

(We also could have derived the previous item on connected sums from this one - however, the direct proof for connected sums looks more straightforward).

Products. We choose fundamental cycles $z_M \in C_m(M)$ and $z_N \in C_n(N)$ of M and N respectively. Therefore, the cross product $z := z_M \times z_N$ is a fundamental cycle of $M \times N$ by the Künneth theorem.

It is not difficult to see that the homological cross product

$$\times : C_p(M) \otimes C_q(N) \longrightarrow C_{p+q}(M \times N)$$

can be extended to a cross product

$$\times : C_p^{\ell^1}(M) \otimes C_q^{\ell^1}(N) \longrightarrow C_{p+q}^{\ell^1}(M \times N)$$

on ℓ^1 -chains. Moreover, the relation $\partial(c_M \times c_N) = \partial c_M \times c_N + (-1)^p \cdot c_M \times \partial c_N$ for all $c_M \in C_p(M)$ and all $c_N \in C_q(N)$ also carries over to ℓ^1 -chains. Because M is ℓ^1 -invisible, there is a chain $b_M \in C_{m+1}^{\ell^1}(M)$ with $\partial b_M = z_M$. We

now consider the chain

$$b:=b_M\times z_N\in C_{m+n}^{\ell^1}(M\times N).$$

By construction, in the chain complex $C_*^{\ell^1}(M \times N)$ we have the relation

$$egin{aligned} \partial b &= \partial b_M imes z_N + (-1)^m \cdot b_M imes \partial z_N \ &= z_M imes z_N + (-1)^m \cdot b_M imes 0 \ &= z_M imes z_N. \end{aligned}$$

In other words, the product $M \times N$ is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Fibrations. In this situation, the dimension of B is at most m - 1 [35; Exercise 14.15 and p. 556]. In particular, $H_m(B) = 0$. Since $\pi_1(F)$ is amenable, the induced map $H_m^{\ell^1}(p) \colon H_m^{\ell^1}(M) \longrightarrow H_m^{\ell^1}(B)$ is an (isometric) isomorphism (Corollary (4.4)). Therefore, the commutative diagram

shows that *M* is ℓ^1 -invisible.

90

Circle actions. We first look at the case that the S^1 -action on M has at least one fixed point: Then

$$H_m(f)([M]) = 0 \in H_m(B\pi_1(M)),$$

where $f: M \longrightarrow B\pi_1(M)$ is the classifying map [18, 35; p. 95, Lemma 1.42]. On the other hand, the induced map $\pi_1(f)$ on the level of fundamental groups is an isomorphism, and hence $H_m^{\ell^1}(f): H_m^{\ell^1}(M) \longrightarrow H_m^{\ell^1}(B\pi_1(M))$ is an (isometric) isomorphism (Corollary (4.2)). Now the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} H_m(M) \xrightarrow{H_m(i_M)} H_m^{\ell^1}(M) \\ \downarrow \\ H_m(f) \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow H_m^{\ell^1}(f) \\ H_m(B\pi_1(M)) \xrightarrow{H_m(i_{B\pi_1(M)})} H_m^{\ell^1}(B\pi_1(M)) \end{array}$$

allows us to deduce that M must be ℓ^1 -invisible if the action has fixed points.

What happens if the S^1 -action on M is free? Because M is compact, the S^1 -operation in question is proper. Therefore, the quotient M/S^1 is a compact manifold of dimension m - 1. Hence, $H_m(M/S^1) = 0$. Furthermore, it follows that the projection $p: M \longrightarrow M/S^1$ is an S^1 -principal bundle and thus in particular a fibration with fibre S^1 . Because the fundamental group $\pi_1(S^1) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ is amenable, the induced map $H_m^{\ell^1}(p): H_m^{\ell^1}(M) \longrightarrow H_m^{\ell^1}(M/S^1)$ is an (isometric) isomorphism (Corollary (4.4)). Therefore, we deduce (like in the previous item) from the commutative diagram

that $H_m(i_M)([M]) = 0$. I.e., M is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Proportionality. Thanks to symmetry, it suffices to show that if M is ℓ^1 -invisible, then also N is ℓ^1 -invisible. Moreover, since the universal coverings of M and N coincide, the dimensions of M and N must be equal.

Thurston's proof of the proportionality principle for simplicial volume relies on the so-called "smearing" of (smooth) singular chains. Smearing is a chain map

smear_{$$M,N$$}: $C_*^{s}(M) \longrightarrow C_*^{s}(N)$,

1
-



Figure (6.12). Proof of part 8 of Proposition (6.10) – proportionality

where $C_*^s(M) \subset C_*(M)$ is the subcomplex generated by smooth singular chains and $C_*^s(N)$ is the smooth version of the measure chain complex of N. The two distinguishing features of this chain map are that it is bounded with norm at most 1 and that it maps (smooth) fundamental cycles of M to (smooth) measure cycles representing vol M/ vol N times the fundamental class of N; more details on measure homology and smearing are provided in Appendix D, especially in Theorem (D.13).

Because smear $_{M,N}$ is bounded, it extends to a morphism

smear^{$$\ell^1_{M,N}$$}: $C^{\mathbf{s},\ell^1}_*(M) \longrightarrow C^{\mathbf{s},\ell^1}_*(N)$

of the corresponding completed chain complexes (Theorem (D.13)). We obtain the commutative ladder in Figure (6.12), where

- except for the maps $H_n(\text{smear}_{M,N})$ and $H_n(\text{smear}_{M,N}^{\ell^1})$, all homomorphisms are the ones induced by the canonical inclusions of the underlying chain complexes;
- all arrows labeled with "≅" are (isometric) isomorphisms (Proposition (D.5) and Corollary (D.12));
- the arrow labeled with " \subset " is an (isometric) injection (Theorem (D.9)).
Hence, chasing through the diagram shows that if $H_n(i_M)([M]) = 0 \in H_n^{\ell^1}(M)$, then also $H_n(i_N)([N]) = 0 \in H_n^{\ell^1}(N)$ holds. This finishes the proof of proportionality for ℓ^1 -invisibility.

6.3.3 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and the fundamental group

Proposition (6.13). Let M be an oriented, closed, connected m-manifold.

- 1. Group homology. If $H_m(\pi_1(M)) = 0$, then M is ℓ^1 -inviable.
- 2. Amenable fundamental group. If the fundamental group of M is amenable and if m > 0, then M is ℓ^1 -invisible.
- 3. Free fundamental group. If the fundamental group of M is free and m > 0, then M is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Proof. Group homology. Let $f: M \longrightarrow B\pi_1(M)$ be the classifying map. We consider the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} H_m\left(M\right) \xrightarrow{H_m(i_M)} H_m^{\ell^1}(M) \\ H_m(f) \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow H_m^{\ell^1}(f) \\ H_m\left(B\pi_1(M)\right) \xrightarrow{H_m(i_{B\pi_1(M)})} H_m^{\ell^1}\left(B\pi_1(M)\right). \end{array}$$

Because $H_m^{\ell^1}(f)$ is an (isometric) isomorphism by the mapping theorem (Corollary (4.2)) and $H_m(B\pi_1(M)) = H_m(\pi_1(M)) = 0$, it follows that $H_m(i_M)([M]) = 0$.

Amenable fundamental group. If $\pi_1(M)$ is amenable, then $H_m^{\ell^1}(M) = 0$ (Corollary (4.2)). In particular, $H_m(i_M)([M]) = 0 \in H_m^{\ell^1}(M)$, i.e., M is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Free fundamental group. If $\pi_1(M)$ is a free group, then we have $H_k(\pi_1(M)) = 0$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}$. Therefore, we can apply part 1 whenever m > 1. If m = 1, then $M = S^1$, which is ℓ^1 -invisible (for example, by part 2).

6.3.4 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and curvature

Corollary (6.14). Let M be an oriented, closed, connected, Riemannian manifold.

- 1. Positive curvature. If M has positive sectional curvature, then M is ℓ^1 -invisible.
- 2. Flat manifolds. If *M* is flat, then *M* is ℓ^1 -invisible.
- 3. Negative curvature. If M has negative sectional curvature, then M is not ℓ^1 -invisible.

6 A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume

Proof. Positive curvature. By Myers's theorem, complete, connected manifolds of positive sectional curvature have finite – and hence amenable – fundamental group [30; Theorem 11.8]. Therefore, these manifolds are ℓ^1 -invisible (Proposition (6.13).2)

Flat manifolds. The classification of compact, flat manifolds shows that they all are finitely covered by tori and hence have amenable fundamental group [13; Theorem II.5.3].

Moreover, ℓ^1 -invisibility of flat manifolds can also be derived from the proportionality property of ℓ^1 -invisibility (Proposition (6.10).8): Namely, the Riemannian universal covering of any flat manifold is isometric to the Riemannian universal covering of the torus of the same dimension. Because tori are ℓ^1 -invisible, all flat manifolds must be ℓ^1 -invisible.

Negative curvature. Oriented, closed, connected manifolds of negative sectional curvature have non-zero simplicial volume (Section 5.4). Therefore, these manifolds cannot be ℓ^1 -invisible.

6.3.5 ℓ^1 -Invisibility and L^2 -Betti numbers

Gromov asked if the L^2 -Betti numbers of an oriented, closed, connected, aspherical manifold with vanishing simplicial volume are zero [20; Section 8A]. For an introduction to L^2 -Betti numbers we refer to Lück's extensive textbook [35].

The notion of ℓ^1 -invisibility gives rise to the following approach to Gromov's question: Let *M* be an oriented, closed, connected *n*-manifold with fundamental group *G*, and let $\mathcal{N}G$ be the group von Neumann algebra of *G*. Then there is a commutative diagram relating L^2 -(co)homology to bounded cohomology and ℓ^1 -homology:

Here, the vertical arrows are the respective comparison maps. The upper horizontal arrow is an isomorphism (Poincaré duality with twisted coefficients – for cellular L^2 -(co)homology this follows from a theorem of Wall [58; Theorem 2.1, p. 23]).

6.4 Applying the finiteness criterion

The lower cap-product is based on literally the same definition as the usual capproduct in singular (co)homology with twisted coefficients: In view of Proposition (2.23), we can identify the two Banach chain complexes $C_*^{\ell^1}(M)$ and $C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{M})_G$. Then the cap-product is defined on generators by

$$C_{\mathbf{b}}^{k}(M;\mathcal{N}G) \otimes C_{n}^{\ell^{1}}(M) \xrightarrow{\cdot \cap \cdot} C_{n-k}^{\ell^{1}}(M;\mathcal{N}G)$$

$$\overset{\parallel}{\underset{\mathsf{W}}{\overset{\boxplus}{\otimes}}} C_{n}^{\ell^{1}}(\widetilde{M})_{G} \longrightarrow (C_{n-k}^{\ell^{1}}(\widetilde{M}) \underset{\overset{\overset{\vee}{\otimes}}{\overset{\overset{\vee}{\otimes}}} \mathcal{N}G)_{G}$$

$$\overset{\overset{\vee}{\underset{\mathsf{W}}{\overset{\psi}{\otimes}}} f \otimes [\sigma] \longmapsto [_{n-k} \lfloor \sigma \otimes f(\sigma \rfloor_{k})]$$

where the brackets $[\cdot]$ denote the corresponding equivalence classes in the coinvariants, and $_{n-k}\lfloor\sigma$ and $\sigma\rfloor_k$ are the (n-k)-back face and the *k*-front face of σ respectively.

The same calculations as in singular (co)homology show that this definition is independent of the chosen representatives in the coinvariants. Moreover, the norm $||f \cap c||_1 \leq ||f||_{\infty} \cdot ||c||_1$ is finite for all $f \in C_b^k(M; V)$ and all $c \in C_n^{\ell^1}(M)$. Therefore, this cap-product is well-defined on the (co)chain level. In addition, this cap-product descends to a cap-product on the level of (co)homology.

Suppose that the comparison map $H^*_b(M; \mathcal{N}G) \longrightarrow H^*(M; \mathcal{N}G)$ is surjective and that the comparison map $H_*(M; \mathcal{N}G) \longrightarrow H^{\ell^1}_*(M; \mathcal{N}G)$ is injective (up to $\mathcal{N}G$ -dimension). Then the commutative diagram above shows: If M is ℓ^1 -invisible, then the upper horizontal arrow is the zero map up to $\mathcal{N}G$ -dimension and thus all L^2 -Betti numbers of M must be zero. This leads to the following question:

Question (6.15). Let *M* be an oriented, closed, connected, aspherical manifold with fundamental group *G*. Is the comparison map $H_b^*(M; \mathcal{N}G) \longrightarrow H^*(M; \mathcal{N}G)$ surjective and is the comparison map $H_*(M; \mathcal{N}G) \longrightarrow H_*^{\ell^1}(M; \mathcal{N}G)$ injective (at least up to $\mathcal{N}G$ -dimension)?

6.4 Applying the finiteness criterion

Combining the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)) with the properties of ℓ^1 -invisibility established in Section 6.3 gives access to a collection of simple examples demonstrating the odd behaviour of simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds.

6 A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume

In Section 6.4.1, we give a basic vanishing result, which can be applied to compute the simplicial volume of Euclidean spaces (Section 6.4.2). Section 6.4.3 contains an elementary example of a non-compact manifold whose simplicial volume is neither zero nor infinite. The lack of homotopy invariance of the simplicial volume in the category of non-compact manifolds is discussed in Section 6.4.4. A geometrically interesting class of non-compact manifolds with nice boundaries are locally symmetric spaces of finite volume (Section 6.4.5). Finally, the last section deals with products of non-compact manifolds.

6.4.1 Vanishing results

The computation of simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds in terms of ℓ^1 -homology leads to the following vanishing result:

Corollary (6.16). Let $(W, \partial W)$ be an oriented, compact, connected *n*-manifold with boundary and let $M := W^{\circ}$. If $H_n^{\ell^1}(W) = 0$ and ∂W is ℓ^1 -invisible, then ||M|| = 0.

Proof. Because *M* is homotopy equivalent to *W*, we know that $H_n^{\ell^1}(M) = 0$. In particular, $||M|| \in \{0, \infty\}$ (Corollary (5.18)). According to the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)) the simplicial volume of *M* cannot be infinite because ∂W is ℓ^1 -invisible. Therefore, ||M|| = 0.

In particular, if $(W, \partial W)$ is an oriented, compact, connected *n*-manifold with boundary with $H_n^{\ell^1}(W) = 0$ and $H_{n-1}^{\ell^1}(\partial W) = 0$, then $||W^\circ|| = 0$.

6.4.2 Euclidean spaces

For example, Corollary (6.16) allows to compute the simplicial volume of Euclidean spaces:

Example (6.17). Since $||S^0|| = 2$, the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)) shows that $||\mathbf{R}|| = ||[0,1]^\circ|| = \infty$.

On the other hand, for all $n \in \mathbf{N}_{>1}$, the sphere S^{n-1} is ℓ^1 -invisible (Proposition (6.10)) and hence $\|\mathbf{R}^n\| = \|(D^n)^\circ\| < \infty$ by the finiteness criterion. Moreover, $H_n^{\ell^1}(\mathbf{R}^n) = 0$. Using Corollary (6.16), we deduce that $\|\mathbf{R}^n\| = 0$.

The second part can also be shown via self-maps of (D^n, S^{n-1}) of non-trivial degree [18; p. 8f].

It is one of the confusing aspects of the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds that (by the example above) the simplicial volume of hyperbolic *n*-space is zero if n > 1. This contrasts the classic result that the simplicial volume of oriented, closed, connected hyperbolic manifolds is positive.

6.4.3 Non-compact manifolds with finite, non-zero simplicial volume

The finiteness criterion provides concrete examples of non-compact manifolds whose simplicial volume is non-trivial, i.e., it is neither zero nor infinite:

Example (6.18). Let *M* be an oriented, closed, connected manifold with $||M|| \neq 0$ of dimension $n \ge 2$ (for example a hyperbolic manifold of dimension at least 2), and let *N* be a non-compact manifold obtained from *M* by removing a finite number of points. Then

$$0 < \|N\| < \infty.$$

This can be seen as follows: Let $(N', \partial N')$ be the compact manifold with boundary obtained from *M* by removing the same (finite) number of open *n*-balls. By construction, *N* is homeomorphic to the interior of *N'* and the boundary of *N'* consists of a finite disjoint union of (n - 1)-spheres.

In particular, the boundary of N' is ℓ^1 -invisible (Proposition (6.10).2). Hence, the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)) shows that $||N|| < \infty$.

Why is ||N|| non-zero? By Proposition (5.12) it suffices to show $||N', \partial N'|| > 0$. By construction, $N' = M \setminus (D_1^{\circ} \sqcup \ldots D_k^{\circ})$, where $D_1, \ldots, D_k \subset M$ are small *n*-disks. Because $H_b^n(D_1 \sqcup \cdots \sqcup D_k) = 0$, the singular chain complex $C_*(D_1 \sqcup \cdots \sqcup D_k)$ satisfies the uniform boundary condition in degree n - 1 [38; Theorem 2.8]. Let $K \in \mathbf{R}_{>0}$ be the corresponding constant as in the Definition (6.7).

If $c' \in C_n(N')$ is a relative fundamental cycle of $(N', \partial N')$, then $\partial c' \in C_{n-1}(\partial N')$ is a cycle; because $H_{n-1}(D_1 \sqcup \cdots \sqcup D_k) = 0$, this cycle is null-homologous in the chain complex $C_*(D_1 \sqcup \cdots \sqcup D_k)$.

Therefore, the uniform boundary condition guarantees the existence of a chain $b \in C_n (D_1 \sqcup \cdots \sqcup D_k)$ with

$$\partial b = -\partial c'$$
 and $\|b\|_1 \le K \cdot \|\partial c'\|_1 \le (n+1) \cdot K \cdot \|c'\|_1$

In particular, the chain $c := c' + b \in C_n(M)$ is a cycle. Because c and c' coincide on N'° , the cycle c is a fundamental cycle of M (Theorem (5.4)).

This implies

$$M\| \le \|c\|_1 \le \|c'\|_1 + (n+1) \cdot K \cdot \|c'\|_1$$

and hence $||N', \partial N'|| \ge 1/(1 + (n+1) \cdot K) \cdot ||M|| > 0$, as desired.

9	7

 \diamond

6 A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume

For example, many of the oriented, hyperbolic surfaces of finite volume can be obtained in this way. In fact, all oriented, hyperbolic surfaces have finite, non-zero simplicial volume and the value can be computed explicitly (in terms of the volume) [57, 34]. However, these computations are beyond the scope of this text.

6.4.4 Lack of homotopy invariance in the non-compact case

We have already seen that the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds is not homotopy invariant in general (Example (6.17)), but only invariant under proper homotopy equivalences. With little more effort, we can also show that the simplicial volume of non-compact manifolds is not even homotopy invariant in the class of non-compact manifolds with *finite* simplicial volume:

Example (6.19). Let $(W, \partial W)$ be an oriented, compact, connected surface of genus at least 2 with non-empty boundary. Clearly, $W^{\circ} \simeq W^{\circ} \times \mathbb{R}^{2}$, but

$$0 < \|W^\circ\| < \infty,$$

 $0 = \|W^\circ \times \mathbf{R}^2\|.$

The first line is an instance of Example (6.18), the second line follows in view of $||W^{\circ}|| < \infty$ and $||\mathbf{R}^{2}|| = 0$ from the product formula (Theorem (C.7)).

6.4.5 Locally symmetric spaces of non-compact type of finite volume

A class of non-compact manifolds with nice compactification arises naturally in differential geometry, namely in the study of locally symmetric spaces of non-compact type with finite volume.

We begin with hyperbolic manifolds of finite volume (Example (6.20)). In Examples (6.21) and (6.22), we study locally symmetric spaces of non-compact type given by arithmetic lattices; an introduction to arithmetic lattices and the corresponding locally symmetric spaces can be found in the book of Borel and Ji [3; Section III.2], where also a number of examples of such spaces is discussed.

Example (6.20). Let *M* be an oriented, connected, complete hyperbolic *n*-manifold. Then a classic theorem [1; Corollary D.3.14] asserts that there is an oriented, compact, connected *n*-manifold $(W, \partial W)$ with boundary such that $M \cong W^{\circ}$ and all connected components of the boundary ∂W are manifolds admitting a flat Riemannian structure.

By Corollary (6.14), oriented, closed, connected, flat manifolds are ℓ^1 -invisible. Therefore, the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)) yields that the simplicial volume of *M* is finite.

In this situation, one can even show that $||M|| = ||W, \partial W||$: The chain complex $C_*(\partial W)$ satisfies the uniform boundary condition in degree n - 1 because all connected components of ∂W are amenable (cf. proof of Corollary (6.14)) and hence $H_b^n(\partial W) = 0$ [38; Theorem 2.8]. Let $K \in \mathbf{R}_{>0}$ be the corresponding constant as in Definition (6.7).

The proof of the finiteness criterion shows that if $c \in C_n(W)$ is a relative fundamental cycle of $(W, \partial W)$, then we can find a locally finite fundamental cycle c'of M satisfying $||c'||_1 \leq ||c||_1 + 2 \cdot K \cdot ||\partial c||_1$. Therefore, Gromov's "equivalence theorem" [18; p. 57] lets us deduce that $||M|| \leq ||W, \partial W||$. On the other hand, we also have the reverse inequality by Proposition (5.12).

Notice however that there does not seem to be a complete proof of the equivalence theorem in the literature. Gromov's proof is rather sketchy, and Park's approach [47, 46] is incomplete (in the ℓ^1 -case) and does deal with a different semi-norm on the relative homology groups (both in the ℓ^1 -case as well as in the bounded cohomology case).

Example (6.21). Let $M = \Gamma \setminus G/K$ be an oriented, connected, locally symmetric space (of non-compact type) with finite volume, where Γ is an arithmetic lattice of **Q**-rank equal to 1. Then the simplicial volume of *M* is finite:

In this situation, it is known that *M* is homeomorphic to the interior of an oriented, compact manifold $(W, \partial W)$ with boundary, the Borel-Serre compactification [4, 3].

Moreover, each connected component of ∂W is a fibre bundle, whose fibre is an oriented, closed, connected nil-manifold and whose base is an oriented, closed, connected manifold [3; Proposition III.9.20]; the stratification of the boundary in this case is especially simple because in the **Q**-rank 1 case all proper, **Q**-parabolic subgroups are minimal [3; III.1.8]. The fundamental groups of nil-manifolds are nilpotent and hence amenable [48; p. 13]; thus, the fibres have amenable fundamental group.

Therefore, ∂W is ℓ^1 -invisible (Proposition (6.10).6) and hence ||M|| is finite by the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)).

Example (6.22). Let $M = \Gamma \setminus G/K$ be an oriented, connected, locally symmetric space (of non-compact type) with finite volume, where Γ is an arithmetic lattice of **Q**-rank at least 3. Then ||M|| is finite:

6 A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume

Let $n := \dim M$. It is known that under the assumptions above M is the interior of an oriented, compact, connected n-manifold $(W, \partial W)$, where the boundary ∂W is connected and the map $\pi_1(\partial W) \longrightarrow \pi_1(W)$ induced by the inclusion is an isomorphism [4; Section 11.2].

By the mapping theorem (Corollary (4.2)), the homomorphism $H_*^{\ell^1}(\partial W) \longrightarrow H_*^{\ell^1}(W)$ induced by the inclusion is an isometric isomorphism. Therefore, the long exact sequence in ℓ^1 -homology (Proposition (2.7)) of the pair $(W, \partial W)$ shows that $H_n^{\ell^1}(W, \partial W) = 0$. Because $\partial [W, \partial W] = [\partial W]$, the commutative diagram

$$H_{n}(W,\partial W) \longrightarrow H_{n}^{\ell^{1}}(W,\partial W)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$H_{n-1}(W) \longrightarrow H_{n}^{\ell^{1}}(W)$$

(where the horizontal arrows are the comparison maps and the vertical arrows are the boundary operators of the respective long exact sequences in homology) yields that ∂W is ℓ^1 -invisible. In particular, ||M|| is finite (Theorem (6.1)).

Notice that $H_n^{\ell^1}(W, \partial W) = 0$ implies $||W, \partial W|| = 0$ (Proposition (5.13)) – in contrast to the closed case (Section 5.4). It might be even true that ||M|| = 0.

Because all the examples of locally symmetric spaces considered in this section have complete Riemannian metrics of finite volume and bounded sectional curvature, their minimal volume is finite. Therefore, also Gromov's estimate of the simplicial volume by the minimal volume (Section 5.4) shows that the simplicial volume of these examples must be finite.

The advantage of the approach via the finiteness criterion is that it depends only on topological information and that it is more concrete – one can actually see where the finiteness comes from.

6.4.6 Products of manifolds

The simplicial volume of products of manifolds can be estimated from above by the product of the simplicial volumes of the factors (cf. Section 5.4 and Theorem (C.7)). But this estimate cannot deal with the tricky case that one of the factors has zero simplicial volume and the other one has infinite simplicial volume [18; p. 10].

In a very special case, ℓ^1 -invisibility completely determines the simplicial volume of such products:

6.4 Applying the finiteness criterion

Proposition (6.23). Let M be an oriented, closed, connected n-manifold. Then

$$\|M \times \mathbf{R}\| = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } M \text{ is } \ell^1 \text{-invisible,} \\ \infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Proof. Because $M \times \mathbf{R}$ is the interior of the compact manifold $M \times [0,1]$ with boundary $M \sqcup M$, the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)) yields that $||M \times \mathbf{R}||$ is finite if and only if M is ℓ^1 -invisible.

Therefore, it remains to show that $||M \times \mathbf{R}|| = 0$ provided M is ℓ^1 -invisible: In the case that M is ℓ^1 -invisible, the proof of the finiteness criterion (applied to $M \times [0,1]$) shows that there is a locally finite chain $c \in C_{n+1}^{\text{lf}}(M \times [0,\infty))$ such that the sequence $(c_k)_{k \in \mathbf{N}}$ of chains given by

$$c_k := c|_{M \times (k,\infty)}$$

satisfies the following properties:

- 1. For each $k \in \mathbf{N}$ we have $c_k \in C_{n+1}^{\text{lf}}(M \times [k, \infty))$ and $\partial c_k \in C_n(M \times \{k\})$.
- 2. For each $k \in \mathbf{N}$ and each $x \in M \times (k, \infty)$ the restriction $c_k|_{\{x\}}$ is a relative fundamental cycle of $(M \times [k, \infty), M \times [k, \infty) \setminus \{x\})$.
- 3. Moreover, $\lim_{k\to\infty} ||c_k||_1 = 0$.

For each $k \in \mathbf{N}$, we now consider the mirror images

$$\overline{c_k} := C_{n+1}^{\mathrm{lf}} (\mathrm{id}_M \times r_k)(c_k) \in C_{n+1}^{\mathrm{lf}} (M \times (-\infty, k]),$$

where $r_k \colon \mathbf{R} \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ denotes reflection at k. Then $c_k - \overline{c_k} \in C_{n+1}^{\text{lf}}(M \times \mathbf{R})$ is a cycle, which is a fundamental cycle of $M \times \mathbf{R}$ (this follows from 2. and Theorem (5.4)). Therefore, we obtain

$$\|M imes \mathbf{R}\| \leq \inf_{k \in \mathbf{N}} \|c_k - \overline{c_k}\|_1 \leq \inf_{k \in \mathbf{N}} 2 \cdot \|c_k\|_1 = 0.$$

Hence, any oriented, closed, connected manifold with vanishing simplicial volume that is not ℓ^1 -invisible would produce the first example of two manifolds M and N with ||M|| = 0, $||N|| = \infty$ and $||M \times N|| \neq 0$.

A related problem is to find an example of two open manifolds whose product has non-zero simplicial volume. Again, the finiteness criterion helps us to catch such an example red-handed: 6 A finiteness criterion for simplicial volume

Example (6.24). Let $(M, \partial M)$ be an oriented, compact, connected surface of genus at least 1 with non-empty boundary. Then

$$||M^{\circ} \times \mathbf{R}|| = \infty.$$

This is a consequence of the finiteness criterion: Clearly, $M^{\circ} \times \mathbf{R}$ is the interior of the compact manifold $M \times [0, 1]$ with boundary

$$\partial (M \times [0,1]) = M \times \{0,1\} \cup_{\partial M \times \{0,1\}} \partial M \times [0,1],$$

which is nothing but an oriented, closed, connected surface of genus at least 2. Because hyperbolic surfaces are not ℓ^1 -invisible (Corollary (6.14)), the finiteness criterion (Theorem (6.1)) shows that $||M^{\circ} \times \mathbf{R}||$ is infinite.

Surprisingly, all information on the factors is lost when considering the simplicial volume of threefold products of open manifolds (Example (C.9)).

Homo B

Homological algebra of Banach *G*-modules

Brooks [6] and Ivanov [25] adapted (relative) homological algebra in the sense of Hochschild [23] to fit the needs of bounded cohomology of discrete groups. In this chapter, we introduce the basic objects of this theory and investigate their compatibility with taking (topological) duals. The key concepts are strong relatively projective and injective resolutions, which lead to the desirable fundamental lemma (Proposition (A.7)). Concrete examples of these concepts are studied in Section 2.2.

A more detailed account of the material collected in this chapter is, for example, presented in the work of Ivanov [25] and Monod [42], as well as (for the non-Banach case) in the book of Guichardet [21]. An alternative approach to homological algebra of Banach *G*-modules was created by Bühler [11].

A.1 Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach *G*-modules

The atoms of the variant of (relative) homological algebra presented in the following are Banach *G*-modules with a suitable notion of projectivity and injectivity.

A Homological algebra of Banach G-modules



Figure (A.2). Mapping problems for relatively projective and relatively injective Banach *G*-modules respectively

Definition (A.1). Let *G* be a discrete group.

- 1. A **Banach** *G***-module** is a Banach space *V* with a *G*-action $G \times V \longrightarrow V$ such that for each $g \in G$ the linear map $v \mapsto g \cdot v$ is an isometry.
- 2. A *G*-morphism is a bounded linear map between Banach *G*-modules that is *G*-equivariant.
- 3. A *G*-morphism $\pi: U \longrightarrow W$ is called **relatively projective** if there is a (not necessarily equivariant) linear map $\sigma: W \longrightarrow U$ satisfying

$$\pi \circ \sigma = \mathrm{id}_W$$
 and $\|\sigma\| \leq 1$.

4. A *G*-morphism $i: U \longrightarrow W$ is called **relatively injective** if there is a (not necessarily equivariant) linear map $\sigma: W \longrightarrow U$ satisfying

$$\sigma \circ i = \mathrm{id}_U$$
 and $\|\sigma\| \leq 1$.

5. A Banach *G*-module *V* is called **relatively projective** if for each relatively projective *G*-morphism $\pi: U \longrightarrow W$ and each *G*-morphism $\alpha: V \longrightarrow W$ there is a *G*-morphism $\beta: V \longrightarrow U$ such that

$$\pi \circ \beta = \alpha$$
 and $\|\beta\| \le \|\alpha\|$.

6. A Banach *G*-module *V* is called **relatively injective** if for each relatively injective *G*-morphism $i: U \longrightarrow W$ and for each *G*-morphism $\alpha: U \longrightarrow V$ there is a *G*-morphism $\beta: W \longrightarrow V$ such that

$$\beta \circ i = \alpha$$
 and $\|\beta\| \le \|\alpha\|$.

The mapping problems arising in the definition of relatively projective and relatively injective Banach *G*-modules are depicted in Figure (A.2). Sometimes, "relatively injective" and "relatively projective" morphisms are also called "admissible monomorphisms" and "admissible epimorphisms" respectively.

A.1 Relatively injective and relatively projective Banach G-modules

The most basic example of a Banach *G*-module with non-trivial group action is $\ell^1(G)$, the set of all ℓ^1 -functions $G \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ with the *G*-action given by shifting the argument. Obviously, any Banach *G*-module is a module over $\ell^1(G)$. However, the homological algebra we use does not coincide with the homological algebra in the category of $\ell^1(G)$ -modules. Even worse, the category of Banach *G*-modules is (like the category of Banach spaces) not Abelian.

Relatively projective Banach G-modules are flat in the following sense [11]:

Proposition (A.3). Let G be a discrete group, let $0 \longrightarrow U \xrightarrow{i} V \xrightarrow{p} W \longrightarrow 0$, be a short exact sequence of G-morphisms of Banach G-modules with relatively injective *i*, and let A be a relatively projective G-module. Then the induced sequences

$$\begin{array}{ccc} 0 \longrightarrow B(A, W')^G \longrightarrow B(A, V')^G \longrightarrow B(A, U')^G \longrightarrow 0, \\ 0 \longrightarrow (A \overline{\otimes} U)_G \longrightarrow (A \overline{\otimes} V)_G \longrightarrow (A \overline{\otimes} W)_G \longrightarrow 0 \end{array}$$

are exact.

Proof. We obtain from the duality principle (Theorem (3.5)) that the induced sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow W' \stackrel{p'}{\longrightarrow} V' \stackrel{i'}{\longrightarrow} U' \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact. By assumption, *i* is relatively injective and therefore its dual *i'* is relatively projective. Because the Banach *G*-module *A* is relatively projective, it follows that $B(\mathrm{id}_A, i')^G \colon B(A, V')^G \longrightarrow B(A, U')^G$ is surjective.

A straightforward calculation yields that also the truncated sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow B(A, W')^G \longrightarrow B(A, V')^G \longrightarrow B(A, U')^G$$

is exact. Therefore, the first part of the proposition is proved.

For the second part, we observe that there is a commutative ladder

$$((A \overline{\otimes} W)_G)' \longrightarrow ((A \overline{\otimes} V)_G)' \longrightarrow ((A \overline{\otimes} U)_G)' \| \| \| \\ B(A, W')^G \longrightarrow B(A, V')^G \longrightarrow B(A, U')^G,$$

whose vertical morphisms are isometric isomorphisms of Banach *G*-modules (Remark (1.13) and Proposition (1.14)). The duality principle (Theorem (3.5)) shows that also the sequence $0 \longrightarrow (A \otimes U)_G \longrightarrow (A \otimes V)_G \longrightarrow (A \otimes W)_G \longrightarrow 0$ is exact.

A Homological algebra of Banach G-modules



Figure (A.5). Diagrams occurring in the proof of Proposition (A.4)

Taking duals transforms relatively projective modules into relatively injective modules; because not all Banach spaces are reflexive, it seems unlikely that the converse of this proposition holds.

Proposition (A.4). Let V be a relatively projective Banach G-module. Then its dual V' is a relatively injective Banach G-module.

Proof. In order to show that V' is a relatively injective Banach *G*-module we have to find a *G*-morphism $\beta: W \longrightarrow V'$ fitting into the diagram Figure (A.5)(a) whenever $\alpha: U \longrightarrow V'$ is a *G*-morphism and $i: U \longrightarrow W$ is a *G*-morphism admitting a (not necessarily equivariant) split $\sigma: W \longrightarrow U$ satisfying $\sigma \circ i = \operatorname{id}_U$ and $\|\sigma\| \le 1$.

There is an isometric embedding [49; 2.3.7]

$$j_V \colon V \longrightarrow V''$$
$$v \longmapsto (f \mapsto f(v)),$$

which is *G*-equivariant, of *V* into its double dual *V*". (However, this embedding is not surjective in general). Taking the dual of the solid part of diagram Figure (A.5)(a) thus gives rise to Figure (A.5)(b). Clearly, we have $i' \circ \sigma' = id_{W'}$ and $\|\sigma'\| \leq \|\sigma\| \leq 1$. Because *V* is relatively projective, we there exits a *G*-morphism $\gamma: V \longrightarrow W'$ such that $i' \circ \gamma = \alpha' \circ j_V$ and $\|\gamma\| \leq \|\alpha \circ j_V\| \leq \|\alpha\|$.

Dualising a second time yields the commutative diagram Figure (A.5)(c). Unfolding the various definitions shows that $(\alpha' \circ j_V)' \circ j_U = \alpha$. Hence, $\beta := \gamma' \circ j_W$ is a *G*-morphism with $\beta \circ i = \alpha$ and $\|\beta\| \le \|\gamma'\| \cdot 1 \le \|\alpha\|$.

A.2 Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions

The key concept of homological algebra is the adequate notion of projective and injective resolutions leading to the fundamental lemma of homological algebra (Proposition (A.7)). In our case, the special form of the mapping problems occurring in the definition of relatively projective/injective *G*-modules forces us to consider so-called "strong" resolutions.

Definition (A.6). Let *G* be a discrete group and let *V* be a Banach *G*-module.

- 1. Let (C, ∂) be a Banach *G*-chain complex (cf. Definition (1.15)). An **augmentation** of *C* with respect to *V* is a *G*-morphism $\varepsilon \colon C_0 \longrightarrow V$ satisfying $\varepsilon \circ \partial_1 = 0$. If ε is an augmentation of *C*, then the concatenation of *C* and $\varepsilon \colon C_0 \longrightarrow V$ is a Banach *G*-chain complex, which we denote by $C \square \varepsilon$.
- 2. Dually, an **augmentation** of a Banach *G*-cochain complex (C, δ) is a *G*-morphism $\varepsilon: C_0 \longrightarrow V$ satisfying $\delta_0 \circ \varepsilon = 0$. The concatenation of $\varepsilon: V \longrightarrow C_0$ and *C* is then a Banach *G*-cochain complex, which is denoted by $\varepsilon \circ C$.
- 3. A (left) resolution of *V* is a Banach *G*-chain complex *C* together with an augmentation $\varepsilon: C_0 \longrightarrow V$ such that $H_*(C \square \varepsilon) = 0$.
- 4. A (right) resolution of *V* is Banach *G*-cochain complex *C* together with an augmentation $\varepsilon: V \longrightarrow C_0$ such that $H^*(\varepsilon \square C) = 0$.
- 5. A resolution of *V* by Banach *G*-modules is called **strong** if the concatenated Banach *G*-(co)chain complex admits a (not necessarily equivariant) chain contraction of norm at most 1.
- 6. A resolution of *V* is called **relatively projective** (or **relatively injective**) if it consists of relatively projective Banach *G*-modules (or relatively injective Banach *G*-modules respectively). ♢

Now the fundamental lemma reads as follows:

Proposition (A.7) (Fundamental lemma). Let G be a discrete group, let V and W be two Banach G-modules, and let $f: V \longrightarrow W$ be a G-morphism.

1. If $(C, \varepsilon: C_0 \to V)$ is an augmented Banach G-chain complex consisting of relatively projective G-modules and $(D, \eta: D_0 \to W)$ is a strong resolution of W,

A Homological algebra of Banach G-modules

then f can be extended to a morphism $C \square \varepsilon \longrightarrow D \square \varepsilon$ of Banach G-chain complexes. Moreover, this morphism is unique up to G-homotopy.

2. Dually, if $(D, \eta: W \to D^0)$ is an augmented Banach G-cochain complex consisting of relatively injective G-modules and if $(C, \varepsilon: V \to C^0)$ is a strong resolution of V, then f can be extended to a morphism $\varepsilon \circ C \longrightarrow \eta \circ D$ of Banach G-cochain complexes and this morphism is unique up to G-homotopy.

Proof. The fundamental lemma can be proved using standard techniques from homological algebra [21, 42; Proposition 2.2, Lemma 7.2.4]. For example, in order to find an extension of f in the first part, we inductively solve mapping problems of the form



(where $f_{-1} := f$). This is a mapping problem in the sense of Definition (A.1) because im $\partial_{n+1}^D = \ker \partial_n^D$ is closed – and hence indeed a Banach *G*-module – and any contracting homotopy of *D* provides a (non-equivariant) split of the *G*-morphism $\partial_{n+1}^D : D_{n+1} \longrightarrow \operatorname{im} \partial_{n+1}^D$ of norm at most 1. Therefore, the relative projectivity of C_{n+1} ensures the existence of a solution f_{n+1} .

Proposition (A.4) extends to resolutions and thus dualising transforms (strong) relatively projective resolutions into (strong) relatively injective ones:

Proposition (A.8). Let G be a discrete group and let $(C, \varepsilon: C_0 \to V)$ be a relatively projective resolution of the Banach G-module V. Then its dual $(C', \varepsilon': V' \to C'^0)$ is a relatively injective resolution of the Banach G-module V'.

If the resolution (C, ε) *is strong, then so is* (C', ε') *.*

Proof. By Proposition (A.4) the Banach *G*-cochain complex *C'* consists of relatively injective Banach *G*-modules. Since (C, ε) is a resolution, $H_*(C \square \varepsilon) = 0$. Because the Banach *G*-cochain complexes $(C \square \varepsilon)'$ and $\varepsilon' \square C'$ are isomorphic, we obtain $H_*(\varepsilon' \square C') = 0$ from the duality principle (Theorem (3.5)). Hence, (C', ε') is a resolution of *V'*.

If (C, ε) is strong, then the dual of a chain contraction of $C \square \varepsilon$ with norm at most 1 is a cochain contraction of the dual $\varepsilon' \square C'$ with norm at most 1, i.e., (C', ε') is a strong resolution of V'.

A.2 Relatively injective and relatively projective resolutions

The following consequence of the fundamental lemma (Proposition (A.7)) lies at the heart of the definition of group (co)homology in this Banach-flavoured setting (see Definition (2.17) and Theorem (2.18)).

Proposition (A.9). Let G be a discrete group and let V be a Banach G-module.

1. If $(C, \varepsilon: C_0 \to V)$ and $(D, \eta: D_0 \to V)$ are two strong relatively projective (left) resolutions of V, then there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H_*(C_G) \cong H_*(D_G).$$

2. Dually, if $(C, \varepsilon: V \to C^0)$ and $(D, \eta: V \to D^0)$ are two strong relatively injective (right) resolutions of V, then there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H^*(C^G) \cong H^*(D^G).$$

However, the canonical isomorphisms mentioned in the proposition need not be isometric.

Proof. Clearly, any morphism $\varphi \colon C \square \varepsilon \longrightarrow D \square \varepsilon$ of Banach *G*-chain complexes induces a morphism $C_G \longrightarrow D_G$ of Banach chain complexes. Similarly, *G*-homotopies descend to (bounded) homotopies on the coinvariants. Hence, Proposition (A.7) applied to the *G*-morphism id : $V \longrightarrow V$ proves the first part.

In the same way the second part can be derived from Proposition (A.7). \Box

A Homological algebra of Banach G-modules

B

Bounded cohomology with twisted coefficients

Ivanov proved that bounded cohomology of topological spaces (with **R**-coefficients) can be computed in terms of strong relatively injective resolutions of **R** [25; Theorem 4.1]. This appendix is devoted to the generalisation of Ivanov's result to bounded cohomology with twisted coefficients:

Theorem (B.1). *Let X be a countable, connected CW-complex with fundamental group G and let V be a Banach G-module.*

1. The morphism $\vartheta_{V'}: C_b^*(G; V') \longrightarrow C_b^*(\widetilde{X}; V')$ of Banach G-cochain complexes (defined in (4.16)) induces an isometric isomorphism

$$H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X;V') \cong H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G;V').$$

Moreover, this isometric isomorphism does not depend on the choice of fundamental domain used in the definition of the $\vartheta_{V'}$.

2. In particular: If C is a strong relatively injective G-resolution of V', then there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X; V') \cong H^*(C^G)$$

3. If C is a strong relatively projective G-resolution of \mathbf{R} , then there is a canonical isomorphism (degreewise isomorphism of semi-normed vector spaces)

$$H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X;V') \cong H^*(B(C,V')^G).$$

The proof of the first part relies on the following observation:

Lemma (B.2). Let X be a countable, connected CW-complex with fundamental group G and let V be a Banach G-module. The cochain complex $C_b^*(\widetilde{X}; V') = B(C_*^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}), V')$ together with the augmentation $\varepsilon_X \colon V' \longrightarrow C_b^0(\widetilde{X}; V')$ given by the obvious inclusion is an approximate strong relatively injective G-resolution of V'.

Definition (B.3). Let *G* be a discrete group.

- 1. If *C* is a Banach *G*-cochain complex and $n \in \mathbf{N}$, we define the **truncated cochain complex** $C|_n$ to be the Banach *G*-cochain complex derived from *C* by keeping only the modules (and the corresponding coboundary operators) in degree $0, \ldots, n$ and defining all modules in higher degrees to be 0.
- 2. An augmented Banach *G*-cochain complex $(C, \varepsilon: V \to C^0)$ is an **approximate strong resolution** of the Banach *G*-module *V* if for every $n \in \mathbf{N}$, the truncated complex $C|_n$ admits a **partial contracting cochain homotopy**, i.e., linear maps $(K_j: C^j \to C^{j-1})_{j \in \{1,...,n\}}$ and $K_0: C^0 \to V$ of norm at most 1 satisfying

$$\forall_{j \in \{1,\dots,n-1\}} \quad \delta^{j-1} \circ K_j + K_{j+1} \circ \delta^j = \mathrm{id}_{C^j}$$

= id_{V}

 \diamond

as well as $K_0 \circ \varepsilon = \mathrm{id}_V$.

The proof of Lemma (B.2) is a straightforward generalisation of Ivanov's proof of the fact that $C_b^*(\widetilde{X})$ is a strong relatively injective $\pi_1(X)$ -resolution of **R**, one of the main steps being the following splitting:

Lemma (B.4). Let X and Y be simply connected spaces, let $p: X \longrightarrow Y$ be a principal bundle whose structure group is an Abelian topological group G, and let V be a Banach space. Then for each $n \in \mathbf{N}$ there is a partial split of $C_{\mathbf{b}}^*(p; V')|_n$, i.e., a cochain map

$$A|_n \colon C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X;V')|_n \longrightarrow C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(Y;V')|_n$$

of truncated complexes satisfying for all $j \in \{0, ..., n\}$

$$A|_n^j \circ C^j_{\mathbf{b}}(p; V') = \mathrm{id}$$
 and $||A|_n^j|| \le 1.$

Proof (of Lemma (B.4)). This can be shown in exactly the same way as the corresponding statement for **R**-coefficients [25; Theorem 2.2]:

Let $n \in \mathbf{N}$. Then the group $G_n := \max(\Delta^n, G)$ is Abelian and hence amenable (when regarded as discrete group). Therefore, there exists a G_n -equivariant mean

$$m: B(G_n, V') \longrightarrow V',$$

where V' is endowed with the trivial G_n -action. Such a mean can, for example, be constructed via

$$m: B(G_n, V') \longrightarrow V'$$
$$f \longmapsto \left(v \mapsto m_{\mathbf{R}} \big(g \mapsto (f(g))(v) \big) \big),$$

where $m_{\mathbf{R}}$: $B(G_n, \mathbf{R}) \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ is a G_n -invariant mean provided by amenability of G_n .

Now the same construction as in Ivanov's proof [25; proof of Theorem 2.2] gives rise to the partial split $A|_n$. (Perhaps there is no total split $C_b^*(X; V') \longrightarrow C_b^*(Y; V')$ because – unlike in the case with **R**-coefficients [25; p. 1094] – the theorem of Banach-Alaoglu cannot be applied directly to the space $B(B(G_n, V'), V')$. But for our applications the partial splits suffice.)

Using Lemma (B.4), we can construct the required partial contracting homotopies of the bounded chain complex with twisted coefficients as in Ivanov's proof for **R**-coefficients:

Proof (of Lemma (B.2)). Because \widetilde{X} is a simply connected countable CW-complex, there is a sequence

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{p_n} X_n \xrightarrow{p_{n-1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{p_2} X_2 \xrightarrow{p_1} X_1 := \widetilde{X}$$

of principal bundles $(p_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}}$ with Abelian structure groups such that

 $\forall_{j \in \{0,\dots,n\}} \quad \pi_j(X_n) = 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \forall_{j \in \mathbf{N}_{>n}} \quad \pi_j(X_n) = \pi_j(\widetilde{X})$

holds for all $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ [25; p. 1096]. In particular, all the X_n are simply connected.

Let $n \in \mathbf{N}$. Since X_n is *n*-connected, one can explicitly construct a partial chain contraction

$$\mathbf{R} \xrightarrow{L_0} C_0(X_n) \xrightarrow{L_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{L_n} C_n(X_n)$$

with $||L_j|| \le 1$ for all $j \in \{0, ..., n\}$ [25; p. 1097]. Because *L* is bounded, it can be extended to a partial cochain contraction

$$\mathbf{R} \xrightarrow{\overline{L_0}} C_0^{\ell^1}(X_n) \xrightarrow{\overline{L_1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{\overline{L_n}} C_n^{\ell^1}(X_n),$$

which also satisfies $\|\overline{L_i}\| \leq 1$. Therefore, the induced maps

$$V' = B(\mathbf{R}, V') \xleftarrow{B(\overline{L_0}, \mathrm{id}_{V'})} C^0_{\mathrm{b}}(X_n; V') \xleftarrow{B(\overline{L_1}, \mathrm{id}_{V'})} \cdots \xleftarrow{B(\overline{L_n}, \mathrm{id}_{V'})} C^n_{\mathrm{b}}(X_n; V')$$

form a partial cochain contraction with norm at most 1. Using the splits from Lemma (B.4), we can transfer this partial contracting cochain map of X_n to one of X: By Lemma (B.4), for $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ we find partial splits

$$A(j)|_n \colon C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X_{j+1}; V')|_n \longrightarrow C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X_j; V')|_n$$

of $C_{\mathbf{b}}^*(p_i)|_n$. We consider the maps

$$V' \xleftarrow{K_0} C_b^0(\widetilde{X}; V') \xleftarrow{K_1} \cdots \xleftarrow{K_n} C_b^n(\widetilde{X}; V')$$

defined by

$$K_j := A(1)|_n \circ \cdots \circ A(n-1)|_n \circ B(\overline{L_j}, \operatorname{id}_{V'}) \circ C_b^j(p_{n-1}; V') \circ \cdots \circ C_b^j(p_1; V')$$

for all $j \in \{0, ..., n\}$. By construction, $||K_j|| \le 1$ and $K_0, ..., K_n$ form a partial cochain contraction [25; p. 1096].

It remains to show that the Banach *G*-modules $C_b^n(\widetilde{X}; V')$ are relatively injective: Let $F \subset \widetilde{X}$ be a fundamental domain for the *G*-action on \widetilde{X} . For $n \in \mathbf{N}$, we write $F_n \subset C_n^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})$ for the Banach subspace generated by all singular simplices mapping the zeroth vertex of Δ^n into *F*. Then

$$C_n^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X}) = \ell^1(G) \overline{\otimes} F_n$$

(as Banach G-modules). In particular, we obtain (cf. Remark (1.13))

$$C_{\mathbf{b}}^{n}(\widetilde{X};V') = B(C_{n}^{\ell^{1}}(\widetilde{X}),V') = B(\ell^{1}(G) \otimes F_{n},V') = B(\ell^{1}(G),B(F_{n},V')).$$

Because $B(\ell^1(G), B(F_n, V'))$ is a relatively injective Banach *G*-module [42; Proposition 4.4.1], it follows that $C_b^n(\widetilde{X}; V')$ is relatively injective.

Hence, the cochain complex $(C_b^*(\tilde{X}; V'), \varepsilon_X)$ is an approximate strong relatively injective resolution of V'.

Theorem (B.1) can now be deduced from Lemma (B.2) by means of homological algebra:

Proof (of Theorem (2.28)). Ad 1. The pair $(C_b^*(\widetilde{X}; V'), \varepsilon_X \colon V' \to C_b^0(\widetilde{X}; V'))$ is an approximate strong relatively injective resolution of V' by Lemma (B.2).

The morphism $\vartheta_{V'} \colon C_b^*(G; V') \longrightarrow C_b^*(X; V')$ of Banach *G*-cochain complexes constructed in the proof of Corollary (4.14) satisfies (where $\varepsilon \colon C_0^{\ell^1}(G) \longrightarrow \mathbf{R}$ is the augmentation of Definition (2.12))

$$\varepsilon_X \circ \vartheta^0_{V'} = B(\varepsilon, \mathrm{id}_V) \circ \mathrm{id}_{V'}.$$

I.e., $\operatorname{id}_{V'} \circ \vartheta_{V'} \colon B(\varepsilon, \operatorname{id}_V) \circ C_b^*(G; V') \longrightarrow \varepsilon_X \circ C_b^*(\widetilde{X}; V')$ is a morphism of Banach *G*-cochain complexes.

The inductive proof of Proposition (A.7) depends only on finite initial parts of the resolutions in question. Because $(C_b^*(G; V'), B(\varepsilon, id_V))$ is a strong relatively injective resolution (Proposition (2.19)), it follows that $\vartheta_{V'}$ is the (up to *G*-homotopy) unique morphism of Banach *G*-cochain complexes from $C_b^*(G; V')$ to $C_b^*(\widetilde{X}; V')$ and that $\vartheta_{V'}$ admits a *G*-homotopy inverse.

In particular, the restriction of $\vartheta_{V'}$ to the *G*-invariants induces an isomorphism

$$H^*(C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X;V')) \cong H^*(C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G;V')^G) = H^*_{\mathbf{b}}(G;V'),$$

which is independent of the choice of fundamental domain used in the definition of $\vartheta_{V'}$.

Furthermore, this isomorphism is even isometric: By construction, $\|\vartheta_{V'}\| \leq 1$. Conversely, it is known that the semi-norm on $H_b^*(G; V')$ induced by the norm on the standard resolution $C_b^*(G; V')$ is "minimal" [42; Corollary 7.4.7, Theorem 7.3.1]. Therefore, the isomorphism on cohomology induced by $\vartheta_{V'}$ must be isometric.

Ad 2. and 3. Combining the first part with Theorem (2.18) shows that we can also compute $H_b^*(X; V')$ in the stated form via strong relatively injective resolutions.

Gromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds

It is natural to ask whether the simplicial volume of a non-compact manifold can also be computed in terms of a suitable semi-norm evaluated on the dual fundamental class in cohomology with compact supports. Although the naïve duality $||M|| = 1/||[M]^*||_{\infty}$ fails in general (Remark (C.4)), it is still possible to explicitly describe a semi-norm $|| \cdot ||_{\infty}^{\text{lf}}$ on cohomology with compact supports such that

$$\|M\| = \frac{1}{\|[M]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}}}$$

holds (Theorem (C.2)). In this appendix, we give a complete proof of this duality and apply it to derive a generalised product formula (Theorem (C.7)) as indicated by Gromov [18; p. 17f].

C.1 Statement of the non-compact duality principle

As first step, we recall Gromov's definition [18; p. 17] of the semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}^{\text{lf}}$ on cohomology with compact supports:

C Gromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds

Definition (C.1). Let *M* be a topological space, let $N \subset M$ be a subspace, let $k \in \mathbf{N}$, and let $A \in S_k^{\text{lf}}(M)$; the definition of $S_k^{\text{lf}}(M)$ is contained in Definition (5.1).

1. If $f \in C^{k}(M)$, then

$$\|f\|_{\infty}^{A} := \sup_{\sigma \in A} |f(\sigma)| \in [0,\infty].$$

The corresponding semi-norms $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}^{A}$ on the cohomology groups $H^{k}(M, N)$ and $H_{cs}^{k}(M)$ are defined as the infimum of the above norm of all representatives of the cohomology class in question.

2. Moreover, for $\varphi \in H^k(M, N)$ or $\varphi \in H^k_{cs}(M)$, we write

$$\|arphi\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}}:=\sup_{A\in S_k^{\mathrm{lf}}(M)}\|arphi\|_{\infty}^A\in [0,\infty]$$

Notice that the semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_\infty^{lf}$ only exists on the level of cohomology, but not on the level of cochains.

3. Similarly, if $c = \sum_{\sigma \in B} a_{\sigma} \cdot \sigma$ is a chain in $C_k^{\text{lf}}(M)$ or $C_k(M, N)$ that is in reduced form, then

$$\|c\|_1^A := \sum_{\sigma \in B \cap A} |a_{\sigma}| + \sum_{\sigma \in B \setminus A} \infty \in [0, \infty]$$

(where $\sum_{\emptyset} \infty := 0$). The corresponding semi-norms $\|\cdot\|_1^A$ on the homology groups $H_k^{\text{lf}}(M)$ and $H_k(M, N)$ are defined as the infimum of the above norm of all representatives.

4. If *M* is an oriented, connected manifold without boundary and if *K* is a non-empty, compact, connected subset of *M*, then

$$\|M, M \setminus K\|^{A} := \|[M, M \setminus K]\|_{1}^{A}, \\\|M\|^{A} := \|[M]\|_{1}^{A} \qquad \diamond$$

Using this terminology, Gromov [18; p. 17] stated the following generalisation of Proposition (5.15) to non-compact manifolds:

Theorem (C.2) (Duality principle for non-compact manifolds). Let M be an oriented, connected manifold without boundary. Then the simplicial volume of M can be computed by

$$\|M\| = \frac{1}{\|[M]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}}}.$$

C.2 The homological version

Because the cochain complex of cochains with compact support is not large enough, we cannot directly apply the duality principle for semi-norms (Theorem (3.8)) to obtain this non-compact version. Rather we have to take a little detour where we show that ||M|| can be expressed nicely in terms of relative simplicial volumes (Proposition (C.3)). We then apply duality to these relative terms (Proposition (C.6)). Because there is no proof of Theorem (C.2) in the literature and because the whole construction is not as straightforward as one might suspect, a full proof is presented in the following sections.

C.2 The homological version

Before proving the duality principle for non-compact manifolds, we first establish an approximation result for the simplicial volume in terms of (relative) simplicial volumes of compact pieces of the manifold in question:

Proposition (C.3) (Simplicial volume in terms of relative simplicial volumes). *If M is an oriented, connected n-manifold without boundary, then*

$$\|M\| = \inf_{A\in S^{\mathrm{lf}}_n(M)} \|M\|^A$$
 ,

and for all $A \in S_n^{\text{lf}}(M)$ we have

$$||M||^A = \sup_{K \in C(M)} ||M, M \setminus K||^A.$$

Recall that C(M) is the set of all compact, connected, non-empty subsets of M.

Remark (C.4). In the second part of the proposition it is essential that we restrict ourselves to locally finite (in the sense of Definition (5.1)) subsets of map(Δ^n , M); for example, the naïve approximation $||M|| = \sup_{K \in C(M)} ||M, M \setminus K||$ does not hold in general: Restriction of fundamental cycles shows that the estimate " \geq " always holds. However, the reverse inequality may fail badly:

If $M = W^{\circ}$, where $(W, \partial W)$ is an oriented, compact, connected manifold with boundary, then

$$\sup_{K\in C(M)} \|M, M\setminus K\| = \|W, \partial W\|,$$

C Gromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds

which is always finite. On the other hand, ||M|| is not finite in general (see Chapter 6).

This example also shows why the naïve duality $||M|| = 1/||[M]^*||_{\infty}$ cannot be correct in general [18; p. 17]: By definition of $[M]^*$ via cocycles with compact support, we have $||[M]^*||_{\infty} = \inf_{K \in C(M)} ||[M, M \setminus K]^*||_{\infty}$. Therefore, in the case $M = W^\circ$ as above, it follows that

$$\frac{1}{\|[M]^*\|_{\infty}} = \frac{1}{\inf_{K \in C(M)} \|[M, M \setminus K]^*\|_{\infty}} = \sup_{K \in C(M)} \|M, M \setminus K\| = \|W, \partial W\|,$$

which in general does not coincide with ||M||.

$$\diamond$$

Proof (of Proposition (C.3)). The equality $||M|| = \inf_{A \in S_n^{\text{lf}}(M)} ||M||^A$ follows directly from the definition of ||M|| by locally finite fundamental cycles.

Therefore, it remains to show that for each $A \in S_n^{\text{lf}}(M)$ we can compute $||M||^A$ as the supremum $\sup_{K \in C(M)} ||[M, M \setminus K]||^A$:

We first show that " \geq " holds: If $c \in C_n^{\text{lf}}(M)$ is a locally finite fundamental cycle and if $K \in C(M)$, then the restriction $c|_K \in C_n(M, M \setminus K)$ is a relative fundamental cycle of $(M, M \setminus K)$ and

$$\|c\|_{1}^{A} \geq \|c|_{K}\|_{1}^{A}$$

Hence, taking the infimum over all fundamental cycles *c* yields

$$\|M\|_1^A \geq \sup_{K\in C(M)} \|M, M\setminus K\|^A.$$

It remains to show " \leq ": Let $(K_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C(M)$ be an increasing sequence satisfying $\bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} K_m = M$. It suffices to prove that

$$\|M\|^A \leq \sup_{m\in\mathbf{N}} \|M, M\setminus K_m\|^A$$
.

If the supremum $\sup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} ||M, M \setminus K_m||^A$ is infinite, there is nothing to show; so we assume in the following that this supremum is finite.

The idea is now to choose $\|\cdot\|_1^A$ -small relative fundamental cycles c_m of the pairs $(M, M \setminus K_m)$ supported on A and to construct – via diagonalisation – a locally finite fundamental cycle c of M out of the sequence $(c_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$. The fact that *all* c_m are supported on A and the local finiteness of A ensure that this limit cycle exists, is locally finite with support in A, and indeed represents the fundamental class.

More precisely: Let $\varepsilon \in \mathbf{R}_{>0}$ and for each $m \in \mathbf{N}$ let $c_m \in C_n(M)$ be a relative fundamental cycle of $(M, M \setminus K_m)$ with

$$\|c_m\|_1^A < \|M, M \setminus K_m\|^A + \varepsilon.$$

The $||M, M \setminus K_m||^A$ all being finite, we can write

$$c_m = \sum_{\sigma \in A} a_m^{\sigma} \cdot \sigma$$

for certain real coefficients a_m^{σ} . Furthermore because $\sup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \|c_m\|_1^A$ is finite, for each $\sigma \in A$ the sequence $(a_m^{\sigma})_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}$ is bounded and thus possesses at least one limit point.

We choose an enumeration $(\sigma_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ of *A*; this is possible because *A* is locally finite and hence countable. By induction on $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we can find subsequences

$$(m_r^{(k)})_{r\in\mathbf{N}}\subset (m_r^{(k-1)})_{r\in\mathbf{N}}$$

(where $m_r^{(-1)} := r$ for all $r \in \mathbf{N}$) such that the limit

$$a_k := \lim_{r \to \infty} a_{m_r^{(k)}}^{\sigma_k}$$

exists. Thus

$$c:=\sum_{k\in\mathbf{N}}a_k\cdot\sigma_k$$

is a locally finite chain on *M* with support in *A*.

Lemma (C.5). For the chain $c \in C_n^{\text{lf}}(M)$ constructed as above, the following holds:

- 1. The chain $c \in C_n^{\text{lf}}(M)$ is a cycle.
- 2. The cycle c represents the fundamental class of M.
- 3. Moreover,

$$\|c\|_1^A \leq \sup_{m \in \mathbf{N}} \|M, M \setminus K_m\|^A + \varepsilon$$

Before proving the lemma, we first complete the proof of the theorem. Thanks to the lemma we obtain

$$\|M\|^A \leq \|c\|_1^A \leq \sup_{m \in \mathbf{N}} \|M, M \setminus K_m\|^A + \varepsilon,$$

which implies (by letting $\varepsilon \to 0$) that $||M||^A \leq \sup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} ||M, M \setminus K_m||^A$, as desired.

C Gromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds

Proof (of Lemma (C.5)). We use the same notation as established in the proof of the theorem. To prove the lemma, we make use of the following fact: For any $m \in \mathbf{N}$ there is a $k \in \mathbf{N}$ such that: If $\sigma \in A$ and $\sigma(\Delta^n) \cap K_m \neq \emptyset$, then $\sigma \in \{\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k\}$. (This is a direct consequence of the local finiteness of *A*).

1. The chain c is a cycle: It suffices to show that

$$\forall_{m \in \mathbf{N}} \quad \partial (c|_{K_m}) \in C_{n-1} (M \setminus K_m)$$

because $(K_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an increasing, exhausting sequence of *M*, the chain *c* is locally finite, and $C^{\text{lf}}_*(M) = \varprojlim_{K \in C(M)} C_*(M, M \setminus K)$. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ be chosen as above. Furthermore, we assume that *k* is the smallest such number. Thus,

$$c|_{K_m} = \sum_{j=0}^k a_j \cdot \sigma_j.$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$egin{aligned} \partialig(c|_{K_m}ig) &= \partialig(\sum_{j=0}^k \Bigl(\lim_{r o\infty} a^{\sigma_j}_{m^{(k)}_r}ig)\cdot\sigma_j\Bigr) \ &= \partialig(\lim_{r o\infty}\sum_{j=0}^k a^{\sigma_j}_{m^{(k)}_r}\cdot\sigma_j\Bigr), \end{aligned}$$

where the last limit is taken with respect to $\|\cdot\|_1$. The boundary operator ∂ is $\|\cdot\|_1$ -continuous. This implies

$$\partial ig(c |_{K_m} ig) = \lim_{r o \infty} \partial ig(\sum_{j=0}^k a^{\sigma_j}_{m^{(k)}_r} \cdot \sigma_j ig) \ = \lim_{r o \infty} \partial ig(c_{m^{(k)}_r} |_{K_m} ig).$$

If $r \in \mathbf{N}$ is large enough, then $m_r^{(k)} \geq m$, and therefore $\partial(c_{m_r^{(k)}})$ lies in the chain complex $C_*(M \setminus K_{m^{(k)}_*}) \subset C_*(M \setminus K_m)$. But then also

$$\partial (c_{m_r^{(k)}}|_{K_m}) \in C_* (M \setminus K_m).$$

In other words, $\partial(c|_{K_m})$ is an ℓ^1 -limit of chains in $C_*(M \setminus K_m)$. Because the subcomplex $C_*(M \setminus K_m)$ is ℓ^1 -closed in $C_*(M)$, we see that $\partial(c|_{K_m}) \in C_*(M \setminus K_m)$. Therefore, we deduce that $c \in C_n^{\text{lf}}(M) = \lim_{m \in \mathbb{N}} C_n(M, M \setminus K_m)$ is a cycle.

C.2 The homological version

2. *The cycle c is a fundamental cycle of V*: By the local characterisation of fundamental cycles (Theorem (5.4)), it suffices to show that for some $m \in \mathbf{N}$

$$\langle [M, M \setminus K_m]^*, [c|_{K_m}] \rangle = 1$$

holds. Let $m \in \mathbf{N}$, and let $k \in \mathbf{N}$ be as above. Moreover, let $f_m \in C^n(M, M \setminus K_m)$ be a cocycle representing $[M, M \setminus K_m]^*$. Then

$$\langle [M, M \setminus K_m]^*, [c|_{K_m}] \rangle = f_m \left(\sum_{j=0}^k a_j \cdot \sigma_j \right)$$

$$= f_m \left(\sum_{j=0}^k \left(\lim_{r \to \infty} a_{m_r^{(k)}}^{\sigma_j} \right) \cdot \sigma_j \right)$$

$$= f_m \left(\lim_{r \to \infty} \sum_{j=0}^k a_{m_r^{(k)}}^{\sigma_j} \cdot \sigma_j \right).$$

The restriction of f_m to the ($\|\cdot\|_1$ -closed) finite dimensional subspace $\bigoplus_{j=0}^k \mathbf{R} \cdot \sigma_j$ is continuous with respect to the norm $\|\cdot\|_1$. Therefore, we obtain

$$ig\langle arphi_m, [c|_{K_m}] ig
angle = \lim_{r \to \infty} f_m \left(\sum_{j=0}^k a_{m_r^{(k)}}^{\sigma_j} \cdot \sigma_j
ight)$$

 $= \lim_{r \to \infty} f_m \left(c_{m_r^{(k)}}^{(k)} |_{K_m}
ight).$

For all large enough $r \in \mathbf{N}$, we have $m_r^{(k)} \ge m$ and hence the restriction $c_{m_r^{(k)}}|_{K_m}$ is a relative fundamental cycle of $(M, M \setminus K_m)$. This implies

$$\langle [M, M \setminus K_m]^*, [c|_{K_m}] \rangle = \lim_{r \to \infty} \langle [M, M \setminus K_m]^*, [M, M \setminus K_m] \rangle = 1,$$

as was to be shown.

3. *The norm of c is small enough:* Because the support of *c* lies in *A*, it follows that $||c||_1^A = \sum_{k \in \mathbf{N}} |a_k| = \lim_{k \to \infty} \sum_{j=0}^k |a_j|$. For any $k \in \mathbf{N}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=0}^{k} |a_j| &= \sum_{j=0}^{k} \lim_{r \to \infty} \left| a_{m_r^{(k)}}^{\sigma_j} \right| = \lim_{r \to \infty} \sum_{j=0}^{k} \left| a_{m_r^{(k)}}^{\sigma_j} \right| \\ &\leq \sup_{r \to \infty} \left\| c_{m_r^{(k)}} \right\|_1^A \leq \sup_{m \in \mathbf{N}} \left\| c_m \right\|_1^A \\ &\leq \sup_{m \in \mathbf{N}} \left\| M, M \setminus K_m \right\|^A + \varepsilon, \end{split}$$

and hence $\|c\|_1^A \leq \sup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \|M, M \setminus K_m\|^A + \varepsilon$.

1	0	2
т	2	J

C Gromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds

C.3 The dual point of view

The proof of the duality principle for non-compact manifolds (Theorem (C.2)) is based on the homological approximation (Proposition (C.3)) combined with a duality expressing $||M, M \setminus K||^A$ in terms of the corresponding dual fundamental class:

Proposition (C.6) (Duality principle for the locally finite semi-norms). *Let M be an oriented, connected n-manifold without boundary. Then*

$$\|M, M \setminus K\|^A = \frac{1}{\|[M, M \setminus K]^*\|_{\infty}^A}$$

for all $A \in S_n^{\text{lf}}(M)$ and all $K \in C(M)$.

Proof. The norm $\|\cdot\|_1^A$ is only defined on the chain group in degree *n* because *A* is a set of *n*-simplices. Furthermore, this norm also may take the value ∞ . Therefore, we cannot directly apply the duality principle for semi-norms (Theorem (3.8)).

However, it is not difficult to see that the semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}^{A}$ is dual to $\|\cdot\|_{1}^{A}$ and that the Hahn-Banach theorem also applies in the case that the norm is infinite. Literally the same arguments as in the proof of Theorem (3.8) show that the equality $\|M, M \setminus K\|^{A} = 1/\|[M, M \setminus K]^{*}\|_{\infty}^{A}$ holds.

Proof (of Theorem (C.2)). By definition of the dual fundamental class $[M]^*$ via cocycles with compact support, we have

$$||[M]^*||_{\infty}^A = \inf_{K \in C(M)} ||[M, M \setminus K]^*||_{\infty}^A$$

for each $A \in S_n^{\text{lf}}(M)$. Therefore, the duality principle for the locally finite seminorms (Proposition (C.6)) and the approximation of simplicial volume in terms of

relative simplicial volumes (Proposition (C.3)) allow us to deduce that

$$\begin{split} \|M\| &= \inf_{A \in S_n^{\mathrm{lf}}(M)} \sup_{K \in C(M)} \|M, M \setminus K\|^A \\ &= \inf_{A \in S_n^{\mathrm{lf}}(M)} \sup_{K \in C(M)} \frac{1}{\|[M, M \setminus K]^*\|_{\infty}^A} \\ &= \inf_{A \in S_n^{\mathrm{lf}}(M)} \frac{1}{\|[M]^*\|_{\infty}^A} \\ &= \frac{1}{\|M\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}}}. \end{split}$$

This finishes the proof of the duality principle.

C.4 A generalised product formula

With help of the duality provided by Theorem (C.2), we can prove the following version of the product formula for simplicial volume [18; p. 17f]:

Theorem (C.7) (Product formula for simplicial volume). *Let M and N be oriented, connected, manifolds without boundary of dimension m and n respectively.*

1. Then

$$|M \times N|| \le \binom{m+n}{m} \cdot ||M|| \cdot ||N||.$$

2. If N is compact, then

$$\|M\|\cdot\|N\|\leq\|M imes N\|\leq \binom{m+n}{m}\cdot\|M\|\cdot\|N\|$$
 .

Here, $x \cdot \infty := \infty$ for all $x \in (0, \infty]$. However, in the case that one of the factors has zero simplicial volume and the other one has infinite simplicial volume, the formula does not tell anything about the simplicial volume of the product (see also Section 6.4.6).

C Gromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds

Proof. Ad 1. The first part follows, like in the compact case [18, 1; p. 10, Theorem F.2.5], by taking the homological cross-product of fundamental cycles: The cross-product of two locally finite cycles again is a locally finite cycle and restriction to a point shows that the cross-product of two fundamental cycles indeed is a fundamental cycle of the product (by the Künneth theorem and the local characterisation in Theorem (5.4)). Therefore, the explicit form of the homological cross-product [16; Exercise 12.26.2] shows that

$$\|M \times N\| \le \binom{m+n}{m} \cdot \|M\| \cdot \|N\|.$$

Ad 2. The cohomological cross-product of two cochains with compact support is not necessarily a cochain with compact support. However, if one of the two cochains is a cochain on a compact space, then the explicit form of the cohomological cross-product [15; p. 65] shows that the cross-product again has compact support. Furthermore, evaluating the cohomological cross-product on the homological cross-product of fundamental cycles of both factors (which is a fundamental cycle of the product) shows that the cross-product of a fundamental cocycle (with compact support) of M and a fundamental cocycle of N is a fundamental cocycle (with compact support) of the product $M \times N$. I.e., on the level of cohomology we obtain the relation

$$[M]^* \times [N]^* = [M \times N]^*.$$

The duality principle for non-compact manifolds (Theorem (C.2)) yields

$$\begin{split} \|M\| &= \frac{1}{\|[M]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}}},\\ \|N\| &= \frac{1}{\|[N]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}}} = \frac{1}{\|[N]^*\|_{\infty}}\\ M \times N\| &= \frac{1}{\|[M \times N]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, it remains to prove that

$$\|[M \times N]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}} \le \|[M]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}} \cdot \|[N]^*\|_{\infty}$$

That is, given a locally finite set $B \in S_{m+n}^{\text{lf}}(M \times N)$ and $\varepsilon \in \mathbf{R}_{>0}$ it suffices to find a cocycle $h_B^{\varepsilon} \in C_{\text{cs}}^{m+n}(M \times N)$ representing $[M \times N]^*$ such that

$$\|h_B^{\varepsilon}\|_{\infty}^B \leq \left(\|[M]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}} + \varepsilon\right) \cdot \left(\|[N]^*\|_{\infty} + \varepsilon\right).$$

By definition, for any $\varepsilon \in \mathbf{R}_{>0}$ and any $A \in S_m^{\text{lf}}(M)$ there exist fundamental cocycles $f_A^{\varepsilon} \in C_{cs}^n(M)$ and $g^{\varepsilon} \in C^m(N)$ such that

$$\|f_A^{\varepsilon}\|_{\infty}^A \le \|[M]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}} + \varepsilon \quad \text{and} \quad \|g^{\varepsilon}\|_{\infty} \le \|[N]^*\|_{\infty} + \varepsilon.$$

For $B \in S_{n+m}^{\text{lf}}(M \times N)$ and $\varepsilon \in \mathbf{R}_{>0}$ we now consider the cochain

$$h_B^{\varepsilon} := f_A^{\varepsilon} \times g^{\varepsilon},$$

with $A := \{p_M \circ \sigma \mid_m | \sigma \in B\}$, where $p_M \colon M \times N \longrightarrow M$ is the projection.

Why is *A* locally finite? Let $K \subset M$ be compact. Then $L := K \times N \subset M \times N$ is compact. Therefore, the set $\{\sigma \in B \mid \sigma(\Delta^{m+n}) \cap L \neq \emptyset\}$ is finite. But then also

$$\{ \tau \in A \mid \tau(\Delta^m) \cap K \neq \emptyset \} \subset \{ p_M \circ \sigma \rfloor_m \mid \sigma \in B, \ p_M \circ \sigma \rfloor_m (\Delta^m) \cap K \neq \emptyset \} \subset \{ p_M \circ \sigma \rfloor_m \mid \sigma \in B, \ \sigma(\Delta^{m+n}) \cap L \neq \emptyset \}$$

must be finite. Hence, *A* is locally finite and thus h_B^{ε} is well-defined. Moreover, h_B^{ε} is a cocycle with compact support representing $[M]^* \times [N]^* = [M \times N]^*$. By construction,

$$\begin{split} \|h_B^{\varepsilon}\|_{\infty}^{\mathcal{B}} &\leq \sup_{\sigma \in B} \left| f_A^{\varepsilon}(p_N \circ_n \lfloor \sigma) \right| \cdot \left| g^{\varepsilon}(p_M \circ \sigma \rfloor_m) \right| \\ &\leq \|f_A^{\varepsilon}\|_{\infty}^{\mathcal{A}} \cdot \|g^{\varepsilon}\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \left(\|[M]^*\|_{\infty}^{\mathrm{lf}} + \varepsilon \right) \cdot \left(\|[N]^*\|_{\infty} + \varepsilon \right). \end{split}$$

This proves the product formula.

In the second part of the product formula (Theorem (C.7)), the restriction that one of the factors has to be compact might seem artificial. However, the following example [18; p. 10] shows that some condition on the factors is needed:

Example (C.8). The simplicial volume of **R** is infinite, but $||\mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}|| = 0$ (see Example (6.17)).

Gromov mentions that the same phenomenon can also occur if the simplicial volumes of the factors are finite:

Example (C.9). Gromov shows that if M_1 , M_2 , M_3 are oriented, connected, noncompact manifolds (without boundary) of dimension at least 3, then the simplicial volume $||M_1 \times M_2 \times M_3||$ is zero [18; p. 59]. On the other hand, the M_j can be chosen in such a way that $||M_j||$ is finite and non-zero (Example (6.18)).

C Gromov's duality principle for non-compact manifolds

However, compactness of one of the factors clearly is not a necessary condition for the second part of the product formula, as the example

$$\|\mathbf{R}^4\| = 0 = \|\mathbf{R}^2\| \cdot \|\mathbf{R}^2\|$$

shows (Example (6.17)).

It is natural to ask whether there is at least a product formula for the simplicial volume of manifolds with boundary. Again, it is easy to show that there is an estimate of the form $||(W_1, \partial W_1) \times (W_2, \partial W_2)|| \le \text{const} \cdot ||W_1, \partial W_1|| \cdot ||W_2, \partial W_2||$ by looking at the homological cross-product of relative fundamental cycles. In order to get an estimate from below one would have to consider the cohomological cross-product the cohom

 $H^*(W_1, \partial W_1) \otimes H^*(W_2, \partial W_2) \longrightarrow H^*((W_1, \partial W_1) \times (W_2, \partial W_2))$

one has to use the inverse of the isomorphism

$$H^*((W_1, \partial W_1) \times (W_2, \partial W_2))$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$H^*(\hom_{\mathbf{R}}(C_*(W_1 \times W_2) / (C_*(\partial W_1 \times W_2) + C_*(W_1 \times \partial W_2)), \mathbf{R}))$$

given by excision. Therefore, control over the norm of the cohomological crossproduct is lost in this step.
Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology

In his study of simplicial volume of hyperbolic manifolds, Thurston introduced a new homology theory, called measure homology [57; p. 6.6–6.7]. Measure homology is a cunning variation of singular homology: Let *X* be a topological space and let $n \in \mathbf{N}$. The idea is to think of a singular chain $\sum_{j=0}^{k} a_j \cdot \sigma_j \in C_n(X)$ with real coefficients as a signed measure on map(Δ^n, X) carrying mass a_j on the set $\{\sigma_j\}$. The measure chain complex of *X* consists of all signed measures on map(Δ^n, X) satisfying some finiteness conditions. Measure homology is then defined to be the homology of this chain complex.

We first give an introduction into measure homology and its counterpart in the smooth category – smooth measure homology – as well as their ℓ^1 -versions (Section D.1). In Section D.2, we investigate the relation between ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology. We conclude with a short discussion of the smearing map (Section D.3), which is the key step in Thurston's proof of the proportionality principle of simplicial volume, and which we use in the proof of the corresponding statement about ℓ^1 -invisibility (Proposition (6.10)).

D Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology

D.1 Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology

In this section, we recall the definition of (smooth) measure homology and introduce the corresponding ℓ^1 -versions.

D.1.1 Measure homology – the topological version

As indicated above, the measure chain complex consists of signed measures on the space of singular simplices that satisfy certain finiteness conditions. More detailed accounts of measure homology are given in the articles of Hansen [22] and Zastrow [61].

Definition (D.1). Let *X* be a topological space and let $n \in \mathbf{N}$.

- 1. The *n*-th measure chain group, denoted by $C_n(X)$, is the **R**-vector space of signed measures on map(Δ^n, X) possessing a compact determination set and finite total variation, where map(Δ^n, X) is equipped with the compact-open topology. The elements of $C_n(X)$ are called measure *n*-chains.
- 2. For each $j \in \{0, ..., n + 1\}$ the inclusion $\partial_j \colon \Delta^n \longrightarrow \Delta^{n+1}$ of the *j*-th face induces a continuous map $\max(\Delta^{n+1}, X) \longrightarrow \max(\Delta^n, X)$ and hence a homomorphism (which we also denote by ∂_j)

$$\partial_{j} \colon \mathcal{C}_{n+1}\left(X\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{n}\left(X\right)$$
$$\mu \longmapsto \mu^{(\sigma \mapsto \sigma \circ \partial_{j})}.$$

The **boundary operator** of measure chains is then defined by

$$\partial := \sum_{j=0}^{n+1} (-1)^j \cdot \partial_j \colon \mathcal{C}_{n+1} \left(X \right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_n \left(X \right).$$

3. The **R**-vector space $\mathcal{H}_n(X) := H_n(\mathcal{C}_*(X), \partial)$ is called the *n*-th measure homology group of *X*.

Zastrow showed that $(C_*(X), \partial)$ indeed is a chain complex [61; Corollary 2.9]. In particular, measure homology is well-defined. Furthermore, each continuous map $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ induces a chain map [61; Lemma-Definition 2.10(iv)]

$$\mathcal{C}_{*}(f) \colon \mathcal{C}_{*}(X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{*}(Y)$$
$$\mu \longmapsto \mu^{f},$$

which does not increase the total variation. Therefore, we obtain a homomorphism $\mathcal{H}_*(f) \colon \mathcal{H}_*(X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_*(Y)$ with $\|\mathcal{H}_*(f)(\mu)\| \leq \|\mu\|$ for all $\mu \in \mathcal{H}_*(X)$. Clearly, this turns \mathcal{H}_* into a functor.

By verifying the Eilenberg-Steenrod axioms for measure homology, Hansen [22] and Zastrow [61] deduced that measure homology and singular homology coincide on the category of CW-complexes. More precisely:

Theorem (D.2). For all CW-complexes the inclusion of the singular chain complex into the measure chain complex induces an isomorphism on homology.

Measure homology therefore combines in a beautiful way the rigidity of singular homology with the flexibility of ℓ^1 -chains.

Like the singular chain complex the measure chain complex comes with a natural norm, the total variation, and it is not difficult to see that total variation turns the measure chain complex into a normed chain complex.

Definition (D.3). Let *X* be a topological space.

- 1. The **measure** ℓ^1 -chain complex $C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ of *X* is the completion (in the sense of Remark (1.3)) of the measure chain complex $C_*(X)$ with respect to total variation.
- 2. The homology $\mathcal{H}^{\ell^1}_*(X)$ of the measure ℓ^1 -chain complex of X is called the **measure** ℓ^1 -homology of X.

Because the space of all signed measures on a given measurable space is a Banach space with respect to total variation, the *n*-chains of the ℓ^1 -measure chain complex $C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ also can be viewed as measures on map (Δ^n, X) ; more precisely, $C_n^{\ell^1}(X)$ consists of the signed measures on map (Δ^n, X) of finite total variation that have a σ -compact determination set.

D.1.2 Smooth singular homology

For the main application of measure homology – Thurston's smearing construction – it is necessary to replace measure homology by a corresponding theory D Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology

based on smooth singular simplices. Before modifying the definition of measure homology to support Thurston's construction, we first introduce the smooth version of singular homology for smooth manifolds, which links smooth measure homology and singular homology, as well as the corresponding ℓ^1 -versions.

Definition (D.4). Let *M* be a smooth manifold.

- 1. The **smooth singular chain complex** of *M* is the normed subcomplex $C_*^s(M)$ of the singular chain complex $C_*(M)$, equipped with the ℓ^1 -norm, that is generated by all smooth singular simplices; a singular simplex $\sigma \colon \Delta^n \longrightarrow M$ is called **smooth** if it can be extended to a smooth map on an open neighbourhood of Δ^n in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} .
- 2. The homology $H_*^{s}(M)$ of $C_*^{s}(M)$ is the **smooth singular homology** of *M*.
- 3. The completion of $C_*^{s}(M)$ with respect to the ℓ^1 -norm is called **smooth** ℓ^1 -chain complex of *M* and is denoted by $C_*^{s,\ell^1}(M)$.
- 4. The homology $H^{s,\ell^1}_*(M)$ of $C^{s,\ell^1}_*(M)$ is the **smooth** ℓ^1 **-homology** of M.

Proposition (D.5). Let *M* be a smooth manifold.

1. The inclusion $C^s_*(M) \hookrightarrow C_*(M)$ induces an isometric isomorphism

$$H^{s}_{*}(M) \cong H_{*}(M).$$

2. The inclusion $C^{s,\ell^1}_*(M) \hookrightarrow C^{\ell^1}_*(M)$ induces an isometric isomorphism

$$H^{s,\ell^1}_*(M) \cong H^{\ell^1}_*(M)$$

Proof. We write $j: C^{s}_{*}(M) \hookrightarrow C_{*}(M)$ and $\overline{j}: C^{s,\ell^{1}}_{*}(M) \hookrightarrow C^{\ell^{1}}_{*}(M)$ for the inclusions.

With help of the Whitney approximation theorem one can construct a smoothing operator $s: C_*(M) \longrightarrow C^s_*(M)$ with the following properties: the map s is a chain map of norm 1 and the composition $s \circ j$ is homotopic to the identity on $C^s_*(M)$ via a chain homotopy that is bounded in each degree [31; p. 417ff]. In particular, $H_*(j)$ is an isomorphism with inverse $H_*(s)$. Because both $H_*(j)$ and $H_*(s)$ do not increase the norm, $H_*(j)$ must be isometric.

Furthermore, the boundedness properties ensure that both *s* and the mentioned chain homotopy can be extended to the completions of the chain complexes involved. Therefore, the same argument shows that $H_*(\bar{j})$ is an isometric isomorphism.

D.1.3 Measure homology – the smooth version

Similarly to measure homology for general spaces we can define a version of measure homology tailored for smooth manifolds [61, 56]:

Definition (D.6). Let *M* be a smooth manifold.

- 1. The **smooth measure chain complex** $C^s_*(M)$ of M is defined like the measure chain complex $C_*(M)$, but using measures on the space map_{∞}(Δ^*, M) of all smooth singular simplices instead.
- 2. The homology $\mathcal{H}^{s}_{*}(M)$ of the smooth measure chain complex of M is called **smooth measure homology** of M.

As topology on $\operatorname{map}_{\infty}(\Delta^n, M)$ we choose the \mathcal{C}^1 -topology, i.e., the unique topology that turns the differential $\operatorname{map}_{\infty}(\Delta^n, M) \longrightarrow \operatorname{map}(T\Delta^n, TM)$ into a homeomorphism onto its image, where $\operatorname{map}(T\Delta^n, TM)$ is given the compact-open topology.

The advantage of the C^1 -topology is being fine enough to ensure that integration of smooth measure chains on a Riemannian manifold over the volume form is well-defined [50, 56; Lemma 3 in Section 11.5, Section 4.4].

Classical tools of algebraic topology show that smooth measure homology and (smooth) singular homology coincide on the category of smooth manifolds [61, 56; Theorem 3.4, Theorem 4.10]:

Theorem (D.7). For any smooth manifold the inclusion of the smooth singular chain complex into the smooth measure chain complex induces an isomorphism in homology.

As in the topological case, total variation turns the smooth measure chain complex into a normed chain complex.

Definition (D.8). Let *M* be a smooth manifold.

- 1. The **smooth measure** ℓ^1 -chain complex of *M* is defined as the completion of the smooth measure chain complex of *M* with respect to total variation. This chain complex is denoted by $C_*^{s,\ell^1}(M)$.
- 2. The homology $\mathcal{H}^{s,\ell^1}_*(M)$ of $\mathcal{C}^{s,\ell^1}_*(M)$ is the so-called **smooth measure** ℓ^1 -homology of M.

D.2 Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology

The straightening technique (Section 4.4) allows to deduce that (smooth) measure ℓ^1 -homology contains a copy of ordinary ℓ^1 -homology and thus that (smooth) measure homology can be used to compute the ℓ^1 -semi-norm on singular homology.

- **Theorem (D.9).** 1. Let X be a countable, connected CW-complex. Then the homomorphism $H_*(\bar{j}_X) \colon H_*^{\ell^1}(X) \longrightarrow H_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ induced by the inclusion $\bar{j}_X \colon C_*^{\ell^1}(X) \hookrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ is injective and isometric.
 - 2. Let *M* be a connected, smooth manifold. Then $H_*(\overline{j}_M^s) \colon H_*^{s,\ell^1}(M) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_*^{s,\ell^1}(M)$, the homomorphism induced by the natural inclusion $\overline{j}_M^s \colon C_*^{s,\ell^1}(M) \hookrightarrow C_*^{s,\ell^1}(M)$, is injective and isometric.

During the proof of this theorem we have to compare (smooth) measure chain complexes of spaces with the (smooth) measure chain complexes of their universal covering. At this point, the following observation is helpful:

Lemma (D.10). 1. Let X be a countable, connected CW-complex with universal covering $\pi : \widetilde{X} \longrightarrow X$ and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there is a measurable section

$$\operatorname{map}(\Delta^n, X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{map}(\Delta^n, \widetilde{X})$$

of the map $map(\Delta^n, \widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow map(\Delta^n, X)$ induced by π .

2. Let *M* be a connected, smooth manifold, let $\pi \colon \widetilde{M} \longrightarrow M$ be the (smooth) universal covering, and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there is a measurable section

$$\operatorname{map}_{\infty}(\Delta^n, M) \longrightarrow \operatorname{map}_{\infty}(\Delta^n, \widetilde{M})$$

of the map $\operatorname{map}_{\infty}(\Delta^n, \widetilde{M}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{map}(\Delta^n, M)$ induced by π .

Proof. For both parts, there exist proofs based on geometric arguments [32, 56; Appendix, Section 4.3.3].

Moreover, the first part can also be treated by the following reasoning based on descriptive set theory: The simplex Δ^n is compact and metrisable, and the

D.2 Relating ℓ^1 -homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology

manifolds M and \widetilde{M} are Polish; therefore, map(Δ^n , M) and map(Δ^n , \widetilde{M}) are standard Borel spaces [27; Theorem 4.19]. The map map(Δ^n , \widetilde{M}) \longrightarrow map(Δ^n , M) induced by π is Borel (even continuous) and countable-to-one (because $\pi_1(M)$ is countable). Now descriptive set theory shows that this map admits a measurable section [27; Exercise 18.14/Theorem 18.10].

Proof (of Theorem (D.9)). Ad 1. The basic idea is to look for a factorisation of the ℓ^1 -straightening map \bar{s}_X of the following type:



The measure straightening S_X is constructed as follows: For each $n \in \mathbf{N}$ let $s_n : \max(\Delta^n, X) \longrightarrow \max(\Delta^n, \widetilde{M})$ be a measurable section of the map induced by π , as provided by Lemma (D.10). For $(x_0, \ldots, x_n) \in \widetilde{X}^{n+1}$ the set

$$A_{(x_0,\dots,x_n)} := \left\{ \tau \in \operatorname{map}(\Delta^n, \widetilde{X}) \mid \forall_{j \in \{0,\dots,n\}} \ \tau(v_j) = x_j \right\} \subset \operatorname{map}(\Delta^n, \widetilde{X})$$

is closed an hence Borel; here, v_0, \ldots, v_n denote the vertices of the standard simplex Δ^n . By definition, the $A_{(x_0,\ldots,x_n)}$ are pairwise disjoint. Then for all $\mu \in C_n^{\ell^1}(M)$, at most countably many of the values $\mu^{s_n}(A_x)$ are non-zero and

$$\sum_{x\in\widetilde{X}^{n+1}}\left|\mu^{s_n}(A_x)\right|\leq \|\mu^{s_n}\|\leq \|\mu\|<\infty,$$

where μ^{s_n} is the push-forward measure on map(Δ^n , \tilde{M}) of μ via s_n (Lemma (D.11) below). We define the straightening S_X in degree n by

$$\mathcal{C}_n^{\ell^1}(X) \longrightarrow S_n^{\ell^1}(X) = S_n^{\ell^1}(\widetilde{X})_{\pi_1(X)}$$
$$\mu \longmapsto \bigg[\sum_{x \in \widetilde{X}^{n+1}} \mu^{s_n}(A_x)\bigg].$$

It is not difficult to see that this definition does not depend on the actual choice of the measurable section s_n and that the corresponding map $S_X : C_*^{\ell^1}(X) \longrightarrow S_*^{\ell^1}(X)$ is a chain map of norm at most 1. Furthermore, the triangle above is commutative.

In particular, $H_*(s_X) \circ H_*(\bar{j}_X) = H_*(\bar{s}_X)$. Because $H_*(\bar{s}_X)$ is an isometric isomorphism (Theorem (4.21)), it follows that $H_*(\bar{j}_X)$ is injective. Moreover, both $H_*(\bar{j}_X)$ and $H_*(S_X)$ do not increase the norm. Thus, $H_*(\bar{j}_X)$ is isometric.

D Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology

Ad 2. Similarly, using a measurable section $\operatorname{map}_{\infty}(\Delta^n, M) \longrightarrow \operatorname{map}_{\infty}(\Delta^n, \widetilde{M})$ (Lemma (D.10)) we can construct a straightening map $S^{\mathrm{s}}_M \colon \mathcal{C}^{\mathrm{s},\ell^1}_*(M) \longrightarrow S_*(M)$ fitting into the commutative diagram



Because the top left arrow induces an isometric isomorphism on the level of homology (Proposition (D.5)), the same arguments as in the first part show that also $H_*(\bar{j}_M^s)$ is an isometric injection.

In the course of the proof, we made use of the following measure theoretic fact:

Lemma (D.11). Let μ be a signed measure with finite total variation on a measurable space A and let $(A_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of pairwise disjoint, measurable subsets. Then at most countably many of the numbers $\mu(A_i)$ are non-zero, and

$$\sum_{i\in I} |\mu(A_i)| \le \|\mu\|.$$

Proof. Because the $(A_i)_{i \in I}$ are pairwise disjoint and μ has finite total variation, for each $m \in \mathbf{N}$ the set $\{i \in I \mid |\mu(A_i)| > 1/m\}$ is finite. In particular, the set of indices $i \in I$ with $\mu(A_i) \neq 0$ is at most countable.

Therefore, σ -additivity of the variation $|\mu| = \mu^+ + \mu^-$ shows that

$$\sum_{i \in I} |\mu(A_i)| \le \sum_{i \in I} |\mu|(A_i) \le |\mu|(A) = \|\mu\|.$$

In particular, we obtain homological (and hence a bit more transparent) versions of the original proofs [56, 32; Section 4.3, Theorem 1.1 and 1.2] that measure homology and singular homology are *isometrically* isomorphic.

Corollary (D.12). 1. For countable, connected CW-complexes measure homology is isometrically isomorphic to singular homology.

2. For connected, smooth manifolds smooth measure homology and singular homology are isometrically isomorphic.

Proof. Ad 1. Let X be a countable, connected CW-complex. In view of Theorem (D.2), it suffices to show that the homomorphism on homology induced by the inclusion $C_*(X) \hookrightarrow C_*(X)$ is isometric. To this end we consider the commutative diagram



of inclusions of normed chain complexes. Theorem (D.9) and Proposition (1.7) show that the lower horizontal arrow and the vertical arrows induce isometries on the level of homology. Therefore, also the top horizontal arrow induces an isometry on the level of homology.

Ad 2. Let *M* be a smooth manifold. Literally the same argument as in the first part shows that the inclusion $C^s_*(M) \hookrightarrow C^s_*(M)$ induces an isometric isomorphism on the level of homology. On the other hand, smooth singular homology and singular homology are isometrically isomorphic (Proposition (D.5)). Therefore, also smooth measure homology and singular homology of *M* are isometrically isomorphic.

However, Theorem (D.9) cannot be derived from Corollary (D.12) by general arguments, as Example (1.8) shows.

D.3 Smearing

The main feature of (smooth) measure homology is Thurston's construction of the smearing map [57; p. 6.8–6.9], which constitutes the lion share of his proof of the proportionality principle of simplicial volume (see also Remark (D.14) below). When deriving proportionality for ℓ^1 -invisibility (Proposition (6.10)), we use the following version of smearing on the level of ℓ^1 -homology:

Theorem (D.13) (Smearing). *Let M and N be oriented, closed, connected, Riemannian n-manifolds whose Riemannian universal covering spaces are isometric. Then there are*

D Measure homology and measure ℓ^1 -homology

chain maps

smear_{*M*,*N*}:
$$C^s_*(M) \longrightarrow C^s_*(N)$$
,
smear $^{\ell^1}_{M,N}$: $C^{s,\ell^1}_*(M) \longrightarrow C^{s,\ell^1}_*(N)$

of norm 1 making the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} H_n\left(M\right) \longleftarrow H_n^s\left(M\right) = H_n^s\left(M\right) \longrightarrow H_n^{s,\ell^1}\left(M\right) \\ \hline \cdot \underbrace{\operatorname{vol} M}_{\operatorname{vol} N} & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H_n(\operatorname{smear}_{M,N}) & \downarrow \\ H_n\left(N\right) \longleftarrow H_n^s\left(N\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_n^s\left(N\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_n^{s,\ell^1}\left(N\right) \end{array}$$

commutative. Here, the horizontal arrows are the maps induced by the canonical inclusions on the level of chain complexes.

Proof. The leftmost square is clearly commutative and all four vector spaces involved are isometric to **R**, generated by the corresponding fundamental classes. Therefore, it makes sense to speak of "multiplication by vol M/ vol N."

The smearing smear_{*M*,*N*}: $C^{s}_{*}(M) \longrightarrow C^{s}_{*}(N)$ can be constructed by averaging over the Haar measure of the compact quotient $\pi_{1}(N) \setminus \text{Isom}^{+}(\widetilde{M})$ [57, 56; p. 6.8, Section 5.4].

If $c \in C_n^s(M)$ is a smooth fundamental cycle of M, then integration of the measure cycle smear_{M,N}(c) over the volume form of N shows that smear_{M,N}(c) represents vol M/ vol N times the fundamental class of N [57, 56; p. 6.9, Theorem 5.23]. Furthermore, the smearing is constructed in such a way that it does not increase the norm [56; Lemma 5.22].

This shows that the middle square of the diagram is commutative. Because smear_{*M*,*N*} is a morphism of normed chain complexes, it extends to the completions and hence we obtain the desired chain map $\text{smear}_{M,N}^{\ell^1}$. By construction, then also the rightmost square of the diagram is commutative.

Remark (D.14). The proportionality principle of simplicial volume directly follows from this theorem [57, 56; p. 6.9, Section 5.5]: If *M* and *N* are oriented, closed, connected, Riemannian manifolds with isometric Riemannian universal covering, then the previous theorem shows that

$$\frac{\operatorname{vol} M}{\operatorname{vol} N} \cdot \|N\| \le \|M\|$$

Symmetry yields the converse inequality and hence we obtain the proportionality $||M|| / \operatorname{vol} M = ||N|| / \operatorname{vol} N$.



Bibliography

- R. Benedetti, C. Petronio. *Lectures on Hyperbolic Geometry*. Universitext, Springer, 1992. Cited on page: vi, 37, 75, 98, 126
- [2] G. Besson, G. Courtois, S. Gallot. Volume et entropie minimale des espaces localement symétriques. *Ivent. Math.*, 103, no. 2, pp. 417–445, 1991. Cited on page: 75
- [3] A. Borel, L. Ji. Compactifications of symmetric and locally symmetric spaces. Mathematics: Theory & Applications, Birkhäuser, 2006. Cited on page: 98, 99
- [4] A. Borel, J.-P. Serre. Corners and arithmetic groups. Comment. Math. Helv., 48, pp. 436–491, 1973. Cited on page: 99, 100
- [5] A. Bouarich. Théorèmes de Zilber-Eilenberg et de Brown en homologie ℓ¹. Proyecciones, 23, no. 2, pp. 151–186, 2004. Cited on page: viii, 16, 47, 141
- [6] R. Brooks. Some remarks on bounded cohomology. In *Riemann surfaces and related topics: Proceedings of the 1978 Stony Brook Conference*, Ann. Math. Studies, 97, pp. 53–63, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1981. Cited on page: 17, 22, 31, 43, 103
- [7] K. Brown. Cohomology of Groups. Volume 87 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, corrected reprint of the 1982 original, Springer, 1994. Cited on page: 6, 40
- [8] M. Brown. Locally flat imbeddings of topological manifolds. Ann. of Math., 75, pp. 331–341, 1962. Cited on page: 68, 81
- [9] M. Bucher(-Karlsson). The simplicial volume of locally symmetric spaces covered by SL(3, R)/SO(3). Preprint, 2005. Cited on page: 75
- [10] M. Bucher-Karlsson. The simplicial volume of closed manifolds covered by $H^2 \times H^2$. Preprint, 2007. Available online at arXiv:math/0703587. Cited on page: 74
- [11] T. Bühler. PhD thesis, ETH Zürich, in preparation. Cited on page: 23, 26, 103, 105

Bibliography

- [12] M. Burger, N. Monod. Continuous bounded cohomology and applications to rigidity theory. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 12, no. 2, pp. 219–280, 2002. Cited on page: 29
- [13] L.S. Charlap. Bieberbach Groups and Flat Manifolds. Universitext, Springer, 1986. Cited on page: 94
- [14] R. Connelly. A new proof of Brown's collaring theorem. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 27, pp. 180–182, 1971. Cited on page: 68, 81
- [15] J.F. Davis, P. Kirk. Lecture Notes in Algebraic Topology. Volume 35 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics, AMS, 2001. Cited on page: 126
- [16] A. Dold. Lectures on Algebraic Topology. Reprint of the 1972 edition. Classics in Mathematics, Springer, 1995. Cited on page: 15, 126
- [17] R.I. Grigorchuk. Some results on bounded cohomology. In *Combinatorial and geometric group theory (Edinburgh, 1993)*, pp. 111–163, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995. Cited on page: 43
- M. Gromov. Volume and bounded cohomology. *Publ. Math. IHES*, 56, pp. 5–99, 1982.
 Cited on page: v, vi, vii, x, 30, 37, 47, 48, 66, 67, 69, 71, 73, 74, 75, 76, 78, 83, 91, 96, 99, 100, 117, 118, 120, 125, 126, 127
- [19] M. Gromov. Hyperbolic groups. In: Essays in group theory, pp. 75–263. Volume 8 of Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., Springer, 1987. Cited on page: 32
- [20] M. Gromov. Asymptotic invariants of infinite groups. In *Geometric group theory, Vol. 2 (Sussex 1991)*, pp. 1–295. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1993. Cited on page: 94
- [21] A. Guichardet. *Cohomologie des groupes et des algèbres de Lie*. Volume 2 of *Textes Mathématiques*, CEDIC, Paris, 1980. Cited on page: 103, 108
- [22] S.K. Hansen. Measure homology. *Mathematica Scandinavica*, 83, No. 2, pp. 205–219, 1998. Cited on page: 130, 131
- [23] G. Hochschild. Relative homological algebra. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 82, pp. 246–269, 1956. Cited on page: 103
- [24] H. Inoue, K. Yano. The Gromov invariant of negatively curved manifolds. *Topology*, 21, No. 1, pp. 83–89, 1981. Cited on page: vi, 75
- [25] N.V. Ivanov. Foundations of the theory of bounded cohomology. J. Soviet Math., 37, pp. 1090–1114, 1987. Cited on page: vii, ix, 20, 22, 23, 30, 31, 48, 51, 52, 53, 76, 103, 111, 112, 113, 114
- [26] B.E. Johnson. *Cohomology in Banach Algebras*. Memoirs of the AMS, no. 127. AMS, 1972. Cited on page: viii, 26, 31, 36, 50
- [27] A.S. Kechris. Classical Descriptive Set Theory. Volume 156 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer, 1995. Cited on page: 135
- [28] T. Kuessner. *Relative Simplicial Volume*, PhD thesis, University of Tübingen, 2001. Cited on page: 73

- [29] J.-F. Lafont, B. Schmidt. Simplicial volume of closed locally symmetric spaces of non-compact type. Acta Math., 197, No. 1, pp. 129–143, 2006. Cited on page: 75
- [30] J.M. Lee. Riemannian Manifolds. An Introduction to Curvature. Volume 176 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer, 1997. Cited on page: v, 94
- [31] J.M. Lee. Introduction to Smooth Manifolds. Volume 218 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer, 2003. Cited on page: 132
- [32] C. Löh. Measure homology and singular homology are isometrically isomorphic. *Math. Z.*, 253, no. 1, pp. 197–218, 2006. Cited on page: 134, 136
- [33] C. Löh. Isomorphisms in ℓ^1 -homology. Preprint, 2006. Available online at the arXiv: math.AT/0612589. Cited on page: 23
- [34] C. Löh, R. Sauer. Simplicial volumes of locally symmetric spaces of finite volume and the proportionality principle for non-compact manifolds. In preparation. Cited on page: 76, 98
- [35] W. Lück. L²-Invariants: Theory and Applications to Geometry and K-Theory. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, 3. Folge, 44. Springer-Verlag Berlin, 2002. Cited on page: 74, 90, 91, 94
- [36] W.S. Massey. A Basic Course in Algebraic Topology. Volume 127 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer, 1991. Cited on page: 65, 85
- [37] Mathematical Reviews, review of [5], MR 2142264 (2006h:55008). Cited on page: 16
- [38] S. Matsumoto, S. Morita. Bounded cohomology of certain groups of homeomorphisms. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 94, no. 3, pp. 539–544, 1985. Cited on page: viii, 16, 36, 37, 85, 86, 97, 99
- [39] I. Mineyev. Straightening and bounded cohomology of hyperbolic groups. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 11, no. 4, pp. 807–839, 2001. Cited on page: 32
- [40] I. Mineyev. Bounded cohomology characterizes hyperbolic groups. Q. J. Math., 53, no. 1, pp. 59–73, 2002. Cited on page: 32
- [41] Y. Mitsumatsu. Bounded cohomology and l¹-homology of surfaces. *Topology*, 23, no. 4, pp. 465–471, 1984. Cited on page: 17, 26, 36
- [42] N. Monod. Continuous Bounded Cohomology of Locally Compact Groups. Volume 1758 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer, 2001. Cited on page: vii, 6, 22, 23, 26, 31, 51, 103, 108, 114, 115
- [43] N. Monod, Y. Shalom. Orbit equivalence rigidity and bounded cohomology. Ann. of Math., 164, no. 3, pp. 825–878, 2006. Cited on page: 29
- [44] H.J. Munkholm. Simplices of maximal volume in hyperbolic space, Gromov's norm, and Gromov's proof of Mostow's rigidity theorem (following Thurston). In *Topology Symposium, Siegen 1979*, Volume 788 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*, pp. 109–124. Springer, 1980. Cited on page: vi
- [45] G.A. Noskov. Bounded cohomology of discrete groups with coefficients. Algebra

Bibliography

i Analiz, 2, no. 5, pp. 146–164, 1990. Translation in: *Leningrad Math. J.*, 2, no. 5, pp. 1067–1084, 1991. Cited on page: vii, 31, 50, 51

- [46] HS. Park. Relative bounded cohomology. *Topology Appl.*, 131, no. 3, pp. 203–234, 2003. Cited on page: 99
- [47] HS. Park. Foundations of the theory of ℓ¹-homology. J. Korean Math. Soc., 41, no. 4, pp. 591–615, 2004. Cited on page: ix, 22, 23, 24, 27, 47, 51, 52, 53, 54, 58, 99
- [48] A.L.T. Paterson. Amenability. Volume 29 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, AMS, 1988. Cited on page: 29, 47, 99
- [49] G.K. Pedersen. Analysis Now. Volume 118 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer, 1989. Cited on page: 7, 13, 28, 106
- [50] J.G. Ratcliffe. Foundations of Hyperbolic Manifolds. Volume 149 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer, 1994. Cited on page: vi, 57, 75, 133
- [51] W. Rudin. Functional Analysis. McGraw-Hill Series in Higher Mathematics. McGraw-Hill, 1973. Cited on page: 36, 37
- [52] M. Schmidt. L²-Betti Numbers of *R*-spaces and the Integral Foliated Simplicial Volume. PhD thesis, Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster, 2005. Cited on page: 4
- [53] T. Soma. The zero-norm subspace of bounded cohomology. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, 72, no. 4, pp. 582–592, 1997. Cited on page: 36
- [54] T. Soma. Existence of non-Banach bounded cohomology. *Topology*, 37, no. 1, pp. 179– 193, 1998. Cited on page: 36
- [55] E.H. Spanier. Algebraic Topology. McGraw-Hill, 1966. Cited on page: 66
- [56] C. Strohm (= C. Löh). *The Proportionality Principle of Simplicial Volume*. Diploma thesis, Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster, 2004. Available online at: arXiv:math.AT/0504106. Cited on page: vi, 17, 74, 133, 134, 136, 138
- [57] W.P. Thurston. Geometry and Topology of 3-Manifolds. Lecture notes, Princeton, 1978. Available at http://www.msri.org/publications/books/gt3m. Cited on page: vi, 14, 74, 75, 98, 129, 137, 138
- [58] C.T.C. Wall. Surgery on Compact Manifolds. Second edition. Edited and with a foreword by A.A. Ranicki. Volume 69 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, American Mathematical Society, 1999. Cited on page: 94
- [59] C.A. Weibel. An Introduction to Homological Algebra. Volume 38 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994. Cited on page: 65
- [60] K. Yano. Gromov invariant and S¹-actions. J. Fac. Sci. U. Tokyo, Sec. 1A Math., 29, no. 3, pp. 493–501, 1982. Cited on page: 74
- [61] A. Zastrow. On the (non)-coincidence of Milnor-Thurston homology theory with singular homology theory. *Pacific Journal of Mathematics*, 186, No. 2, pp. 369–396, 1998. Cited on page: 130, 131, 133



Symbols

.′	topological dual	2
. G	invariants	7,10
• G	coinvariants	7,10
• • •	concatenation of (co)ch	ain
	complexes	107
[.]	equivalence class, e.g., homology	in
$\cdot \mid_{K}$	restriction of chains	63
$\cdot \mid_{K}$	restriction on homology	y 64
$\overline{\otimes}$	projective tensor produ	ct
		8,10
$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$	Kronecker product	35
$\ \cdot\ $	generic (semi-)norm	
$\ \cdot\ $	operator norm	
$\ \cdot\ _1$	ℓ^1 -norm	12, 19
$\ \cdot\ _1$	ℓ^1 -semi-norm	13
$\ \cdot\ _1^A$		118
$\ \cdot\ _p$	ℓ^p -norm	18
$\ \cdot\ _{\infty}$	dual semi-norm	13
$\ \cdot\ _{\infty}$	supremum norm	2
$\ \cdot\ _{\infty}^{A}$		118
$\ \cdot\ _\infty^{\mathrm{lf}}$		118

В

B(C,D)	complex of bounded operators 10
B(U,V)	space of bounded operators 8
С	
\overline{C}	completion 3
C'	(topological) dual complex 2
$C _n$	truncated cochain complex
	112
C(X)	compact, connected,
	non-empty subsets of X 62
$C_{*}(X)$	singular chain complex with
	R-coefficients
$C_{*}(X, A)$	singular chain complex with
	R-coefficients
$C^{*}(X, A)$	singular cochain complex
	with R -coefficients
$\mathcal{C}_{*}\left(X ight)$	measure chain complex 130
$C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(f)$	map induced by f 13
$C_{\mathbf{b}}^{*}(\boldsymbol{\varphi};f)$	map induced by φ and $f = 21$
$\tilde{C_{\mathbf{b}}^{*}}(G; V)$	dual resolution with
U	coefficients in V 20
$C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X)$	$= C_{\mathbf{b}}^*(X, \emptyset) $ 13
$C^*_{\mathbf{b}}(X, A)$	bounded cochain complex 13

$C^{*}_{cs}(X)$	cochain complex with	
	compact supports	63
$C^{\ell^1}_*(f)$	map induced by f	13
$C^{\ell^1}_{*}(\varphi;f)$	map induced by φ and f	21
$C_{*}^{\ell^1}(G)$	Banach bar resolution	19
$C^{\ell^1}_*(G;V)$	Banach bar resolution with	h
	coefficients in V	20
$C^{\ell^1}_{*}(X)$	$=C_*^{\ell^1}(X, \emptyset)$	12
$C^{\ell^1}_{*_1}(X,A)$	ℓ^1 -chain complex	12
$\mathcal{C}^{\ell^1}_*(X)$	measure ℓ^1 -chain complex	κ
		131
$C_{*}^{\mathrm{lf}}\left(X ight)$	locally finite chain comple	ex
		62
$C^{\mathbf{s}}_{*}\left(M\right)$	smooth singular chain	
	complex	132
$C^{\mathbf{s},\ell^1}_*(M)$	smooth ℓ^1 -chain complex	132
$\mathcal{C}^{s}_{*}(M)$	smooth measure chain	
	complex	133
$\mathcal{C}^{\mathbf{s},\ell^1}_*(M)$	smooth measure ℓ^1 -chain	
* ()	complex	133
colim	colimit	63
$\operatorname{Cone}(f)$	mapping cone	38
(y /	11 0	

D

$egin{array}{l} \partial & & \ \partial' & \ \delta & \ \Delta^n \end{array}$	generic boundary operator dual coboundary operator 2 generic coboundary operator standard <i>n</i> -simplex	
E		
$\eta \eta_V$		53 53
G		
$ \begin{matrix} [g_1 \mid \cdots \mid g_n] \\ g_j(\sigma) \end{matrix} $	generator in $C_n^{\ell^1}(G)$	19 53
H		
$H_*(C)$	homology	3

$H^*(C)$	cohomology	3
$\overline{H}^{*}(C)$	reduced cohomology	4
$\overline{H}_{*}(C)$	reduced homology	4
$H_*(f)$	map induced by f	4
$H^*(f)$	map induced by f	4
$\overline{H}^*(f)$	map induced by f	4
$\overline{H}(f)$	map induced by f	4
$H_{*}(f)$	singular homology with	т
$m_{*}(m,m)$	R -coefficients	
$H^*(X A)$	singular cohomology with	h
	R-coefficients	
$\mathcal{H}_{*}\left(X ight)$	measure homology	130
$H_{\rm h}^*(f)$	map induced by f	13
$H^*_{\mathbf{h}}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}; f)$	map induced by φ and f	22
$H^*_{\mathbf{h}}(G;V)$	bounded cohomology of	G
D	with coefficients in V	21
$H^*_{h}(X)$	$=H^*_{\mathbf{h}}(X, \emptyset)$	13
$H^{*}_{h}(X, A)$	bounded cohomology	13
$H^{p}_{h}(X;V)$	bounded cohomology wi	th
D(, ,	twisted coefficients	27
$H^*_{cs}(X)$	cohomology with compac	ct
	supports	63
$H^{\ell^1}_*(f)$	map induced by f	13
$H^{\ell^1}_*(\varphi; f)$	map induced by φ and f	21
$H^{\ell^1}_*(G;V)$	ℓ^1 -homologyof <i>G</i> with	
	coefficients in V	21
$H^{\ell^1}_*(X)$	$=H^{\ell^1}_*(X, \emptyset)$	13
$H^{\ell^1}_*(X,A)$	ℓ^1 -homology	13
$H^{\ell^1}_*(X;V)$	ℓ^1 -homology with twisted	ł
	coefficients	27
$\mathcal{H}^{\ell^1}_*(X)$	measure ℓ^1 -homology	131
$H_{*}^{\mathrm{lf}}\left(X ight)$	locally finite homology	62
$H^{\mathbf{s}}_{*}\left(M ight)$	smooth singular homolog	5y
-1		132
$H^{\mathbf{s},\ell^1}_*(M)$	smooth ℓ^1 -homology	132
$\mathcal{H}^{\mathrm{s}}_{*}\left(M ight)$	smooth measure homolog	зy
<i>a</i> 1		133
$\mathcal{H}^{\mathbf{s},\ell^{\perp}}_{*}(M)$	smooth measure	
	ℓ^1 -homology	133

<u>I</u>_____

$i_{X,A}$ $C_*(X,A) \hookrightarrow C_*^{\ell^1}(X,A)$ 14

space of ℓ^1 -sequences on <i>G</i> inverse limit 6	7 53
fundamental class 6	55
cohomological fundamental	. ,
class 6	06 70
fundamental class relative	0
boundary 6	55
relative cohomological	
fundamental class 6	66
fundamental class relative K	
6	55
cohomological fundamental	
class relative <i>K</i> 6	66
simplicial volume v, 6	57 : c
simplicial volume	00
11	0. 0
11 push forward of the	.0
measure u via f	
minimal volume	v
non-negative integers	
induced G-module 2	21
rational numbers	
rauonal numbers	
	space of ℓ^1 -sequences on G inverse limit 6 fundamental class 6 cohomological fundamental class 7 fundamental class relative 6 boundary 6 relative cohomological fundamental class 6 fundamental class relative K 6 cohomological fundamental class relative K 6 cohomological fundamental class relative K 6 cohomological fundamental class relative K 6 simplicial volume 7 non-negative integers 11 induced G-module 2 rational numbers 2

S		
ΣC		20
LC	suspension complex	39
$s_{\widetilde{X}}$	straightening	56
$\frac{s_X}{-}$	straightening	56
s _X	<i>l</i> ¹ -straightening	56
$S_*(X)$	straight chain complex	56
$S_*(X)$	$=S_*(X)_{\pi_1(X)}$	56
$S^{\ell^1}_*(X)$	straight ℓ^1 -chain complex	56
$S_{k}^{\mathrm{lf}}(X)$	set of locally finite subset	s 62
smear _{M,N}	smearing	137
smear $_{M,N}^{\ell^{1'}}$	ℓ^1 -smearing	137
<u>T</u>		
$\vartheta_{V'}$		54
V		
v_0,\ldots,v_n	vertices of Δ^n	53
Ζ		
Z	integers	



A

adjointness	
Kronecker product	35
projective tensor product	8,10
admissible	
epimorphism	104
monomorphism	104
amenable group	29
bounded cohomology	30, 31
ℓ^1 -homology	50
amenable subset	48
approximate strong resolution	112
augmentation	20, 107

В

Banach bar resolution	19, 20, 24
Banach (co)chain complex	2
Banach G-(co)chain complex	9
augmentation	107
coinvariants	10
complex of bounded operators	s 10
invariants	10
projective tensor product	10
Banach G-module	7,104
flat	105
projective tensor product	8

relatively injective	104
relatively projective	104
space of bounded operators	8
bounded cochain complex	13
bounded cohomology	vi, 13
amenable, normal subgroups	31
and amenability	30
and hyperbolic groups	32
and ℓ^1 -invisibility	85
mapping theorem	31
of discrete groups	21
semi-norm	13
simplicial volume	70,71
vanishing	50
via injective resolutions	22, 31, 111
with twisted coefficients	27

C

canonical semi-norm	23
(co)chain complex	
Banach	
see Banach (co)chain complex	
Banach equivariant	
see Banach G-(co)chain complex	
normed	
see normed (co)chain complex	

normed equivariant	
see normed G-(co)chain cor	nplex
cochains with compact support	63
cohomological fundamental class	65,66
cohomology	
bounded	
see bounded cohomology	
semi-norm on	3
with compact supports	63
coinvariants	7,10
dual of	9
comparison maps	42, 49
completion	3
homology vs.	5
semi-norm on homology of	4
concatenation	107
cone	
see mapping cone	
connecting homomorphism	6

D

dual cochain complex	2
duality	vii, 34, 35
duality principle	36
for locally finite semi-norms	124
for semi-norms	37
for simplicial volume	70, 71, 118

Е_____

example	
amenable groups	29
Banach G-module	104
comparison maps	43
excision and ℓ^1 -homology	17
fundamental cycle	65
homology vs. completion	5
ℓ^1 -invisibility vs. uniform boundar	y
condition	85
lack of homotopy invariance of sin	mpli-
cial volume	98
non-trivial simplicial volume in the	non-
compact case	97
non-trivial ℓ^1 -homology 1	4,36

projective/injective resolutions	24
simplicial volume of products	
74, 102	2, 127
simplicial volume of \mathbf{R}^n	96
simplicial volume of S^1	67
simplicial volume of S^n and tori	72
simplicial volume of surfaces	75

<u>F</u>_____

finiteness criterion	x, 78
applications	95
flat	105
fundamental class	65
cohomological	65,66
local characterisation	64
fundamental cocycle	66
fundamental cycle	65
relative	67
fundamental lemma	107, 109

G

geodesic simplex	57
G-homotopic	9
G-module	
Banach	
see Banach G-module	
normed	
see normed G-module	
G-morphism	7,104
relatively injective	104
relatively projective	104
G-resolution	
see resolution	

Н_____

homology	3
semi-norm on	3
hyperbolic groups	32
bounded cohomology	32
ℓ^1 -homology	49
hyperbolic manifolds	75 <i>,</i> 98

<u>I</u>	
invariants	7, 10
of dual	9

<u>K</u>_____

<u>L____</u>

ℓ^1 -chain complex	12
ℓ ¹ -homology	vi, 13
amenable groups	50
amenable subsets	48
amenable, normal subgroups	46, 51
basic properties	14
failure of excision	17
fibrations with amenable fibre	47
fundamental group	47
hyperbolic groups	49
in degree 0	25
in degree 1	15, 25
ℓ^1 -semi-norm	13, 14
long exact sequence	15,26
mapping theorem	ix, 46
of discrete groups	21
simplicial volume	69, 70, 71
translation mechanism	46, 49
vanishing	50
via projective resolutions	ix, 22, 52
with twisted coefficients	ix, 27, 52
ℓ^1 -invisible	79
L ² -Betti numbers	94
amenable gluings	87
applications	95
bounded cohomology	85
circle actions	87
connected sums	87
curvature	93
fibrations	87
fundamental group	93
products	87
proportionality	87
uniform boundary condition	85

85
12
12, 13
137
56,58
94
107
76
62
62
62
75,99
26
26
15
18

M_____

35

mapping cone	38
and homology isomorphisms	; 39
dual of	40
mapping theorem	
bounded cohomology	31
ℓ^1 -homology	ix, 46
measurable sections	134
measure chains	130
measure homology 13	60, 131, 136
measure ℓ^1 -chains	131
measure ℓ^1 -homology	131, 134
measure straightening	135
minimal volume	v
morphism	
of normed (co)chain complex	es 2
of normed G-(co)chain compl	lexes 9
of normed G-modules	7

<u>N</u>_____

2
2
3
42
3

direct sum	2
dual	2
mapping cone	38
morphism	2
quotient	2
reduced (co)homology	4
semi-norm on (co)homology	3
suspension	39
uniform boundary condition	85
normed G-(co)chain complex	9
morphism	9
normed G-module	7
coinvariants	7
invariants	7
morphism	7

Р

partial contracting cochain homoto	opy 112
projective tensor product	8,10
proportionality principle	74, 87, 138

R

reduced (co)homology	4
relative fundamental cycle	67
relatively injective	
Banach G-module	104
G-morphism	104
resolution	107
relatively projective	
Banach G-module	104
G-morphism	104
resolution	107
resolution	107
approximate strong	112
Banach bar	
see Banach bar resolution	
dual of	108
relatively injective	107
relatively projective	107
strong	107
restriction	
of chains	63
on homology	64

right resolution	
------------------	--

107

<u>S</u>_____

semi-norm	
canonical	23
on (co)homology	3, 4
on singular homology	14
simplicial volume	v, 66, 67
amenable coverings	76
and ℓ^1 -invisibility	85
circle actions	74
connected sums	73
duality principle	70, 71, 118
fibrations	74
finiteness criterion	x, 78
fundamental group	69,75,76
homotopy invariance	72 <i>,</i> 98
hyperbolic manifolds	98
interior/exterior	68
Lipschitz	76
locally symmetric spaces	75 <i>,</i> 99
negative curvature	75
non-trivial	97
products	73, 101, 125
properties	72
proportionality principle	74, 138
vanishing	69, 71, 96
via bounded cohomology	70, 71
via ℓ^1 -homology	69, 70, 71
via relative simplicial volu	umes 119
volume estimate	74
smearing	137
smooth measure chains	133
smooth measure homology	133, 136
smooth singular chains	132
smooth singular homology	132, 133, 136
smooth singular simplex	132
smooth ℓ^1 -chains	132
smooth ℓ^1 -homology	132, 134
smooth measure ℓ^1 -chains	133
smooth measure ℓ^1 -homology	133, 134
snake lemma	5
space of bounded operators	8
straight chains	56
straight ℓ^1 -chain complex	56

straightening	56
generalised straightening	58
measure	135
non-positively curved	57
relative	59
strong relatively injective resolution	107
bounded cohomology	111
strong relatively projective resolution	107
caveat	51, 52
ℓ^1 -homology	ix, 52
strong resolution	107
suspension	39

Т

translation mechanism	viii, 34
algebraic part	41
ℓ^1 -homology	46
ℓ^1 -homology of groups	49
normed part	42
truncated cochain complex	112

U _____

uniform boundary condition 85

V

volume	
minimal	
see minimal volume	
simplicial	
see simplicial volume	
volume estimate	vi, 74

Lebenslauf

Name	Löh
Vorname	Clara
Geburtsname	Strohm
Geburtsdatum	3. August 1981, in Stuttgart
Familienstand	verheiratet
Staatsangehörigkeit	deutsch
Eltern	Dr. Stefan Strohm
	Ingrid Strohm, geb. Woiwode
Schulbildung	
1987–1991	Grundschule (Fuchsrainschule Stuttgart)
1991–1999	Gymnasium (Karls-Gymnasium Stuttgart)
Hochschulreife	
29.06.1999	Karls-Gymnasium Stuttgart, Gesamtnote 1,3
Studium	
10/1999-09/2001	Universität Konstanz, Mathematik auf Diplom mit
	Nebenfach Informatik
10/2001-09/2004	WWU Münster, Mathematik auf Diplom mit
	Nebenfach Informatik
Vordiplom	
13.09.2001	Universität Konstanz, Gesamtnote 1,0
Diplom	
30.09.2004	WWU Münster, Gesamtnote mit Auszeichnung
Beginn der Dissertation	
01.10.2004	WWU Münster, Graduiertenkolleg Analytische Topologie
	und Metageometrie, Promotionsstudiengang Mathematik,
	betreut von Prof. Dr. W. Lück
Tätigkeiten	
09/2000-12/2000	studentische Hilfskraft, Universität Konstanz
07/2002-12/2002	studentische Hilfskraft, WWU Münster
05/2003-01/2004	studentische Hilfskraft, WWU Münster
11/2004-03/2005	wissenschaftliche Hilfskraft, WWU Münster
01/2007-02/2007	wissenschaftliche Hilfskraft, WWU Münster



All drawings by Clara Löh.